

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports

2023

# Retention and Persistence of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural College Students from West Virginia

Rachel D. Nieman West Virginia University, rachel.nieman@mail.wvu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd

Part of the Education Policy Commons, Higher Education Commons, Higher Education Administration Commons, Place and Environment Commons, Rural Sociology Commons, and the Social Justice Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Nieman, Rachel D., "Retention and Persistence of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural College Students from West Virginia" (2023). *Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports.* 11964. https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd/11964

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by the The Research Repository @ WVU with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you must obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself. This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in WVU Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports collection by an authorized administrator of The Research Repository @ WVU. For more information, please contact researchrepository@mail.wvu.edu.

## Retention and Persistence of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural College Students from West Virginia

Rachel D. Nieman

Dissertation submitted to the College of Applied Human Sciences at West Virginia University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Higher Education

Erin McHenry-Sorber, Ph.D., Chair Rodney Hughes, Ph.D. A. Graham Peace, Ph.D. Nathan Sorber, Ph.D.

> School of Education Morgantown, West Virginia 2023

Keywords: rurality, first-generation, student persistence, student retention, spatial justice, social capital, cultural capital

Copyright 2023 Rachel Nieman

## ABSTRACT

## Retention and Persistence of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural College Students from West Virginia

### Rachel D. Nieman

A considerable body of research demonstrates that first-generation college students face greater obstacles to college retention, persistence and completion compared to their non-first-generation counterparts. However, the extant literature rarely explores rurality as a salient factor to understand these challenges. Even less visible in the literature are the experiences and voices of West Virginians. West Virginia is a predominantly rural state and ranks 49<sup>th</sup> in the nation in terms of educational attainment, with only 19.6% of residents over the age of 25 having earned at least a bachelor's degree. While rural areas may experience multifaceted struggles, the educational attainment of rural residents is arguably one of the most pressing issues due to the connection to between educational attainment, employment opportunities, health outcomes and socioeconomic status. Through narrative analysis, the purpose of this study is to understand and highlight the experiences of college students who identify as low-income, first-generation, rural West Virginian at their land-grant institution. These experiences are considered through the lenses of social and cultural capital and spatial justice. Qualitative data analysis demonstrates five themes are salient in describing the experiences of LIFGRWV students: rurality, selfperception, academics, parents, and COVID-19. Two themes are salient in describing how the students' postsecondary experiences aligned with their expectations and the institutional landgrant narrative: rurality and the land-grant concept. Four themes are salient in students' perceptions of support affecting their success, retention and persistence: pre-college resources, in-college resources/ use of campus services, financial supports, and key players or influencers. References of perceived barriers were much less frequent but salient themes included rurality, first-generation status, mental and physical health, stigma toward WV students, and the COVID-19 pandemic. These findings are considered critically through the frameworks of cultural and social capital (classed experiences) and spatial justice (spaced experiences). This study contributes to a gap in the body of literature by highlighting a subgroup that is unrepresented in extant literature, and by adding to the spatial justice conversation by examining the intersection of social reproduction and spatial inequality in a rural context.

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled:	
Retention and Persistence of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural College Students from West Virginia	
Prepared by	
Rachel D. Nieman	
is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philoso Higher Education at West Virginia University	ophy in
Approved by:	
Dean of the College of Applied Human Sciences	Date
Department Chair of the College of Applied Human Sciences	Date
Chair of the Dissertation Committee	Date
Committee Member	Date
Committee Member	Date
Outside Committee Member	Date
College of Applied Human Sciences	

West Virginia University

## **Acknowledgements**

I would have nothing and be nothing without my family. I have been supported, encouraged, sheltered and celebrated my whole life by my wonderful parents, grandparents, brother, in-laws, aunts, uncles, and cousins. "Thank you" isn't enough. I love you and hope I make you proud.

In honor of my Mom who overcame many of the positionalities discussed in this study decades before universities regularly offered the plethora of resources available today. This study would have been far more radical had it been done in the early 1980s when she was breaking barriers. Through her persistence, grit and drive, she became a leader who cares for and helps save the lives of countless critically ill West Virginian children. She inspires me to no end.

To my best friend and life partner Drew. Thank you for believing in me, encouraging me, and always standing by to support. When things broke down, you helped me pick up all the pieces and pushed me forward with endless love. Thank you for being you. Can you even believe we are a couple of doctors?

To the Framily, who always made sure I didn't lose sight of myself or take myself too seriously. You have consistently been there to cheer me on and provide welcome distractions. I adore you all and am grateful to have such beautiful human beings in my life. Let's go to Gene's.

To Professor Daniel Brewster -I wouldn't be me without your influence, inspiration, and support. Your passion for students helped ignite my own. Thank you for sticking with me all these years as teacher, mentor, and now dear friend. For good.

To Dr. Dariane Drake, who deeply related to the experience of trying to do this thing while advancing in your career. I am endlessly proud of you and am among your biggest fans.

To my entire committee but especially Dr. Erin McHenry-Sorber, whose guidance and edits have elevated this work beyond what I could have imagined being capable of. I am humbled to have had such access to her incredible mind for the past 7 years.

To Dr. Stephen Lee, the first person to suggest I had the potential to earn a doctorate, and to my pre-school teacher, for telling my mother that I was "bright." Many thanks to those who saw something in me and said something about it.

To all the West Virginians excelling in the academy – I'm proud of you. A special thanks to a couple I know well– Dr. Kelly Nix and Dr. Susan Jennings Lantz, who have lent many words of encouragement throughout this journey. And to Dr. Rebel Smith, an honorary West Virginian.

To Meeko and Poppi, who were quite literally by my side during the entire process. If proximity to a dissertation were sufficient to earn a PhD, they would both be donning regalia, too.

And finally, to the unknown number of immigrants up my family tree who sought a new life and made a home within Appalachia – specifically the Chestnut Ridge – who, by making a home among these particular hills, have allowed me to live this beautiful life.

## Contents

Chapter 1	1
Problem Statement	1
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	4
Design Overview	5
Conceptual Framework	7
Significanæ/ Contribution	8
Limitations	10
Chapter 2	12
Student Development Theorizing	13
Undergraduate Retention	14
Factors Affecting Retention and Persistence	19
Socioeconomic Factors	19
First Generation Factors	22
Rurality / Place-Based Identity	25
Appalachian Factors	32
The Need for Institution-Level Research	36
Relevant Theories: Social Reproduction and Spatial Justice	37
Social Reproduction: Bourdieu's Habitus, Capital & Field	38
Spatial Justiœ	45
Documented Intervention Strategies	49
Conclusions	51
Chapter 3	52
Introduction and Articulation of Research Questions	52
Methodological Approach and Methods	53
Role of the Researcher/Positionality Statement:	56
Research Site	60
Study Design - Participants	62
Data Collection	64
Data Analysis	68
Trustworthiness and Credibility	71
Chapter IV	72
Narrator Participants	73

THEMATIC ANALYSIS	79
Experiences of Low-Income, First-Generation Rural West Virginia Students	79
Rurality	
Academics (Preparedness & College Rigor)/ Self-Perception	91
First Generation Status/ Parents' Experiences	
COVID-19	
RQ1 Summary: The LIFGRWV Experience	
Expectations & The Institutional Land-Grant Narrative	
RQ2 Summary	
Perceived Supports and Barriers	
Resources / Supports – Key Players	
Resources / Supports: Finances	126
Resources / Supports – Institutional	
Perceived Barriers	
Barrier: Rurality	
Barrier: First Generation Status	
Barrier: Mental and Physical Health	
Barrier: Stigma Toward West Virginians	
Barrier: Impact of COVID 19	
Summary of RQ3	
CHAPTER V	
Framework I: Bourdieu's Forms of Capital (Classed)	
Capital and Expectations: Bridging Class Divides	
Capital and Experiences: Declining Social Capital and Cultural Divides	
Perceived Institutional Supports and Barriers to Building Capital	
Framework II: Spatial Justice (Spaced)	152
Place/Space and College Expectations	
Place/Space & College Experiences	
Place/Space & Perceived Institutional Supports & Barriers	
Summarizing Frameworks	
Researcher Reflection: Interactive Voice	163
I as Researcher/ Graduate Student	
I as Student Success Advocate/ Administrator	

I as Appalachian	166
I as Critic	167
Chapter VI	168
Discussion of Key Findings	168
Summary of Main Findings RQ1	169
Summary of Main Findings RQ2	173
Summary of Main Findings RQ3	174
Implications / Contributions	176
Highlighting LIFGRWVs	176
Intersection of Social Reproduction & Spatial Inequality in a Rural Context	177
Limitations	181
Recommendations for Future Research	184
Closing Reflections of the Researcher	188
References	190
Appendix A – Interview Protocol	206

## CHAPTER 1

## **PROBLEM STATEMENT**

A considerable body of research demonstrates that first-generation college students face greater obstacles to college access, retention, persistence and completion compared to their non-first-generation counterparts (Thayer, 2000; Richardson & Skinner, 1992; Terenzini, 1996; Soria & Stebleton, 2012). However, the literature on college retention and persistence rarely explores rurality as an important factor to understand these issues, despite the fact that economically distressed rural communities experience low educational attainment levels relative to national averages (Provasnik et al., 2007). Koricich, Chen & Hughes (2018) argue that of all the measures in which rural areas struggle, educational attainment is one of the most pressing due to its connection to other important social outcomes like employment, occupational status and income. Urban-centric views and solutions often dominate policy decisions and political issues, despite a growing interdependency between rural and urban spaces. These do not always translate to rural settings, contributing to the need for a more spatially inclusive approach to social problems and solutions (Lichter & Ziliak, 2017).

West Virginia is a predominantly rural state, with a need for improvement in educational attainment. The state ranks 49<sup>th</sup> among the 50 states in terms of educational attainment and has the lowest percentage of associate degree holders and those with some postsecondary experience (Strauss, 2018). Only 19.6% of WV residents over the age of 25 have a bachelor's degree or higher. This compares to 30.6% at the national level. Furthermore, only 55% of WV high school graduates enroll in college, compared to 70% at the national level (WV Forward, 2020). These low educational attainment levels are contributing factors to poor economic and health outcomes across the state, and poor economic standing makes accessing higher education more difficult

(Gofen, 2009; Hirsch, 2007). The problems of low educational attainment and lower socioeconomic standing exacerbate one another in a chicken-and-egg-like cycle of disadvantage.

Land-grant institutions like West Virginia University (WVU) have dedicated missions to service and engagement to address pressing social issues like poverty, rural community development, technological innovation and educational equity. More so than other types of fouryear higher education institutions, they serve traditionally underserved populations (Geiger & Sorber, 2013). For example, the stated mission of WVU is to advance education, healthcare and prosperity for all by providing access and opportunity. Furthermore, WVU is home to the Center for the Future of Land-Grand Education, the nation's only research center focused exclusively on land-grant institutions (About the Center, 2019). In fact, WVU President E. Gordon Gee, one of the nation's most prominent higher education leaders, has said in many public addresses that no other land grant university is as important to its state than WVU. "It just makes sense that WVU should be the place that is leading the national dialogue on the future of land-grant institutions. More than most, WVU centers its identity around its land-grant mission," said Dr. Nathan Sorber, who served as the first Director of the Land Grant Center (WVU Today, 2017). In other words, WVU appears poised to provide solutions to economic and health disparities within the state through educational attainment.

At the same time, institutions of American higher education have never been more financially dependent upon their students' success. Since the Great Recession of 2008, most states have significantly cut financial support to higher education. In 2016, West Virginia was 13th in the nation for reducing spending per student. Between 2008 and 2016, per student spending was reduced by 23.6%. Such budget cuts lead schools to make up the difference through tuition increases (McElhinny, 2017). Additional budget cuts have occurred annually

since then, and now only about 10% of WVU's budget comes from state funding, well below historic levels (Young, 2019). When states disinvest in higher education, schools tend to respond by focusing on the recruitment of wealthier nonresident students who can afford to pay increased tuition (Mangan, 2019). While this seems to be in direct conflict with WVU's mission as a landgrant, it is arguably necessary to keep the university financially viable.

However, populations of college-aged students are shrinking across the northeastern United States, where most nonresident WVU students come from. Some projections show that the college-aged population in the northeast is anticipated to drop by 5% by the mid 2020s. Furthermore, once post economic recession (2008) birth rates are also factored in, some projections estimate a loss of 15% of the traditional college going population. Additionally, the socioeconomic groups who will make up a growing share of the population have traditionally had lower college-going rates on average than the groups whose share of the population will be shrinking (Jaschik, 2018).

All of this makes the recruitment of new students (particularly non-resident students, who pay significantly higher tuition rates) more difficult, and the retention of currently enrolled students all the more precious from a business perspective. In fact, retention initiatives designed to manage student enrollment are estimated to be three to five times more cost effective than recruitment efforts (Cuseo, 2010). With less state funding and a decrease in population, retaining students (and their tuition dollars) can contribute to maintaining an institution's financial stability. Coupled with WVU's mission to support the residents of its state, there is a strong moral mission and as well as a strong economic case to focus on improving retention of first-generation students from West Virginia.

West Virginia is completely within the geographic bounds of Appalachia (Appalachian Regional Commission, 2010). While some work has been done on the college aspirations of students from rural West Virginia (Chenowith & Galliher, 2004), little research exists on the retention, persistence and experience of rural college students, and even less research exists that specifically examines these topics within rural Appalachia. Others interested in examining the Appalachian student experience (Beasley, 2017; Wilson, 2018) have noted the absence of literature surrounding this population as well. This is in relative contrast to an extensive body of work on urban students' postsecondary experiences that examine issues like poverty and academic under-preparedness – issues that rural students also face, but are often overlooked (Byun, et al., 2012; McDonough et al., 2010).

Given the marginalization of the target population in both practice and representation in the literature, there is a social justice case to be made for this project. More can be done to understand the experiences of rural West Virginian college students. Such data may illuminate rich insights currently missing in the dominant, urban-centric literature, and that can help us propose place-centric solutions to improve college access, retention, persistence and success. Furthermore, an economic case can be made for this project, as current budget and demographic realities make the recruitment of high paying nonresident students more difficult, increasing the need for land-grant institutions in states with significant rural populations to prioritize institutional supports and remove institutional barriers to help their in-state students, including first-generation students, realize their success.

## **PURPOSE STATEMENT AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

This qualitative narrative study explores the experiences of low-income, first-generation, rural students in West Virginia at the state's land-grant institution. The study addresses a gap in

the literature because little attention has been paid to the rural Appalachian experience in higher education. Among the few studies that do exist, West Virginians and West Virginian institutions are not well represented.

- Research Question 1: What are the experiences of low-income first-generation rural West Virginia students at the state's land-grant institution?
- Research Question 2: How do the postsecondary experiences of low-income firstgeneration college students from rural West Virginia, align with their expectations and the institutional land grant narrative?
- Research Question 3: What institutional factors do rural, low-income, first-generation students perceive as sources of support or barriers to their success, affecting their retention and persistence?

## **DESIGN OVERVIEW**

This study will use a critical approach to narrative inquiry. Narrative inquiry is a collaborative process reliant on the relationship between the narrator and researcher, and in which the finished product will be something newly and mutually constructed between the two (Connelly & Clandinin, 1990). An approach rooted in critical theory intends to give power to the voices of the traditionally marginalized participants in a constructionist approach that focuses on linkages between individual narratives and the broader culture (Marshall & Case, 2010). The study will use both supportive voice (which focuses on the narrator) and interactive voice (which constitutes an interaction between narrator and researcher) to push the narrators' stories into the limelight but to also have the researcher reflect deeply on their interactions with the narrators and take time in the analysis to examine the role of the researcher's own voice, social position,

interpretation and personal experiences through the refracted medium of the narrators' voices (Chase, 2005).

6

Narrative inquiry assumes that humans are innately storytelling creatures, and that opportunities to discover new insights are bountiful when you believe that there is value in the experiences of everyday people (Labov & Waletsky, 1968). Therefore, the approach is suitable for investigating the target population's perceptions of how WVU supports or impedes success, as well as how their experiences align with institutional narratives. It is also suitable because narratives are a way people construct identities and consider their positionality in the world. By understanding and magnifying the narratives of marginalized groups, we can use research to provide a strong rebuttal of dominant discourses that perpetuate inequities. The use of narrative is practical in that these stories can help researchers or policymakers gain new insights, make decisions, or inspire change.

Narrative analysis is a good match for researching the experiences of first-generation college students from West Virginia because stories are a way to make sense of, organize, revise and explain where we've come from, how we've arrived at our present, and where we wish to go. Interpretations change and flux through time. One of the most powerful things about the college experience is its ability to change and develop its students. The assessment, reassessment and theorization of meaning through the stories of development and experience by those living them will provide rich insights to the research questions that could not be gained otherwise. Furthermore, storytelling is a method well aligned with Appalachian culture (Goodman, 2010). Sharing the stories of rural, first-generation students from West Virginia who have successfully navigated challenges can be an effective mechanism to convey successful problem-solving experiences in a way that provides realistic role models to future students (Hlinka, 2017).

## **CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK**

This study builds upon sociocultural and critical theories and draws on a conceptual framework in student development to understand the experiences of first-generation college students from West Virginia. These lenses are meaningful to the research questions at hand. These questions and others like it stem from the researcher's broader theoretical commitments. According to Graham (2018), one way new knowledge is created is by addressing social injustice and proposing critical questions about ways of being and doing. Critical practitioners center marginalized voices in their evidence gathering and interpretation, allowing data to be used in transformative ways in the pursuit of equity. By framing this study and the use of this conceptual framework in the following theories, the researcher can honor these commitments and contribute to the higher education literature.

Crenshaw's (1991) theory of intersectionality, where overlapping or intersecting social identities relate to systems and structures of oppression, was the original idea that grounded the researcher's thinking. Intersections through which one could consider the target population include geographic and social isolation, poverty, class, academic under-preparedness, and first-generation status. However, in an effort to avoid recentering critical race theory on a predominantly white population, a more appropriate concept is that of spatial inequality. Galster and Sharkey (2017) state that space plays a vital role as a foundation for inequality and perpetuating intergenerational inequality. Often, those with little are stuck in place both geographically and socioeconomically. Furthermore, they argue that space is a particularly salient and underappreciated contributing factor to inequality.

Additionally, Bourdieu's (1986) theory of social reproduction, specifically the concept of cultural capital, is pertinent to this study. This refers to symbolic elements like skills, tastes, clothing, mannerisms, or credentials that one acquires through being a member of a particular

social class. Sharing similar forms of cultural capital with others is a way to create a collective identity, but it also creates social inequality because some forms of cultural capital are given more authority and higher value over others. This is a helpful lens through which to consider the experiences of low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia, and the effects their positionality may have on the way they are perceived by others (faculty, administrators and fellow students) within the higher education context.

From the vantage points of these theories, the researcher considers Reason, Terenzini & Domingo's (2005) Comprehensive Model of Influences on Student Learning and Persistence. This model was revolutionary at the time because it incorporated a broader array of influences than previous major studies of college impact such as the National Study of Student Learning (NSSL) (Pascarella et. al, 2001) and National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) (Kuh, 2003). The framework hypothesizes that students come to college with a range of demographic, personal and academic characteristics and experiences which shape their engagement with various aspects of their school. They are also shaped by a variety of curricular and out-of-class experiences and conditions. All of this occurs within and is shaped by the institutional context, including organizational characteristics, structures, practices, policies, culture and environments. This suggests that the traits and attributes students bring with them to the academy not only have implications for their retention via their individual engagement, but also in regard to institutional context.

## **SIGNIFICANCE/ CONTRIBUTION**

The study will add to the ongoing conversation of student retention by illuminating the nature of the barriers faced by low-income, first generation college students from rural West Virginia by adding qualitative input from Appalachian voices into the current body of literature

examining changes in rural college going and completion. It addresses a gap in the relevant literature that prioritizes the barriers faced by urban populations relative to those faced by rural populations. It also addresses a gap in the relevant rural literature by focusing on students from West Virginia. Ultimately, this research should provide greater representation of West Virginians in higher education and a more nuanced description and understanding of factors that impact student retention by focusing on a group largely omitted from both the student retention literature and from dominant discourses surrounding inequality in educational attainment. This could provide valuable insights to help us understand the way that shifts in American society have shaped rural college going, which Wells et al. (2019) have called for. This work's practical contributions include the identification of solutions to improve retention rates among this population at West Virginia University. It is anticipated that solutions will include ideas for institutional or peer support systems that can be provided immediately before or during the first year of college, or for educating and training administrators and faculty to understand and respond to these student needs.

While the target population is narrow and specific, insights may be transferable to other settings. Other land-grant institutions may be able to utilize these findings to help them reconsider how they deliver on the promise of their land-grant mission. Other types of higher education institutions that serve low-income, rural, first-generation students may also find these results useful as they consider how to improve retention of marginalized groups underrepresented in existing student retention literature.

After all, much of the foundation of the study of college student experience, retention, persistence and development has historically been based on upper-class white, male, non-firstgeneration experiences. The new millennium brought new ways of thinking as scholars dissected

and critiqued this understanding, and as previous scholars revised their own work to accommodate nuances overlooked from their original models (Braxton, 2000; Tinto, 2006). However, not all traditionally overlooked populations have been incorporated or considered equally into the body of work, including Appalachians – specifically, low-income, firstgeneration rural students from West Virginia. Insights from this traditionally overlooked population can add more depth and clarification to our current understanding of the literature on student experience. Through a comparison with the dominant discourse, these voices may even provide counter narratives that can help higher education researchers critically examine longheld beliefs on student success.

## LIMITATIONS

This research is constrained by a number of factors, perhaps the most obvious of which is the specificity of the context. Although transferability to other settings is anticipated, the present study looks at one land-grant institution's relationship with a spatially and economically marginalized in-state population within a wider social, cultural and economic state context. Furthermore, rural students make up a minority (29%) of college enrollees in the US (NACE, 2018) which may cause some researchers to overlook the significance of developing support systems for this group. However, when it comes to improving retention, a multitude of tactics targeting a multitude of populations is necessary. There is no one silver bullet.

Another limitation is the definition of "rural". A multitude of definitions exist, causing current research findings to be mixed and occasionally contradictory. This impacts the utility of the research findings in contexts where other definitions are used (Wells, et al 2019a). To overcome this challenge, the present study will use a definition of "self-identification as rural," which first and foremost meets the theoretical and methodological commitments of the research

methods in this study. Transparency regarding the use of this definition will also help overcome the limitation by clearly specifying that the identity of rurality belongs to the individuals and is not ascribed to them by external entities.

The very nature of this study is limited in its ability to be a strong critical piece because it only examines students who have made it to college and persisted at least one semester. When considering the social justice and land-grant mission, this study and others like it leave out some of the most marginalized individuals who never make it to college in the first place. Any study focusing on students currently in higher education, though valuable, must be called out in its inherent privilege of educational access.

In regard to the particular approach (narrative inquiry), some limitations must be considered. First, any approach where the researcher is the instrument for data collection is open to human error. This could include the researcher's: (in)ability to think critically about the types of questions that would yield the best data; personal thoughts, feelings, or attentiveness on a given day; and commitment to ethics to not smooth the plot of the narrative. The researcher's own limitations and deficiencies affect the quality of the data collection and subsequent analysis. Furthermore, in qualitative narrative interviewing, it is important to leave room for potential changes or shifts in direction. The researcher must get their own views and preconceived notions out of the way to highlight the stories and experiences of the narrators.

Another limitation is the ability to effectively address power dynamics and get other scholars interested in social change. How do we address issues of audience? Audre Lorde's famous criticism "the master's tools will never dismantle the master's house" rings loudly. How effective can the existing system of institutionalized inequity be at implementing change? Social action is a prerequisite criterion of critical work, but it is not possible to guarantee that policy

change will result from this study. To counter this concern, the argument for improved financial institutional outcomes, which is certainly of interest to top leaders within higher education, becomes paramount.

A final limitation is that detailed qualitative work does not neatly allow for quick summarization in condensed formats like tables, graphs or charts. More stories could be more beneficial when trying to advocate for social change, but it is unrealistic to conduct large scale studies when the data collection is of this depth. Narrative work can stress the individual over the greater social context, sometimes to its detriment. It is difficult but necessary to simultaneously address the whole picture and the important small details in this method.

Despite these acknowledged limitations, the study is worthwhile for its contributions to the body of student retention literature and the methodology is sound based on the conceptual and theoretical frameworks outlined for this project.

## CHAPTER 2

This chapter provides an overview of the relevant literature to situate the present study by highlighting what is known about the topic and what remains to be investigated. This literature review encompasses a wide range of peer-reviewed literature in student postsecondary access and retention, student development, as well as a justification of the relevant theories that provide the appropriate lens through which to view this study. Broadly, four main areas will be addressed in the literature review: standard or typical retention and student development theories; factors impacting retention; an overview of the theories of social reproduction and spatial justice and a justification of their use in the present study; and a brief overview of what previous research suggests are appropriate intervention measures to help students retain and succeed.

## **STUDENT DEVELOPMENT THEORIZING**

In their book Rethinking College Student Development Theory Using Critical

*Frameworks*, Abes, Jones and Stewart (2019) liken the evolution of the field of student development to waves, an echo of feminist scholarship. One can consider traditional theoretical contributions, neatly categorized into domains such as psychosocial, cognitive, and moral, as the first wave, identifying important developmental tasks by which students ought to experience growth. A foundational contribution of the first wave is the assumption that college students should grow and develop as a result of their experiences in the college environment (p 24). However, the authors argue that their primary emphasis on concepts like "dissonance," "assimilation," and "accommodation" suggest that while the developmental process was not without variance, it was still relatively consistent for all students.

In response, a second wave of theoretical contributions focused on the importance of social identity. In particular, there was a growing attention to notice who was left out of these original theories. Scholars began to identify that a student's group memberships and sense of belonging influenced their sense of self (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). Furthermore, group memberships are influenced by larger societal structures that reflect systems of dominance and oppression. By extension, the second wave suggested there is meaning in how one's group affiliations are perceived by others, which can reflect structures of inequality and relations between different groups within the university setting. The second wave brought to attention the impact of inhospitable campus climates on student development and encouraged a greater inclusion of diverse groups. It also pointed out sociocultural contexts that help explain how students develop. Ultimately, the second wave brought nuance based on social identity into the light and helped explain the developmental journeys of some students previously excluded from dominant theories (p. 25).

The currently emerging third wave places as emphasis on critical theory. Through this lens, meaningfully integrating theory and practice is a mechanism to promote social change through emancipation. Critical theory positions scholars to explain inequities within higher education. Goals of emancipation may be big (like policy change) or small (like improving the experience of a single student or small group of students), but regardless of the scope, the goal is explicit. This explicit attention to structures of inequality as the context in which development takes place is a differentiator from the second wave. Abes et al. (2019) posit it will never be enough to simply describe students' experiences; instead, it is imperative to require a critical analysis of the "intersecting domains of power and structures of inequality that frame development in the first place" (p. 26).

While waves are not meant to be completely sequential or mutually exclusive, the present study can be likened to the cresting of the second wave. While a critical lens indicative of the third wave is central to the work, the researcher is not satisfied with the resolution of the second wave when it comes to considering first-generation, rural, low-income students from West Virginia. If the second wave signifies a deep understanding of how a student's group memberships and sense of belonging impact their development, the researcher argues that the work is unfinished in Appalachia. Abes, Jones and Stewart (2019) welcome the third wave, arguing it brings much needed attention to many marginalized groups by addressing systemic inequities based on race, ableism, sexuality, and colonization in higher education. However, some groups are missing from this discourse. Among those omitted are Appalachians.

## **UNDERGRADUATE RETENTION**

The National Center for Education Statistics defines retention rates as the percentage of first-time undergraduate students who return to the same institution the following fall. Between

2017 and 2018, the percentage of first time, full-time degree seeking undergraduate students retained at four-year institutions was 81% (US Department of Education, 2019). This means for every five students who enroll at a given four-year institution, approximately one does not return the following year. West Virginia University lags behind this national average, reporting a retention rate between 75.9% and 79.6% for the five first-time full-time freshmen cohorts between 2014 and 2018 (Morgantown Student Outcomes, 2021).

While the issue of undergraduate retention remains timely, it is certainly not new. In their history of student retention, Berger, Ramirez, and Lyons (2012) offer some foundational assumptions, issues and definitions related to retention in American higher education. First, it is important to establish that "retention" refers to the institution's ability to keep a student at their specific institution. "Persistence" refers to the desire and action of a student to stay within the system of higher education from beginning through degree completion (p. 5). Put simply, institutions retain, and students persist. Therefore, the present study is one of retention as it looks to examine the experiences of students within the institutional context, as retention is reflective of the type of environment provided by the institution and how well it meets the needs of students enrolled at that institution.

The concept of undergraduate college student retention (arguably much better phrased than its predecessor, "student mortality") began as a serious inquiry in the 1960s. A decade earlier, colleges saw booming enrollments as a result of the GI Bill implemented for white veterans. In fact, many institutions could not accommodate all interested students as college became increasingly desirable in an industrial and technology-oriented society. Enrollments grew further in the 1960s as African Americans fought for greater educational access through the Civil Rights movement. These previously omitted groups had lower levels of academic

opportunities and preparation in comparison to past cohorts, and as such, their retention was quite low. The lower retention rates of new groups of students coupled with a decrease in enrollments nationwide in the 1970s played a role in establishing the concept of retention as a critical concern (p. 12-14). Notable researchers such as Spady (1971), Kamens (1971), Astin (1977), Tinto (1975) and Bean (1980, 1983) spurred tremendous interest in the study of retention.

Although some work had been done in the 1960s, Spady (1971) was the first to call for a systemically and empirically based body of knowledge that could better inform efforts to understand and improve retention (p. 13). His 1971 model was the first to emphasize the interaction between student characteristics and the characteristics of the campus environment. This marked a shift to grounding studies in sociology instead of psychology. These effects are still salient today. Spady argued that if student attributes (skills, values, interests, attitudes) were congruent with the norms of the campus environment (faculty, peers, administrators), then the student would assimilate academically and socially, increasing their likelihood of persistence and success.

Spady's work was a precursor to Vincent Tinto's contributions to the field. He built upon Spady's model by incorporating elements of psychological and organizational theoretical models. Tinto (1975, 1993) suggested that a student's entry characteristics, coupled with their initial commitment to the institution and to graduation, influence their departure decisions, and that early and continued institutional commitment mediated academic and social integration, both of which are important to retention. Kamens (1974) demonstrated that more selective institutions face less attrition. His work legitimized the idea that the social charter and prestige of the institution can strengthen its ability to retain students. Meanwhile, Astin's (1977, 1985) work

demonstrated that involvement with one's education is key to retention and that the amount of energy a student invests in their collegiate experience directly influences their decision to persist or depart.

By the late 1970s, theoretical foundations were established and empirical work began. Pascarella and Terenzini (1977, 1979) built upon Tinto's models and opened the floodgates for a new wave of studies using systematic approaches. The 1980s ushered in the concept of enrollment management. Bean (1983) demonstrated how organizational attributes and reward structures affect student perceptions, which affects their satisfaction and ultimately their persistence. Now, data was being used to guide retention research as well as institutional practices in the areas of recruitment, student support services, and curriculum development (Berger, Ramirez & Lyons, pp. 15-17).

By the 1990s, retention became a permanently established educational priority, as institutions began to turn more attention to student learning and the importance of overlap between the academic and social spheres (p. 18). As studies have proliferated, so too have critiques of Tinto's theory (Braxton et al., 2000; Longwell-Grice, 2008; Liu, 2002; Tinto & Pusser, 2006). Some of the critiques address the need to take the existing models and integrate them with others to improve sophistication, and others call for the addition of constructs from other disciplines to elaborate on the existing models. Others have recognized the omission of certain subgroups from the literature (Berger, et al., 2012, p. 17). One of the most significant critiques is that Tinto's original theory did not empirically account for the importance of social integration (Braxton et al., 2000). Braxton et al. (2000) found that active learning played a statistically significant role in influencing a student's social integration, institutional commitment and their intent to return. They also noted other scholarship that provided empirical evidence for

the importance of social integration on organizational attributes and student involvement (Berger & Braxton, 1998; Milem & Berger, 1997).

Retention continues to be a scholarly and practical priority for institutions, as evidenced by the existence of an academic journal wholly devoted to the topic and the need for many institutions to focus on retention to increase enrollments in tight budgetary conditions. Furthermore, it remains clear that student involvement (engagement) matters to retention, and it matters most during the first year of enrollment. What is less clear is how to make involvement matter in different settings and for different subgroups of students in a way that enhances their retention and graduation (Tinto, 2006). According to Tinto's (2006) own critique of his earlier work, this represents a gap between research and practice, which the present study seeks to address.

Berger, Ramirez & Lyons (2012) argue the data from Braxton's study suggest that social, not academic, integration is key to understanding student departure (p. 17-18). But there is a growing recognition that successful retention of underrepresented groups may require institutions to depart from the assumption that integration is a one-way street where students must assimilate into the institutional context. Abes, et al. (2019) purport that interlocking, mutually supporting systems of oppression are embedded in the environments where identity develops, and what constitutes "context" has evolved to also include larger structures of inequality. As such, there is a need to investigate how a dominant organizational pattern affects retention of underrepresented groups. Some scholars have pointed out that despite a diversification in the makeup of enrolled students, higher education continues to focus on the privileged (Ardoin, 2019). Therefore, it is appropriate to critique dominant cultures and theories that assume students must adopt campus norms and integrate or assimilate in order to succeed.

The diversification of students within higher education has led to a diversification of retention issues as well. Hlinka (2017) notes that there is no one-size-fits-all solution to retention – that each institution ought to have tailored initiatives that are specific to their student populations and environments. More can be done to explain the interaction between specific types of students and specific types of campuses. The present study adds to the existing literature by examining the interactive influence between the characteristics of low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia and the organizational context at their state flagship, land grant institution.

## **FACTORS AFFECTING RETENTION AND PERSISTENCE**

In the subsequent sections, attention will be given to literature focused on various factors affecting student retention and persistence, student development, forms of capital, spatial injustice in rural Appalachia, and institutional context with the intent of shedding light on what types of involvement and experiences matter for the improved retention of low-income, first-generation students from rural West Virginia at WVU.

## Socioeconomic Factors

Middle Appalachia, which contains all of West Virginia except the four northern panhandle counties, has higher poverty rates (25.3%) and higher rates of students eligible for subsidized lunch (55.2%) compared to national averages (20.8% and 46%, respectively) (Pollard & Jacobson, 2014). A review of the literature demonstrates that a student's socioeconomic status (SES) has significant impacts on college access. Socioeconomic effects on persistence remain salient after controlling for gender, race and ethnicity (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991, 2005). Akerhielm et al. (1998) found that students' expectations regarding educational attainment were highly correlated with SES. Once students enroll in college, their SES continues to influence

their experiences, achievement and graduation rates (OECD, 2014). After enrolling, even the highest academically achieving students from low-SES families face barriers to persistence to graduation (Astin & Oseguera 2004; Wei & Carroll, 2002). In a national study, Bowen et al. (2009) found that at public flagship institutions (such as WVU), the six-year graduation rate for low-SES students was significantly lower (68%) compared to the graduation rate for high-SES students (83%). Furthermore, while most retention studies look at first-to-second year retention, comparisons of low-SES to high-SES students demonstrate a visible difference in withdrawal rates even earlier than that: in the first to second semester (Bowen et al., 2009).

The college completion gaps between low and high SES students persist. A 2015 NCES study that examined postsecondary attainment by SES levels found that the graduation gap is wider than the enrollment gap between the lowest and highest earners. Both groups had high hopes as high schoolers, with 87% of students in the top quartile and 58% of students in the bottom quartile aiming for at least a bachelor's degree. However, at the end of a 13-year period, only 14% of those from the lowest quartile had earned a bachelor's degree, compared to 60% among the top quartile (NCES, 2015). Dynarski (2015) points out that of the students in the study who earned the highest math scores, 74% of them from the most advantaged SES backgrounds had completed a bachelor's degree, compared to only 41% of those with the lowest SES backgrounds. This signifies a completion gap of 33 percentage points between the highest academically achieving students based on their status as high or low SES. The study also found that a low SES student with top scores is equally as likely to graduate with a bachelor's degree as a high SES student with mediocre scores. And among those students with the lowest scores, 21% in the high SES group were able to graduate, compared to only 5% of those in the low SES group. The study suggests that class trumps ability as a predictor of college completion

20

(Dynarski, 2015). Another more recent longitudinal study by the NCES found a 50-percentage point gap in enrollment in postsecondary education between lowest SES (28%) and highest SES groups (78%), as well as a 46-percentage point gap between the lowest SES (32%) and highest SES (78%) groups in the completion of their bachelor's degree (NCES, 2019).

Low-SES students have greater levels of unmet financial need and are more likely to work more than 20 hours per week than higher-SES students (Titus, 2006). Both of these factors have been shown to negatively impact student persistence (Hippensteel et al, 2006; Paulsen & St. John, 2002). Additionally, low-SES students are underrepresented in higher education and their underrepresented identity is likely salient, regularly reminding them of their differences from others (Alon, 2009; Hearn & Rosinger, 2014; Orbe, 2004). Studies have demonstrated that low-SES students regularly report feeling out of place in the college context (Harackiewicz et al, 2014; Ostrove & Long, 2007; Rubin, 2007, Soria & Stebelton, 2013) and that these students suffer from negative stereotypes regarding their ability and competence (Fiske, et al., 2002; Durante, et al., 2017). Low-SES students also report lower self-efficacy and have lower selfreported perceptions of intelligence than do high SES students (Hellman & Harbeck, 1997; Ivcevic & Kaufman, 2013; Stableton & Soria, 2012). Such stereotypes can contribute to classism toward those who are socially devalued (Lott, 2012, p. 654).

Walpole (2003) argued that if US higher education was truly meritocratic, then low-SES and high-SES student experiences and outcomes would be similar. However, continued and increasing gaps in persistence and graduation rates between low-SES and high-SES students suggests that US postsecondary institutions reproduce social class hierarchies rather than mitigate them (Rowan-Kenyon et al., 2017; Bourdieu, 1977). Jury et al. (2017) found higher education is far from being culturally neutral because the system is built and organized by

unwritten rules created by middle- and upper-class cultural norms. Low-SES students can experience barriers in emotional experiences, identity management, self-perception and motivation (Jury et al., 2017). Students may face internal tensions between their prior and current experiences due to their shift from a poor or working-class home environment to that of middle-class academia (Soria, 2015).

Rowan Kenyon et al. (2017) used Bourdieu's (1977) theories of social and cultural capital to examine declining persistence trends of low-SES students to develop a model that demonstrated deficiencies in traditional models of student persistence to better accommodate the realities of low-SES students. Their model included measures of social and cultural capital, institutional characteristics, student supports while in college, environmental pull variables and student background characteristics. They found that institutional characteristics, student support and environmental pull variables mitigated the significance of social capital factors. Students who met regularly with an advisor or faculty member were twice as likely to persist (Rowan-Kenyon et al., 2017). This suggests that adherence to social norms (social capital) are not necessary to persistence, but rather that discrepancies can be mitigated by institutional actions.

Ardoin (2018) provides an important nuance that SES is just one factor that contributes to one's social class and that more holistic experiences of social class are also relevant (Ardoin, 2017; Ardoin, 2018). Social class identity is fluid, subjective and complex, and is often first experienced through one's family through dress, dialect, manners, and methods of interaction (Barratt, 2011; hooks, 2000; Soria, 2015; Ardoin, 2018). Further review of class considerations through Bourdieu's (1977; 1987) theory of social reproduction will follow upon the conclusion of the review of factors salient to retention and persistence.

### FIRST GENERATION FACTORS

First-generation student status is linked to experiences with classism within the academy that significantly affect academic satisfaction (Langhout, et al., 2009; Allan, et al., 2016). There are several ways to define what constitutes a first-generation college student. For purposes of this study, first-generation refers to students whose parents did not obtain a bachelor's degree, as it is the most commonly used definition by higher education institutions. These students often do not have parents who are able to help them understand or navigate the college environment and its expectations (Davis, 2010).

The proportion of first-generation college students entering higher education is growing (Ishitani, 2003), with one in six students on college campuses and 27% of graduating high school seniors in this category (US Dept of Education, 2015). Despite a larger presence of first-generation students on college campuses, inequitable outcomes between first-generation and continuing-generation students remain.

First-generation students attain bachelor's degrees at a rate of 20% six years after entering postsecondary education, compared to 49% of continuing-generation students, and they have a higher rate of attrition; they are five times more likely to depart postsecondary education without a credential after the first year (RTI International, 2019a). Past studies have found firstgeneration students enrolled at four-year institutions are less likely to persist at their initial institution and complete bachelor's degrees at half the rate of their continuing-generation peers (Warburton, et al., 2001; Engle & Tinto, 2008; DeAngelo et al., 2011).

First-generation students are more likely than their continuing generation peers to come from low-income families (29% vs 9%), with those who are dependents having a median annual parental income of \$41,000 compared to \$90,000 for continuing generation students (Warburton, et al., 2001; RTI International, 2019b). This group subsequently faces comparatively high work

demands, family pressures and financial stress compared to continuing-generation peers (Cutrona, et al., 1994; Engle & Tinto, 2008; Ishitani, 2006) which may constitute financial barriers to their academic success (Engle et al., 2006). External influences including ties to home communities, time spent working and lack of time spent on campus can lower students' levels of integration or involvement on campus (Billson & Terry, 1982; Lohfink & Paulsen, 2005; Soria & Stebleton, 2012).

Studies have shown first-generation students tend to have lower GPAs (Chen & Carrol, 2005; Stephens, et al., 2014). Many first-generation students are disadvantaged in regard to familial support, expectations, planning and college preparation in high school. This relative lack of preparation creates a cultural mismatch between higher education institutions' individualistic norms and first-generation students' experiences (Pascarella, et al., 2004; Stephens et al., 2012). All of these factors of mismatch- inadequate family preparation; misalignment between student and institutional expectations, and student feelings of loneliness and discomfort - help to explain the relatively lower academic performance of first-generation college students (Komada, 2002; Stephens et al., 2012).

Outlets for meaningful social connection can be difficult for first-generation college students to obtain but make a significant difference when they do occur. First-generation students may experience alienation or loneliness and may be less likely to share about their college experiences with their non-college going friends and family back home (Barry et al., 2009). When they do have the chance to observe and know someone "like them" on campus, it can positively impact the relation between their stress level and perceived academic goal progress (Garriott & Nisle, 2018).

While the outlook on first-generation student success may look grim, both families and institutions can play a role in positively mitigating these realities. Ali & Saunders (2006) study of 87 high school students in rural Central Appalachia found that students' aspirations for college attendance were associated more strongly with their level of parental support rather than their parents' own educational attainment levels. In a 2019 study, Wells et al found that one of the largest predictors of college completion was whether a parent expected the child to attain at least a bachelor's degree First-generation students derive greater benefit from academic engagement than their continuing-generation counterparts (Pascarella et al., 2004). Campus supports are critical to the well-being and academic success of first-generation students (Longwell-Grice & Longwell-Grice, 2007). Garriott and Nisle (2018) found that student stress is significantly related to institutional supports for first, but not continuing, generation students. The relationship between stress and institutional support may be weaker for continuing-generation students due to their increased access to forms of social and cultural capital on college campuses (Davis, 2010).

### **RURALITY / PLACE-BASED IDENTITY**

The literature demonstrates the effects of socioeconomic status and first-generation status are salient and constitute challenges to student retention and persistence. Both of these factors are prevalent in West Virginia, where WVU is the flagship, land-grant institution. Another factor impacting low-SES, first-generation college students from West Virginia that is comparatively less studied is rurality. Previous research suggests that "rurality" can be an important aspect of one's identity (Heinisch, 2017; Schultz, 2004; Yenney-Henderson, 2019). Place-based identity consists of an objective component (where people live or have lived) and a subjective component (socially and culturally constructed meanings) that are fluid and exist within the system of urbanormativity (Cain, 2020). In addition to SES and first-generation influences on inequitable

student persistence, place can be an important contributor to attrition and success. As Tieken (2017) argues, "Educational inequity is not just raced or classed but also spatialized – that is, embedded in and maintained through geography" (p. 385).

Despite the growth of scholarly interest in identity politics, the rural/ urban axis remains understudied among college students, representative of a larger general disregard for rurality in research and policy. This is problematic, given research that demonstrates growth in postsecondary achievement was less strong in rural areas compared to urban and suburban areas, and that nonrural students exhibited a statistically significant advantage in bachelor's degree attainment even after adjusting for family resources, community social resources and academic background. Rural students were more likely than nonrural students to not attend college at all, and were also more likely than the other groups to obtain a sub-baccalaureate credential (Wells, et al., 2019). If student affairs professionals seek to more fully understand their students, placebased identity must be better understood, as the importance of interpersonal support and sense of belonging has been documented (Cain, 2020; Yenney, 2020; Coladarci, 2007).

Two contributing factors to the omission of place-based identity may be historical framing of rural education and a disagreement on what constitutes rurality and rural education scholarship. The concept of "rural" is not monolithic, consistent or precise. The US government uses more than two dozen systems to classify space and place, and depending on the system used, the rural proportion of a given population can change drastically, varying from 7% to 49% (Cromartie & Bucholtaz, 2008; Tieken, 2017 p 386). While there is some agreement that traditional predictors of college access and persistence such as parental education level (said to be representative of cultural capital) are less present in rural areas, there is disagreement on

whether or not rural and nonrural students attend or persist at similar rates due to nonstandard and varied definitions of rurality (Nelson, 2019; Li, 2019).

The inconsistency in defining "rural" populations has led to contradictory narratives in the research. Some argue from a rural deficit perspective signified by lower college attainment, lower SES, lower levels of parental education and lower resourced schools. But others take the perspective that rural students have stronger social capital and closer parent-child relationships (see Li, 2019, for a discussion exploring the two narratives), a stronger work ethic, greater maturity and perseverance (Elder & Conger, 2000; Heinisch, 2017; Yenney-Henderson, 2019). Wells et al. (2019) suggest that rural students are more likely than their nonrural counterparts to have residential stability, engage in a religious community, and have parents who know their friends' parents, all of which are associated with increased academic achievement (p. 6).

Although the lack of clarity of defining rural presents challenges, it does not negate the value of rural centered or rural related research. Instead, research should be interpreted and compared to other results with a careful consideration of differing definitions in mind (Manly et al, 2019). Biddle et al. (2019) propose that rural research should not necessarily be "inherently rural," but instead should address factors important within rural contexts and focus on how the scholarship is of critical relevance to rural communities. Instead of arguing that rurality as a factor uniquely shapes an outcome, researchers ought to be able to demonstrate the importance of their research for those in rural contexts. They argue that "place" should be thought of as not only geographic, but also as dynamic, political and relational. Biddle et. al (2019) also encourage rural-focused research to address how power manifests across space and place – which the present study keeps in mind through its critical lens.

Twenty percent of public-school students attend rural schools, but those student experiences are lacking in educational equity-focused research (NCES, 2014; Tieken & San Antonio, 2016). Historically, politicians and educational reformers described challenges faced by rural people as "the rural problem," viewing rural schools as deficient in comparison to schools in more industrialized locales in the late 1800s and early 1900s (DeYoung & Howley, 1990; Edmondson, 2003; Biddle et al., 2019). The viewpoint of these schools as "problems to solve" by applying efficiencies of scale and standardization has led to policies such as school consolidation, curricular requirements designed to provide a common body of knowledge despite its contextual irrelevance and expanding governmental oversight that diminishes local control (Corbett, 2007). Applying practices created within an urban-focused paradigm does not always translate well to rural settings. Examples include the charter school movement, which relies on a type of school choice unfeasible in many rural areas, and the No Child Left Behind Act, which made unreasonable demands on rural schools (Ash, 2014; Tieken, 2014). In addition to disadvantaging rural schools, one effect of these reforms has been that rural students leave school with knowledge and values incongruent and irrelevant to their rural communities, a phenomenon that Corbett (2007) calls "learning to leave." A common stereotype is that Appalachian families do not value higher education. However, more nuanced research shows that many families clearly do value higher education, while others do not necessarily question its value, but rather, are wary of its benefits (Kannapel & Flory, 2017). Once in college, rural students may receive advice from academic advisors regarding major selection or career selection that does not pay attention to whether or not the subsequent paths for those fields are viable or sustainable in a rural community. This assumed bias toward upward mobility may characterize success as unassociated with living in rural areas (Ardoin & McNamee, 2020).

Rural students may experience tension to either remain in their rural communities or leave for college. The move can be both a literal physical distance and a symbolic cultural distance (Tieken, 2016). Part of the rural college-going conversation focuses on employment opportunities, which can push families to embrace the need for a college education despite the fact that attaining that degree often requires leaving home (Tieken, 2016). Conversely, other rural communities may push back on the idea of a college education since many of the visible jobs do not require a degree, or because some areas have not seen positive economic benefits as a result of schooling. The lack of opportunity to observe how education can be a mechanism to advance one's economic standing can cause some students to question whether an education could help them in the future (Corbett, 2007; Starcher, 2005). Furthermore, some rural students' commitment to place and family makes the decision to leave less appealing, and some rural parents resist the idea of their children attending college out of their own needs and self-interests, such as the need for labor around the home or caring for siblings (Tieken, 2016; Beasley, 2017). The resistance may also come from the students themselves, as they may value family cohesiveness above individual achievement or personal goals or be wary of being thought of as "elitist" or "othered" by their home community (Deaton, 2008; Ardoin, 2018 p. 35). Rural students who do not hold these values may be more apt to leave (Binney & Martin, 1997; Johnson et al, 2005; Beasley, 2017).

With these contextual factors in mind, rural students as a group face challenges that have similarities and overlaps with those challenges facing low-SES and first-generation students. Rural students are more likely than average to be first-generation and have parents with lower incomes, lower education levels, and lower educational expectations for their children, all of which have been shown to be predictors of both college enrollment and completion (Provasnik et

al., 2007; Byun et al., 2012; Tieken, 2016; Nelson, 2019). Family income is consistently predictive on college completion, but its influence is most pronounced for rural students compared to suburban and urban students. Although socioeconomic factors help diminish the gap in college completion between rural and nonrural students, significant unexplained gaps remain between the groups (Wells et al., 2019).

Rural guidance counselors, who may influence students' educational aspirations, are overworked and undercompensated (McDonough, 2005). Ardoin's (2018) study of rural and non-rural college applicants found that rural applicants were overconfident about the information they had about college. Rural applicants believed they had the same level of understanding of the college-going process as the non-rural students with whom they were competing for admission. However, the urban and suburban applicants had more access to adults with college experience than the rural students, allowing them to leverage greater amounts of cultural capital valued by colleges and universities.

The challenges do not cease once a rural student enrolls in college. In fact, the gaps in degree attainment between rural and nonrural graduates are greater and less understood than the disparity regarding initial college enrollment (Wells, et. al, 2019b). Researchers suggest that rural students have difficulty with time management, the anonymity of attending a larger school, and exhibit anxiety when engaging with diversity (Heinisch, 2017; Yenney-Henderson, 2019). The present study seeks a better understanding of the experience of rural students on college campuses to provide more attention to all parts of the college pathway through completion.

A final consideration on the discussion of rurality is that educational inequities are intimately tied to geography (Tieken, 2017). Rural students and communities often share an experience of being on the losing end of corporate concentration and deindustrialization. These

spaces are often the last to get updated technological infrastructure, last to regain power after an outage, or the first to lose a regional or national chain store (Fulkerson & Thomas, 2020). The distribution of federal Title I funds favors large numbers of poor students over large proportions of poor students in a given district. This provides greater benefits to densely populated urban areas with relatively low poverty rates than to small rural districts with much higher poverty rates (Formula Fairness Campaign, 2015). When the system requires rural and urban schools to vie for these resources, it contributes to a sense of competition rather than allyship between the rural and urban poor (Tieken, 2017). Viewing educational inequities as a "rural vs. urban" competition for resources is a distraction from addressing the longstanding structural problem of trying to solve rural challenges using urban solutions.

The US educational system funds schools through property taxes. Therefore, those who own and reside in areas with high property values have the right to a high-quality education, whereas those with low value property do not. Tieken (2017) argues that the devaluing of certain property based on stereotypes (such as the racialized "dangerous urban" stereotype or the classed "backwards rural" stereotype) can contribute to lower property values that negatively impact the educational opportunities of children in those areas.

There are open questions about what constitutes the concept of rurality and what qualifies as rural education scholarship (Biddle et al., 2019). However, enough scholarship exists to posit that geographic factors are salient in the present study, which seeks to fill a gap in the literature by examining the experiences of low-income, first-generation rural college students from West Virginia at their land-grant institution. This work wishes to advance the understanding of rural experiences, for the rural and the practitioners and institutions who serve them. To better

understand the relationship between people, land, and context, Appalachian factors must also be explored.

#### **APPALACHIAN FACTORS**

"The Appalachian people know the value of tradition and continuity, even though they are sometimes ridiculed for this devotion by the outside world." – Foster & Connor, 1992 p. 18.

Appalachia encompasses all of West Virginia and portions of 12 other states from Mississippi to New York (Appalachian Regional Commission). This area is largely rural, faces high levels of poverty, low rates of white-collar employment, and low rates of educational attainment and college attendance (Chenowith & Galliher, 2004). A goal for the region is to increase participation in higher education to create a more educated workforce (Chenowith & Galliher, 2004). Relative to Appalachia as a whole, Central Appalachia (where WVU is located) has more students in poverty and with disabilities, lower levels of educational attainment, fewer adults in the labor force (70% vs. 78% nationally), a lower median household income (\$42k/yr vs. \$53k/yr nationally) and higher unemployment rates than the rest of the US or other parts of Appalachia (Pollard & Jacobsen, 2014). Of those who do work, a lower percentage work in professions requiring a college degree (ARC, 2014). The student population in this region is, on average, poorer and less ethnically diverse than the rest of the country (Kannapel & Flory, 2017). And for the first time in 2017, the CDC reported declines in life expectancy among less-educated rural whites in impoverished and remote counties of Appalachia (Lichter & Ziliak, 2017).

Nelson (2019) found that rural youth graduate from four-year colleges at a similar rate to peers from other areas, despite being more likely to come from lower SES backgrounds. However, within West Virginia that does not hold true. In 2000, only 18% of the population in Appalachian regions of the country possessed a college degree, compared to 25% of the population in the non-Appalachian regions. Average high school completion in central

Appalachia is only 64% versus 80% for the United States as a whole (Shaw et al., 2004). While some progress has been made over the past 20 years, West Virginia's college attainment is still particularly low, with 19.6% of residents age 25+ having a bachelor's degree or higher. This trails all bordering states (Kentucky 23.3%, Maryland 38.8%, Ohio 26.8%, Pennsylvania 29.7%, Virginia 37%) and the national average of 30.6% (WV Forward Human Capital, 2021).

In comparison to the literature that addresses socioeconomic status or first-generation status, there is far less extant literature on retention and persistence factors within Appalachia. The present study seeks to fill to this gap. As a group, Appalachians have a strong sense of belonging to their family, belonging to their land, and a recognition of the history present in both family and land. While many college students experience identity struggles as they transition from home to the university environment, Appalachian students seem to experience this internal conflict more acutely (Chenowith & Galliher, 2004).

Appalachian culture is known for its strong sense of familial ties (Beaver, 1986; Jones, 2002; Keefe, 1998) and kinship ties (Bryant, 1981; Tang & Russ, 2007). These ties are traditionally valued as much or more than modernist values like educational attainment, upward mobility and economic gains (Howley et al., 1996; Bryan & Simmons, 2009; Wilson & Gore, 2009). Isolation created by the geographical terrain has traditionally resulted in limited inmigration and a strong reliance on family and community support systems, further strengthening the attachment and commitment to the region (Ali & Saunders, 2006; Elam, 2012). Students from cultures that prioritize strong family ties experience familial tethering, or a pull to remain connected to home which can have negative consequences on the student's ability to connect and succeed within higher education (Beasley, 2017). Wilson et al. (2018) examined the differences between social tethering and externalized tethering, where "externalized tethering" was defined

as the pressure from family to visit home and provide resources of time or money to the family. They found that Appalachian students experienced more externalized tethering compared to social tethering, and that externalized tethering was associated with a lower GPA – an association not observed in their research with social tethering (Wilson et al., 2018).

Appalachian students, women and students from large families were more likely to report pressure from their families to return home from college frequently, and subsequently, a weaker sense of connection to and more isolation from the university. This is important because one of the most influential variables often missing from college student retention prediction formulas is the concept of university connectedness (Wilson et al., 2018). This perception of connectedness, also known as "fit" within the university is part of a wider perception that the student is personally accepted, respected, included and supported by others within the environment (Bollen & Hoyle, 1990; Hausmann, et al., 2007; Hotchkiss, et al., 2006). Many studies have demonstrated a high level of university connectedness positively affects student persistence, academic attitudes, and academic success (Hausmann et al., 2007; Hotchkiss et al., 2006; Wilson & Gore, 2010, 2013).

Wilson and Gore (2010) demonstrated a positive relationship between Appalachian students' perceived university connectedness and GPA, a relationship they did not find among non-Appalachian students, suggesting that Appalachian students who feel integration in the campus community similar to that which they feel in their home communities are better able to navigate the university environment and achieve academic success. However, achieving this sense of connectedness may be more difficult for Appalachian students, who are more likely to report feeling strong ties with immediate and extended family members and experience a disconnect between their home culture and university culture. This may cause avoidance of

becoming too connected to the university (Bryan and Simmons 2009). This aligns with research that suggests incongruence between home culture and university culture can cause feelings of the university as an alien environment (Tinto, 1975, 1987, 2004).

Wilson et al. (2018) compared a group of Appalachian students with a group of Hispanic students, as both cultures value strong kinship ties. Students in both groups are likely to come from families suffering economically and may be called upon for resources of time or money during times of hardship (Bryan & Simmons, 2009; Sy and Brittian, 2008; Witkow et al., 2015). This can produce role conflict for these groups of students as they strain their ability to connect to and be successful within the university (Tinto, 2004; Triandis, 2005; Wilkinson-Lee et al, 2011).

Bradbury & Mather (2009) also observed first-generation Appalachian students and found their relationships with family and friends affected their ability to negotiate the academic environment, with most students in their case study having to juggle important yet often conflicting roles. Appalachian students' other responsibilities for producing for the family with time or resources limits the time they can spend on extra-curricular or co-curricular activities. This suggests the classroom experience of these students may be of particular importance to establish connections to the campus, as such opportunities for connecting outside the classroom may be limited (McHenry-Sorber & Swisher, 2020; Bradbury & Mather, 2009).

Another factor that can prohibit Appalachian students from academic and social integration is dialect. Appalachian dialects are heavily stigmatized in mainstream American culture (Dunstan & Jaeger, 2016). Interactions with peers and faculty are influenced by students' dialects on several levels. It plays a role in the type of classmates a student initially connects with, it influences how others perceive them, and it can be cause for increased attention for those

students with a more pronounced dialect. Students from rural Appalachia who speak nonstandardized varieties of English experience the effects of not being considered or respected equally by instructors or peers (Dunstan & Jaeger, 2016).

Hlinka (2017) studied perspectives of students at an Appalachian Kentucky community college and analyzed them through Tinto's (1975) integration theory enhanced with Kegan's cognitive development theory and Bourdieu's (1977; 1987) concepts of capital, habitus and field. The study examined what phenomena serve as barriers and sources of encouragement to get students from the point of entry to the point of transfer in pursuit of a four-year degree. Findings revealed three major factors affecting decision making processes about their persistence: a) community and family's values of education provide the essential push to attend and complete college; b) students are challenged with overcoming the pull of family obligations; c) students struggle to make the cognitive leap necessary to master college coursework. Failing to meet the psychological need of feeling valued and cared for (or what one student described as "we take care of our own" attitude) negatively impacted retention of first year rural Appalachian students (Hlinka, 2017).

#### THE NEED FOR INSTITUTION-LEVEL RESEARCH

A key takeaway from this qualitative study of Appalachian community college students is that current retention theories are too broad and need to be specified for characteristics of each college. The application of current theories has not resulted in appreciable gains in retention rates (Braxton, 2006; Tinto & Pusser, 2006; Kuh et al., 2006). Addressing obstacles unique to the demographics of a specific campus may further improve retention practices (Hlinka, 2017). Institutions who serve Appalachian students should invest resources to understand their specific needs. In an effort to improve retention, institutions are wise to develop strategies that effectively serve the students they have, not the students they wish they had. Institutions must understand

that their students are shaped by the region's culture and should customize retention practices and programs to meet those unique needs (Hlinka, 2017). There is a tendency to stereotype and ignore voices in rural Appalachia, signaling a need for further research on this population (Higbee et al., 2005). The present study seeks to fill a gap in rural Appalachian voices in the discourse surrounding higher education experience and persistence.

## **RELEVANT THEORIES: SOCIAL REPRODUCTION AND SPATIAL JUSTICE**

The preceding sections detailed the intersecting, overlapping and compounding challenges to retention presented by economic, geographical, and family factors demonstrating a robust picture of possible barriers and challenges for low-income, first-generation, rural students from West Virginia. It also detailed the importance of social integration in student retention. Current approaches to addressing this problem fail to recognize the unique factors that impact the target population. There is a need for more nuanced approaches to improving retention among this population.

The present study approaches research from sociocultural and critical lenses by understanding the realities constructed by the narrators and to share their reality as observed. This perspective shapes the study by highlighting the voices, stories and experiences of the group. The results of their stories may have implications for policymakers and leaders in higher education to change current practices or implement new initiatives to better support the retention and academic success of this population.

The next section describes two frameworks through which existing retention theories may be more purposefully applied to and relevant for the target population: Pierre Bourdieu's concepts of habitus, field and cultural/ social capital (classed); and the concept of spatial justice (spaced).

### SOCIAL REPRODUCTION: BOURDIEU'S HABITUS, CAPITAL & FIELD

Pierre Bourdieu's sociological contributions have been of great interest to many scholars and educators over the past 40 years. He argued that schools not only reproduce social inequality, but that they also provide legitimacy to existing class structure by equating class distinctions into "merit-based" distinctions based on academic achievement (Bourdieu, 1973). His three interconnected notions of "habitus," "field," and "capital" help explain both the role of educational institutions in the reproduction of social order and how to understand the way students experience education (Smith, 2020).

Bourdieu believed that outcomes are not objectively determined, nor are they the product of an individual's free will. Both the agency of individual actors (students) and the force of structure within society (norms, values, etc.) are at play. He called this constructivist structuralism and felt his work transcended multiple epistemological paradigms (Scambler, 2015). However, this notion has been criticized by other scholars who have described his work as inconsistent, overly broad, contradictory, or "overintellectualized" (King, 2000; Yang Yang, 2014; Schatzki, 1997; Shirley, 1986). Despite this, Bourdieu remains one of the most cited scholars in the social sciences, exceeding 43,500 Google Scholar citations per year since 2012 (Ollion, 2015). His theoretical work provides a vantage point to critically assess the college experiences and persistence of low-income, first-generation rural college students from West Virginia.

In Bourdieu's (1986) inquiry into French public schools' role in social class reproduction, he expanded the idea of social class beyond one's economic status. He coined the term "habitus" to describe a set of dispositions, reflexes and forms of behavior people acquire through acting in society. It represents a subjective lens through which a person or institution views the world that is shaped through the quantity and quality of one's possession of capital. The habitus reflects the

different positions people hold within a society and is part of how society produces itself. The concept posits that human action is better understood as being guided by social structures and socialization experiences that have been internalized over time (Bourdieu, 1971; 1990).

People who live similar lifestyles as a result of similar access to capital develop a shared worldview and inhibit a common habitus (Bourdieu, 1971). This is not to say that all members of a group hold the same exact views, but rather that group members hold common representation in class-specific manners at an unconscious level. This serves as a mechanism for individuals to classify themselves with others based on commonalities, as well as for marginalizing others who have access to different amounts or types of capital (Berger, 2000).

From this view, students succeed in college due to their ability to understand and correctly perform the knowledge that reflects the habits and culture of the elite classes who dominate the field (Bourdieu, 1999; Bourdieu & Passeron, 2000). Bourdieu posited that schools reflect the values of middle-class society, advantaging students who grow up in homes with similar values. When there is alignment of one's own values with that of a system or institution, it is easier for that individual to socially integrate, and therefore navigate and succeed, within that setting, or field.

Students from lower socioeconomic classes, or who have other lived experiences that do not align with what is valued within the university setting, may struggle with feelings of inadequacy as they try to fit in (Maton, 2008; Barratt, 2011; Ardoin, 2019). Educational institutions can treat poor and working-class students as outsiders who need to learn the manners, rules, and values that the middle and upper classes had already acquired at home prior to attending college. This can contribute to feelings of imposter syndrome that cause students to decide between the options of resistance, assimilation, or departure (Barratt, 2011). Institutions

ascribe value inequitably based on certain kinds of cultural behavior, thus contributing to the reproduction of existing patterns of societal inequality (Berger, 2000). When these phenomena (student feelings of inadequacy or institutional devaluation of certain groups of students) result in student departure, it contributes to the retention problem.

If the habitus represents the way society produces itself and creates shared worldviews among members of certain groups, the idea of "capital" represents the resources held by individual actors within the habitus and field. Bourdieu's (1977) theory of social reproduction describes various forms of capital, including cultural capital and social capital, that are relevant to the present study. Inequities among first-generation and continuing-generation students in regard to cultural and social capital are well documented (Berger, 2000; Padgett et al., 2012).

Measures of the amount of capital possessed by parents to invest in their children are found in the characteristics of one's social origin such as parental education, family income, and socioeconomic status. Although the ability of a student's family to provide financial support is important, the cultural and social capital contributions have also been found to be highly valuable (Padgett et al., 2012). The cost of higher education and its hierarchical nature often result in poor and working-class students being funneled into less selective institutions. This suggests that poor and working-class students do not have the same access to opportunities that build the kind of social and cultural capital valued by society as wealthier students do (Stich, 2012; McDonough, 1994; McDonough, 1997).

The notion of cultural capital refers to symbolic elements like skills, tastes, clothing, information, mannerisms, knowledge or credentials that one acquires through being a member of a particular social class. It is a collection of symbolic resources embodied in personal outlook, familiarity with high culture, and educational aspirations and credentials used to justify social

distinctions and privilege. This body of cultural knowledge distinguishes higher and lower social classes, as it is valued by members of the upper-class but is not taught in schools (Bourdieu, 1977, 1987; McDonough, 1997). Examples of cultural capital in a higher education setting could include obtaining a credential such as a degree or micro-certification that translates into economic/ career outcomes; knowing how to use chopsticks to eat sushi at a social event; having appropriate attire for interviews or other professional settings; or having international travel experience to draw upon in class discussions.

Typically, the determination of what constitutes cultural capital and its value is largely determined by those who already have a high amount of cultural capital (Bourdieu, 1979, 1984). Sometimes, knowledge taught in school contradicts working class knowledge (a form of cultural capital) that is more valuable to the students' everyday lives (McFadden, 1995; Riley, 1996). Schools promote global messages, which may be inconsistent with place-based realities, values and local knowledge. For students in families whose experience conflicts with educational ideology, success in school can mean giving in to dominant middle-class culture and rejecting the family (Corbett, 2007; Rueda, 2005).

Hinka (2017) found that incongruent priorities between the institution and its firstgeneration Appalachian students was a major hurdle to student success and retention. One faculty member interviewed for the study said, "Even though people in this region realize that 'education will open doors... it doesn't mean they know how to do education.' ... Parents often do not possess the cultural capital to understand the rules of the academic game well enough to help their children play, and win, at the game" (Hlinka, 2017). Some students arrive at college with an innate understanding of the rules of the game. Other students have no idea that a game is even being played. Castleman et al. (2015) found that the lack of cultural capital to understand

the innerworkings of the university system negatively affects even those first-generation students who are otherwise well prepared for college level work. The cultural capital that rural, low SES or first-generation students leverage does not equate with the cultural capital of colleges and universities (Ardoin, 2018).

Social capital refers to the one's group association or membership, which confers status on to the individual and provides the benefit of the group's collectively owned capital. It is the sum of the actual or potential resources linked to a network of institutionalized relationships (Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992). Examples of social capital in the higher education setting could include legacy admissions, obtaining membership in an esteemed group on campus such as an honors program, a football team, or Greek life, or being selected for a scholarship because you have a meaningful relationship with members of the selection committee.

Rudick et al. (2019) demonstrated how students identify and navigate the social structure of higher education and how, in doing so, they reproduce socializing norms. Higher education also functions as a site for accruing social and cultural capital in the interest of maintaining class hierarchies. Sharing similar forms of social capital with others is a way to create a collective identity, but it also creates social inequality because some forms of social capital are given more authority and higher value over others. This contributes to unequal access to social resources within the university setting based on group categories such as gender, class, and race. This is a helpful lens through which to consider Appalachian identity and the effects it may have on the target population of the present study and the way they are perceived by others within the higher education context.

This is not to say that low-income, first-generation rural Appalachian students have no social capital. In fact, research has shown that rural youth attribute their success to small town

community social capital and that rural students involved in their community are more likely to be exposed to the kind of social capital that leads to college access and success (Nelson, 2018; Beasley, 2017). However, their understanding of these social ties does not always translate to the university setting. Engle & Tinto (2008) found low-income and first-generation students were less likely to be engaged in the academic and social experiences that contribute to success while in college such as studying in groups, interacting with faculty and peers, participating in extracurricular activities, and utilizing resources and support services. Such students may not understand the myriad benefits such types of academic and social interaction can add to their development. They may be less likely to reach out for assistance, less likely to understand how to navigate postsecondary settings and more likely to feel isolated or disconnected, which can contribute to lower persistence (Chambers, 2020; McNamee, 2019; Soria & Stebleton, 2012).

Concepts of habitus and capital are considered within the "field," a specific competitive arena with their own rules of the game where actors can use their capital to enhance or protect their resources (DiMaggio, 1982). A university community is an example of a field. All fields contain people who dominate and people who are dominated. Constant relationships of inequality operate inside a given field, while simultaneously, actors within the field struggle for the transformation or preservation of the field. All individuals in the field bring to the table their own power (capital) which defines their position in the given field (Bourdieu, 1998 p. 40-41). A field's specific logic dictates how various kinds of capital can be used for competitive advantage.

Berger (2000) argues that if we are to understand undergraduate persistence from a social reproduction perspective, then we must account for what is happening at both the individual (capital) and organizational (habitus/ field) levels in the persistence process. The system of higher education was traditionally and arguably still is set up to sustain the broader constructs of

class stratifications. Even when higher education became accessible to more people, the expectation was that these students would assimilate to the beliefs and values of those already in college (Ardoin, 2019). Put another way, if students with relatively low capital were to enter a field built for the aristocracy, they would have to be held to the same standards as those longtime players on the field with relatively high capital. This expectation leads to the concept of "class straddling," where poor and working-class students find themselves living between two very different realms of class identity and having to learn to operate in each to be successful (Archer & Leathwood, 2003; Lubrano, 2004; Stuber, 2011). Class straddling is a compromise that allows students to remain loyal to their roots while also assimilating with the norms of the academy. It often comes at a high cost, resulting in the individual not feeling quite at home in either environment, while feeling ostracized by both (Ardoin, 2018). An ability to navigate persistent dissonance is does not constitute development or growth for marginalized groups. Rather, the experience of persistent dissonance represents the perpetuation of systemic oppression (Abes et al., 2019 p. 93).

It follows that much of the literature on class identity in higher education views poor and working-class students from a deficit model, where the student's lack of economic mobility is their own fault, and the onus lies on them to "catch up" with their middle- and upper-class peers during their college experience (Soria, 2015). When cultural and social capital are assessed by things like reading books, obtaining a degree, or integrating into normative structures, there is an implication that class inequality is merely the result of individuals who are unable or unwilling to take the necessary steps to become part of the dominant class (Vryonides, 2007; Foley & Edwards, 1999; Lamont & Lareau, 1988). The value poor and working-class students bring to the academy is comparatively underrated and disregarded (Ardoin, 2019).

Viewing poor and working-class students from a deficit model is problematic because of its excessive focus on the individuals and not the systems or power structures. Rudick et al. (2019) provide a strong argument for the use of Bourdieu's work to assess the impact of institutions such as higher education on its students:

Bourdieu's work points to the realization that conflict is not a byproduct of societal misalignment; rather, it is a central organizing principle of any society. Social and cultural capital are unevenly distributed—not due to individuals' failure to act rationally—but because what counts as capital shifts and morphs to protect the economic interests of elites... In short, Bourdieu's work stresses the need to identify social and cultural capital, not so it can be unreflexively mimicked or taken up, but as a way to intervene into and challenge those systems. (p. 441)

Bourdieu's concepts of habitus, field and capital give educational researchers the tools to think about disrupting the automatic reproduction of the social order. The possession (or lack thereof) of different forms of capital can be a significant factor in the ways that students experience higher education, a notoriously bureaucratized setting with rigid hierarchies of social class. The present study seeks to add to the current literature by examining the experiences of low-income, first-generation rural college students from West Virginia at their flagship, landgrant university through this lens.

## **SPATIAL JUSTICE**

If the concepts of habitus, capital and field demonstrate that educational institutions produce and reproduce social order, the concept of spatial justice adds a nuanced dimension to studies considering rurality as a relevant factor. The space in which one lives is not only a "container" or "holding cell," but is instead an active force that affects (negatively or positively) human life and behavior. From a critical spatial perspective, space is socially produced and can therefore be socially changed. Furthermore, this concept posits that the spatial reality shapes the social reality as much as the social reality shapes the spatial reality (Soja, 2009).

Spatial justice is an explicit emphasis on the fair and equitable distribution of socially valued resources and opportunities across spaces. It is not a substitute for other forms of justice (such as economic or social) but is instead a perspective that assumes there is always a relevant spatial dimension to justice. Biases imposed on certain groups because of their geographical location is a key part of spatial injustice, as is the creation of spatial structures of privilege and advantage through geographically uneven development and underdevelopment (Soja, 2009).

Various aspects of inequality can be thought of as organized within space. Space can be considered a foundation of US socioeconomic inequality. The capital resources one has access to through their living environment may determine or contribute to one's life chances and opportunities. Such inequality is sometimes due to intentional efforts to organize physical space into ways that maintain or reinforce a status quo (Galster & Sharkey, 2017; Israel & Frenkel, 2018; Lichter & Ziliak, 2017).

Galster & Sharkey (2017) use the phrase "spatial opportunity structure" to describe markets, institutions, services and other natural and human-made systems (such as labor, housing, financial markets, education, criminal justice, healthcare, transportation) that have a geographic connection and play important roles in people's socioeconomic status achievements. They argue that spatial opportunity not only influences the aspects of their life over which individuals may exercise little or no volition, but also by directly influencing the attributes over which individuals do exercise their own volition by shaping what the individual perceives (objectively and subjectively) is the most desirable or feasible option. These decisions can lead

individuals into a trajectory that affects their later SES and subsequent life decisions, the cumulative effects of which can stretch across generations. Finally, they argue that the spatial opportunity structure also indirectly impacts youth through the resources, behaviors and attitudes of their caregivers (Galster & Sharkey, 2017).

Both Galster & Sharkey (2017) and Israel & Frenkel (2018) discuss Bourdieu's theories in their work on spatial inequality as a means to explain the socio-spatial structures that influence or constrain an individual's choices and freedoms. Much like Bourdieu's theories argue that those who already have elevated status are able to more easily maintain that status, the spatial opportunity structure evolves over time in ways that further benefit those with the greatest achieved status, with upward mobility linked to spatial mobility (Galster & Sharkey, 2017; Lichter & Ziliak, 2017). One's social space and living environment are an expression of class stratification. That space can create barriers or act as a facilitator to enhance the ability of a person to realize their capability. Put another way, one's space is part of one's habitus, with some spaces being more highly valued than others.

However, the Galster & Sharkey article does not include the word "rural" even once, and Israel & Frenkel use the word once in passing, raising questions that there may be more to consider or explore regarding the spatial opportunity structure within rural areas from a Bourdieuian perspective. Their work, as well as Soja's, is urban-centric. Urbanormativity, or the assumption of the normality of urban lifestyles, is the result of living in a society where most people live in metropolitan areas. The US is an urban country with an urbanormative culture, which leads to cultural assumptions of the normalcy and superiority of life in cities and suburbs, and the subsequent abnormality or inferiority of the rural experience. Colleges and universities can further push these cultural assumptions by integrating the wider culture within the local

community and through the hidden curriculum (Fulkerson & Thomas, 2020). Lichter & Ziliak (2017) argue that rural America is increasingly viewed as being "left behind" in public policy and academic circles. When discussed, it is often primarily considered as a place for consumption for inhabitants of urban areas for commodities such as fuel, recreation, or retirement. They call for "a place for space" in the larger social science literature that emphasizes the need to identify, define and understanding changing spatial relationships and to embrace a spatially inclusive approach to contemporary social problems. This includes allowing for social constructivist perspectives, where inhabitants of spaces define themselves, rather than being defined by others such as academic or government entities.

Lichter & Ziliak (2017) provide five takeaways that should inform research and policy related to spatial inequality. First, acknowledgement that symbolic and social boundaries that have traditionally defined rural and urban America are changing rapidly within an increasingly global economy. Many individuals now experience both rural and urban worlds due to interconnectedness brought on by social media and the internet, and access to many of the same goods and services that urban people have access to (food and clothing, transportation, cell phones.) Second, it is time to rethink how we divide up America in spatial terms. There is a need to recognize that urban-centric approaches may miss or downplay the importance of factors that affect the health and wellbeing of rural Americans (an example might be applying educational policies and practices for urban areas to rural areas). Conversely, rural-centric approaches must acknowledge the growing ties to urban areas and their benefits.

Third, they argue for a reimagining of conventional classification systems to define rural and urban, as current practices have not kept pace with the rapidity of urbanization and globalism. This takeaway addresses the definition challenges and discrepancies often mentioned

in the rural-focused literature. Fourth, researchers must acknowledge that the current way the nation is administratively organized may contribute to the reinforcement or reproduction of outdated social boundaries of rural and urban in ways that make problem solving more difficult. Fifth, the most important takeaway is that spatial boundaries are highly fluid, and binary views of rural vs. urban groups as competing rather than complementary represent a conceptual roadblock to addressing spatial underdevelopment (Lichter & Ziliak, 2017).

There does not appear to be a clear answer to whether the possession of various forms of capital drive spatial organization, or whether one's spatial location leads to the acquisition or creation of capital (Israel & Frenkel, 2018). However, it is clear that the concepts of spatial inequality and urbanormativity align well with Bourdieu's theory of social reproduction in a university context, where the university is dominant and low-income, first-generation rural students are marginalized. This lens may help us understand the challenges faced by this group in West Virginia at their land-grant institution. Given the pervasiveness of urbanormativity in US society, it is worth questioning the university's role in advancing it and the impact it has on its students from rural backgrounds (Thomas & Fulkerson, 2020).

# **DOCUMENTED INTERVENTION STRATEGIES**

The preceding sections consider relevant student retention literature, examine factors that have been shown to impact the ability of institutions to retain students from the group in this study as compared to the average, and relevant theories that provide a helpful way of thinking about the additional challenges faced by low-income, first-generation rural students from West Virginia. The next section provides a very brief overview of some intervention strategies that have been shown to improve retention outcomes. This provides a base of knowledge to help inform the implications and further directions of the present study.

There are many well documented effective practices to support college students relevant to the present study. Kuh, et al, (2010) found that schools that Documented Effective Educational Practice (DEEP schools) shared two characteristics regardless of their size, funding structure, acceptance rate, or other differences: they had clearly articulated educational purposes and aspirations, and they had a coherent, well understood philosophy to guide "how we do things here" (p. 25). While DEEP practices manifest differently across a variety of institutions, commonalities included a high level of academic challenge, active and experiential learning, fostering opportunities for students to interact with faculty and a supportive campus environment (Kuh, et al., 2010). Interventions in line with these themes may be considered best practice.

Considering the group in the present study, there are a few documented interventions supported by the literature for this specific group. In particular, outreach to rural areas on the front end of a student's collegiate experience can support student retention (Heinisch, 2017). Institutions can support rural, first-generation students and families by providing information about the application process, what to expect in higher education, and by showing students what it is like to be enrolled at their institution through testimonials or virtual tours. Gathering knowledge about how college works in advance of actually attending college can help students make better informed decisions about their education during their time enrolled.

Given that rural students often have strong social ties to their home communities, and that sense of belonging is well linked to positive outcomes for college students, it is important to consider how institutions can facilitate the recreation of communal connections similar to those found in rural areas (Heinisch, 2017; Handke, 2012). Examples of community building interventions include student organizations, learning communities that incorporate academic expectations and support into a social setting, residential living learning communities, and peer-

mentoring programs. Building strong communal connections can minimize the incongruence some students experience between their rural social norms and college life.

### **CONCLUSIONS**

A robust body of literature addresses the paradigmatic experiences of college access, retention and persistence of students, going back well into the 1970s. In more recent decades, studies have begun to examine various populations previously omitted from these original works to further tease out nuances impacting low-income, first-generation, and rural students. More work remains to be done on the subject of rurality, and specifically among low-income, firstgeneration rural students from West Virginia, which the present study seeks to address.

A review of the literature demonstrates that many scholars bring in theories and frameworks from other disciplines to refine existing student development and retention theories and to shed light on student groups that are not well researched. While social reproduction theory is often mentioned in the student access and retention literature, spatial justice is a new addition that brings a more focused view to the work. It also produces a tension, because much spatial justice literature is urbanormative in nature, and some of the above documented challenges faced by rural students are the result of urbanormative practices and values being held in higher esteem than those from rural areas. The combination of social reproduction and spatial justice theories brings a new, focused view to the investigation of experiences of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginia students at the state's land-grant institution, how these experiences align with their expectations and the institutional land-grant narrative, and how these students perceive institutional actions as sources of support or barriers to success affecting their retention and persistence.

The present study crests the second wave of Abes et al.'s (2019) student development theory and literature by providing insight into a social identity omitted from current research. It also represents an optimistic march toward the third wave of critical theory, where the ultimate goal is to seek liberatory action. By amplifying voices of low-income, first generation, rural students from West Virginia, the present study will provide new insights for the second wave of understanding the group's social identity. However, it is not sufficient to simply describe students' experiences, but to also present a critique of higher education as a field that frames their development in the first place. This represents the third wave of student development theory by bringing explicit attention to structures of inequality and offering recommendations for action.

# CHAPTER 3

### **INTRODUCTION AND ARTICULATION OF RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

A considerable body of research demonstrates that first-generation college students face obstacles to college access, retention, persistence and completion. The challenges of understanding the innerworkings of the university system due to a relative lack of cultural capital negatively affect first-generation students who are otherwise well prepared for college level work. While this is a well-documented phenomenon, there has been considerably less research focused on students from West Virginia, and there is a need for qualitative studies to help researchers understand the meaning students ascribe to their college experience and rurality on a personal level (Wells et. al, 2019b).

In West Virginia, only 19.6% of residents over the age of 25 have a bachelor's degree or higher. This compares to 30.6% at the national level. Furthermore, only 55% of WV high school graduates enroll in college, compared to 70% at the national level (WV Forward, 2020). These

low educational attainment levels are contributing factors to poorer economic and health outcomes across the state.

As a land-grant institution, West Virginia University has a duty to serve and educate its population. The stated mission of the university includes advancing education, healthcare and prosperity for all by providing access and opportunity. This is an appropriate setting to address these research questions:

- Research Question 1: What are the experiences of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginia students at the state's land-grant institution?
- Research Question 2: How do the postsecondary experiences of low-income, firstgeneration college students from rural West Virginia align with their expectations and the institutional land grant narrative?
- Research Question 3: What institutional factors do, low-income, first-generation rural students perceive as sources of support or barriers to their success, affecting their retention and persistence?

### METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH AND METHODS

This study employs a critical approach to narrative inquiry. Narrative inquiry is a collaborative process that is reliant on the relationship between the narrator and researcher, and in which the finished product will be something newly and mutually constructed between the two (Connelly & Clandinin, 1990). The approach is rooted in critical theory as this work seeks to give power to the voices of participants marginalized by class and space. This study is also

rooted in a constructionist approach that focuses on linkages between individual narratives and the broader culture (Marshall & Case, 2010).

A mixture of supportive voice and interactive voice will be used to both push the narrators' stories into the limelight but to also reflect deeply on the researcher's own interactions with the narrators. Supportive voice focuses on the narrator by pushing their voice to the limelight, but allows the researcher to make decisions about how to transcribe the story, which parts to include in the final product, and how to organize and edit the story into a text (Chase, 2005). Supportive voice is used to construct Chapter 4.

The interactive voice represents a complex interaction between the researcher and narrator. The researcher examines their own voice, social position, interpretation and personal experiences through the refracted medium of the narrator's voice. There will be space in the analysis to examine the role of the researcher's own voice, social position, interpretation and personal experiences through the refracted medium of the narrators' voices (Chase, 2005). Chapter 5 includes a consideration of the results through the theoretical lenses of spatial justice (spaced) and forms of capital (classed), as well as a researcher reflection representative of the interactive voice.

Narrative work was purposefully selected as the methodology for this study for its usefulness in understanding human life. A commitment to narrative work means a commitment to the alignment of the researcher's theoretical assumptions and methodology. The present study takes a narrative constructionist approach, meaning a sociocultural orientation is assumed. This approach designates the researched as meaning-makers who use narrative as a tool to "interpret, direct and communicate life, and to configure and constitute their experience and their sense of who they are" (Smith, 2016 p. 204). This contrasts with the narrative constructivist perspective,

which assumes an individualistic approach that considers a narrative is a "thing" people "have" as a structure or process inside their minds (Smith, 2016). The constructionist approach is more suitable for the present study as it seeks to situate the experiences of the researched among the wider body of student retention literature and uncover nuances and differences specific to this population at their state land-grant institution.

Furthermore, the critical lens through which the researcher approaches narrative is aligned with the study's theoretical and methodological commitments. Magalhaes and Veiga (2015) describe the narrative approach as one that emphasizes the power of discourses to transform social and political structures and processes (p. 312). Likewise, the present study assumes that narrative can be a tool to explore potential inequities and discrepancies between a marginalized student population and the institution they attend. Critical narrative is the appropriate tool to explore the factors that influence the ways people make meaning of their experiences (Fook & Gardner, 2007; Hickson, 2016).

This approach is suitable for investigating how low-income, first-generation rural students from West Virginia perceive how WVU supports or impedes success, and how their experiences align with institutional narratives. This approach assumes humans are innately storytelling creatures and that opportunities to discover new insights are bountiful when one believes there is value in the experiences of everyday people (Labov & Waletsky, 1968). It is also suitable because narratives are a way for individuals to construct their identities and consider their positionality in the world. Only by understanding and magnifying the narratives of marginalized groups can scholars use research to provide a strong rebuttal of dominant discourses that perpetuate inequities. The use of narrative is practical because these stories can help researchers and practitioners make decisions or inspire change.

Narrative analysis is a good match for researching the experiences of low-income, firstgeneration rural college students from West Virginia. Stories are a way to make sense of, organize, revise and explain our best, present and possible futures. Interpretations change and flux through time. One of the most powerful things about the college experience is its ability to change and develop its students. Narrative inquiry allows the researcher to assess, reassess and theorize these developments and experiences and what they mean than through the stories of those living them. The addition of the "critical" is explicit to distinguish this work from simply telling stories by making clear that the study seeks to describe culture, language and participation as issues of power in need of critique with the intent of alternation in the direction of social justice (Iannacci, 2007). Furthermore, the use of narrative aligns well with the working definition of rural in this study: rurality is defined by participants self-identifying as rural. Manly et al. (2019) argue that inconsistent definitions of rural mean there is likely to be confusion in the literature at best, and incorrect conclusions or recommendations for rural students at worst. Allowing students to self-identify as rural in a study that seeks to highlight voices and personal experiences makes sense and allows us to think outside of governmental definitions which may be inconsistent or unreliable.

# **ROLE OF THE RESEARCHER/POSITIONALITY STATEMENT:**

Connelly and Clandinin (1990) are considered leaders in the field of narrative inquiry. They stress that the concept of "Multiple I's," or "plurivocality" is of major importance in this methodology. This is the ability to separate and understand the researcher's various identities in relation to the research. I as researcher, I as graduate student, I as woman, I as Appalachian, I as student advocate, I as administrator, I as critic. All are distinct yet potentially overlapping or conflicting components of identity. Throughout the research process, which "I" is dominant, and

at what times, and for what purposes? This methodology requires the researcher to be explicit in acknowledging the influences on the researcher and on the research (Hickson, 2016; Iannacci, 2007).

Different aspects of the researcher's educational background have inspired the present study. Undergraduate studies in journalism pulled the researcher to the use of narrative from a critical lens. Journalism's ability to tell an untold story has often played a role in the march toward social justice. Research is another vehicle through which to tell stories. Chase (2005) warns of the need to adapt a story for the intended audience, cautioning that if the audience is powerful and invested in an oppressive status quo, the onus is on researchers to adjust our work to get the audience ready to hear the story, or at least, be jolted into listening to it.

The researcher's experiences in marketing have provided a heightened awareness of the psychological manipulation often present in dominant discourses. There is always a reason a message is crafted in a certain way. This background has provided a deep understanding of the importance of personalization in creating messages that resonate with specific groups, which helps the researcher reflect on the ways a message may be for some people, but not for others. This is the same skillset used when considering an institution's mission statement and critically examining how it succeeds or fails at aligning with the realities of various constituencies with varying levels of power or privilege.

The researcher is most deeply related to this work through personal and professional experiences.

I was a non-first-generation student from West Virginia who grew up in Morgantown, home of West Virginia University. When I graduated, I got a job at WVU and was blown away by an entirely new perspective on how colleges operate. I have spent a great deal of

time over the years considering and reflecting on my privileges and disadvantages as a student. I had the privilege of growing up in a household where I was always told I could go to college. I was encouraged to take advanced classes and my parents reinforced the importance of academic success. I am forever grateful for that push of motivation and encouragement, which combined with other intersections of advantage that helped me arrive at and persist in college. However, I am now able to reflect on some of the ways in which I had relative disadvantages. As one of the first in my family to attend college, I had absolutely no idea how college worked. I knew how schooling worked, and I aced my classes. But I had no idea how to get involved, how to network with faculty, how to push myself to explore new things and open new doors of opportunity for myself. I now spend a great deal of my professional life explaining to students how to do just this, and it has influenced my desire to study and work in higher education. I had no idea many of my classmates were not holding down a job while I was holding two or three. I had no idea that many of my classmates were not paying their own rent, bills, and groceries, allowing them more time to get ahead. I had no idea many students with lower math scores than me were in majors like engineering and business, which I shied away from because I felt my skills were inadequate and I would fail - which was not an option for me. I would not know about this until much later in life. I am uniquely positioned in my current role to help students see their potential and help guide them as best I can to successfully navigate college life. The final component of my positionality that must be addressed in relation to this study: my place-based Appalachian identity. My perspective on the importance of place and space as it relates to West Virginians accessing and succeeding at the state's land grant institution is unique, as the physical space of the

58

university and the physical space of my Appalachian identity are one and the same. Holding these various positions situates me staunchly in the critical camp. I see inequities all the time; my work life where I see the institutional decision-making; in reflections of my own personal experience; in my understanding of how marketing and communications are used to further institutional goals. My positions also reflect a constructionist epistemology, where meanings are socially and culturally constructed and come into existence through engagement with realities in the world (Crotty, 1998). All of this inspires me to improve success for first-generation students from West Virginia.

Tieken (2016) documents that rural students may experience tension to either remain in their rural communities or leave for college. The move can be both a literal physical distance and a symbolic cultural distance. The researcher has spent much time contemplating the idea of this tension by considering serendipitously being born and raised near the state's land grant institution. Attending a major university has not only never been at odds with leaving home, but also there is literal alignment in physical space of family and university. In the mid 18<sup>th</sup> century, the researcher's great-great-great grandfather, an Irish immigrant named Edward Ryan, made a home and farm upon land now owned by WVU's forestry program. The family gravesite remains nestled in the university forest, and the researcher grew up surrounded by a large extended family a few short miles from that original settlement. The researcher did not leave her hometown until 10 years post-college because of the uncommon opportunity to find meaningful and well-paying employment at that same institution. While the physical distance did not present any issues, the cultural distance was at times quite noticeable, making aspects of the present study of great personal interest to the researcher. Employing a critical narrative methodology requires a deep interest in exploring the relationships between the life experiences of the

researched and the researcher, as well as the theoretical underpinnings of the scholarship (Iannacci, 2007 p. 56).

# **RESEARCH SITE**

This study explores the narratives of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginian students at their land-grant institution to understand their experiences and examine the ways in which the land-grant mission is manifesting (or not) in the lived realities of the students. West Virginia University was selected as the research site to uncover the interaction between the research participants and the land-grant concept. While every state has a land-grant (and some have more thanks to subsequent federal legislation beyond the initial Morrill Act) and has at least some rural population, West Virginia University provides an opportunity to explore this interaction within the context of West Virginia's highly rural population (outlined in the literature review) and a school that is highly vocal in its dedication to the land-grant mission.

West Virginia University is a public, land-grant institution founded in 1867. The flagship Morgantown campus is ranked R1 by the Carnegie classification system, with \$195M in research funding for the fiscal year ending in 2020. Nationally renowned athletic teams compete in a Power Five conference. Morgantown is the third largest city in West Virginia with a population just shy of 31,000 without the WVU student population. The town has been named the "No. 1 Small City in America," a "Best Sports City," and a "Best College Town for Jobs." The Morgantown campus student population is 52% West Virginia residents. The remaining 48% come from all 50 US states, Washington DC, and 110 different nations. The 2020 incoming freshmen class had an average high school GPA of 3.6/ 4.0, an average ACT of 24 and an average SAT of 1141, although WVU does not require test scores for admission. The school awards more than \$113M in scholarships annually, with an average award amount of over

\$13,000. This helps offset the cost of tuition, which is more than \$9,000/ year for West Virginia residents and \$26,000/ year for non-residents (WVU Facts, 2021).

As of the first day of the fall 2021 semester, total enrollment on the flagship Morgantown campus was 25,534, with 4,449 students identifying as first-generation. Of those, 2,272 were West Virginia residents, and 2,002 were non-West Virginia residents. Of the 2,272 West Virginia resident first-generation students, 20.7% of them were first-time, full-time freshmen. A breakdown of race and ethnicity show that 1,881 are white non-Hispanic (82.8%), 134 are two or more races (5.9%), 84 are Black (3.7%), 81 are Hispanic (3.6%), 70 are Asian (3.1%), 16 are of unknown race (0.7%), 4 are American Indian or Alaskan Native (0.1%), and 2 are Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander. They are enrolled in every college or school on the Morgantown campus. The top represented colleges are Arts and Sciences (n= 662), Business and Economics (n=276), and Engineering Mineral Resources (n= 241). They are 58.46% female and 41.54% male (WVU internal document).

WVU's mission statement begins with its self-identification to its land-grant mission: "As a land-grant institution, the faculty, staff and students at West Virginia University commit to creating a diverse and inclusive culture that advances education, healthcare and prosperity for all by providing access and opportunity; by advancing high-impact research; and by leading transformation in West Virginia and the world through local, state and global engagement" (WVU Mission, 2021). Furthermore, WVU is home to the Center for the Future of Land-Grant Education, the only higher education research center in the country focused exclusively on landgrant institutions, policies, access, success, leadership and engagement. The Center advances knowledge in student access, retention and success, and land-grant institutional effectiveness

(About the Center, 2021). The existence of this Center and its dedicated faculty have inspired the present study.

WVU is also part of a nationwide societal context that makes solving problems of retention and persistence is a priority for higher education. While many scholars and practitioners seek solutions, there is a dearth of research on rural students, and even less such research focused within West Virginia. Much first-generation student work does not focus on rural populations. WVU is a land-grant institution with a duty to serve the needs of state residents, but first-generation, rural, low-income West Virginians are not well understood compared to other groups. Additionally, individuals in leadership roles at WVU may not be sensitive to or innately familiar with some of these challenges or may only be familiar with the challenges in an academic sense. They do not come from these (Appalachian, first-generation) backgrounds, may have little contact with people from these backgrounds, and have an insufficient understanding of the realities, experiences or values of people from these backgrounds that may impact the institution's ability to understand at meet the needs and unique challenges of this population.

# **STUDY DESIGN - PARTICIPANTS**

The researcher solicited undergraduate participants through campus email's Survey Tuesday email campaign to all active students on the Morgantown campus. Students were invited to complete a brief survey to identify whether or not they met the criteria for study participation. It was advertised that each selected study participant would receive a \$50 gift card for their full participation in the study. The researcher self-funded these gift cards from the tuition savings from receiving an academic scholarship for the 2018-2019 academic year.

A total of 373 students responded to the survey, with a total of 88 students selfidentifying as low-income, first-generation, and rural. This was far greater than the number of respondents needed for the study, so the researcher narrowed down the list by including only respondents native to West Virginia, considering their self-reported race/ ethnicity, gender, and major of study, and investigating more details on the population and distance of their hometowns as a measure of rurality. Attention was also given to the geographic location of each respondent to have a variety of locations throughout the state represented in the study. A total of eight students were selected, and seven of the eight completed the study.

Interviews were conducted with seven college students from West Virginia who selfidentified as low-income, first-generation and rural. This sample size sought was seven to 10 participants, which is an appropriate necessary design choice because conducting narrative interviews yields a large amount of qualitative data. This number of participants was sufficient for rich data analysis. However, there is no major consensus on what constitutes a sufficient number of participants in narrative inquiry. Two guiding questions allowed the researcher to determine the necessary quantity of data amassed: "Is there sufficient information to answer my research questions?" and "Is the additional data I'm gathering redundant, meaning I have reached a saturation point?"

Questions on the survey began with contact information, academic rank, and the name of the student's hometown and state. Next, survey respondents were asked if the students selfidentified as a first-generation college student and included the definition as "neither parent or guardian has completed a four-year degree." Then, students were asked if they self-identified as low-income or as rural. The rurality question specified that "self-identifying means you get to

decide whether or not being 'rural' is part of your identity." The survey concluded with questions about race, ethnicity and gender identity.

While conformity on some attributes is necessary for the purposes of the study (residency, first generation status, enrolled at WVU), the researcher sought to incorporate diversity in regard to gender, race, major of study, city/town of origin, college GPA and socioeconomic status. The researcher's access to student data allowed for this kind of diversity to be handpicked for the study, provided the survey respondents represented these various traits. Selecting for diversity of major and GPA posed a challenge, as the qualified respondents disproportionately had strong GPAs and engineering majors were overrepresented in the results (50% of the 8 invited to participate were enrolled in various majors within the engineering school). However, the other desired measures of diversity were met via the respondent pool.

One of the benefits of using narrative analysis is that it allows the researcher to see both individualism among the participants and connections across the participants. While some categories will unite all participants together, there are potentially important differences in these categories that can mediate, exacerbate or minimize the effects of first-generation or rural status. For example, a lower income black female student from Morgantown, where the University is geographically located, may have a very different experience from a middle-income white male student from Boone county, three hours southwest of the University. And yet, there may be parallels in their storylines of which university administrators, faculty and student support services staff should be cognizant.

### **DATA COLLECTION**

The researcher collected qualitative data via interview transcripts and audio recordings of the interviews. The researcher was initially open to a possible second round of interviews or to

conduct a focus-group with participants. However, the data collected in the initial individual semi-structured narrative interviews was sufficient to begin to elucidate the research questions. In narrative analysis, the narrative itself often drives or repositions the questions, which opens up ample ideas for future research opportunities.

The interview protocol (see Appendix A) posed seven primary questions and subsequent probing questions to answer the research questions. RQ1 asked about the participants' experiences at the state land-grant institution. As previously mentioned, this group is widely omitted from current literature, and this is one way the study fills a gap. As such, three of the seven questions sought to elucidate the college experiences of low-income, first-generation, rural West Virginia students (IQ2). These questions asked about the students' pre-college preparation and choice to attend WVU (IQ1). They also asked about the participants' feelings and opened an opportunity for participants to share about relevant experiences not explicitly covered by the RQs (IQ7).

RQ2 sought to understand how those experiences align with both the students' expectations (IQ3), and with the stated mission of the land-grant (IQ6). RQ3 was an effort to uncover the students' perceptions of institutional supports and barriers to success. The related IQs (IQ4 and IQ5) sought to uncover ways the students have felt supported or challenged, and in what ways they feel the institution could have supported them better or differently. A probe of IQ4 also asked how these factors have impacted the student's desire to leave or stay at WVU.

Not only were the interview questions designed to elicit credible data to answer the research questions, but the methodology employed is also designed specifically with these research questions in mind. The theoretical commitments required of the correct use of narrative methodology described above, combined with the purposefully designed interview questions to

link to the research questions, demonstrate a robust alignment between the why (theory) and the how (methodology) of answering these research questions in this particular way.

Data collection occurred during the spring 2022 semester (January-May). This was an attempt to ensure that all participants had completed at least 1 semester of collegiate coursework and had sufficient experiences to reflect upon their transition to college and evaluate their experience/ performance.

The researcher remained opened to change, because in narrative inquiry the narrator, not the researcher, is in the driver's seat. While the researcher determines the topic to examine and asks questions poised delve into the topic, ultimately the experiences and stories of the narrator study participants can shift the direction of the research results. The researcher must be open to exploring new questions that arise based on their experiences and stories that are relevant to their relationship to the institution and their success as students. Data gathered from the narrative interviews can lead to new questions arising in real time, and the researcher must be adaptable to move forward in a way that makes the most sense to keep the conversation flowing.

In a pilot study for a qualitative methodology course, the researcher interviewed C, a first-generation college student from West Virginia who went on to persist and graduate at the top of her class at WVU and later went on to earn a master's degree. This provided insight to determine the interview questions (Appendix A) to be used in the semi-structured narrative interviews of the present study. Specifically, the questions focus on the temporal nature of a student's experience in hopes of creating a more well-defined storyline that does not require as much of the researcher's own interpretation. Additionally, the questions purposefully ask the participants to express their feelings at certain points in time, not just what they experienced at a

given time, and also inquire about the roles of others in their story, including heroes, antagonists, and supporting characters.

In addition to interviewing, another form of data produced is a researcher reflection. The concept of reflexivity is a foundational aspect of critical narrative inquiry, and requires the researcher to be self-aware of how actions, perceptions and responses are interpreted (Hickson, 2016). The use of reflection allowed the researcher to make sense of the various components of her self-identity present throughout the journey of this dissertation project and provide a source of interactive voice to the study (Chase, 2005; Connolly & Clandinin, 1990). Chase (2005) describes the "interactive voice" as a strategy that displays the complex interaction between researchers' and narrators' voices. The researchers examine their own voices and positionality through the refracted medium of narrators' voices. An intentional space for reflexivity and self-understanding is required for narrative researchers if they are to understand their own interpretation of narrators' stories, and consider how readers will eventually interpret the research.

Reflexivity is a connective thread between critical reflection and narrative inquiry (Hickson, 2016). In a critical narrative approach, critical reflection should be used by the researcher to acknowledge their own values from which they are operating and appreciating the influences of their own background, assumptions and expectations for outcomes, as well as their own role and influence in the research. Furthermore, the researcher must be open to new understandings and new viewpoints based on the narratives of the researched (Fook and Gardner, 2007; Hickson, 2016).

The instrument was a semi-structured narrative interviews of 6-10 questions, lasting approximately 45-75 minutes. The study took place on WVU's campus (face to face or virtually)

at the location and modality preferred by the student. In line with narrative work, either the narrators should dictate the where and when of the data collection, or it should be co-decided. This ensured student comfort and expectations of privacy, and also decreased the inherent power dynamic between researcher and participant. Meeting in the researcher's office was avoided as it could be intimidating, and the traditional office desk setting creates a physical barrier and power differential. The interviews were be conducted in a neutral, public setting (face to face) or virtual setting at a level of privacy that the student preferred. Narrator participant comfort was of the utmost importance to the success of the study, as narrative inquiry relies heavily on the ability of the researcher to establish trust with the narrator. Discomfort or apprehension would have affected the quality of the data collection.

#### **DATA ANALYSIS**

The semi-structured interviews were recorded on a computer via Zoom and then transcribed using YouTube. The researcher read and listened to the transcripts multiple times to make corrections to the seven transcripts as needed. This was an extensive process as free transcript software lacks accuracy, and some of the participants' (and on occasion even the researcher's) accents and colloquialisms were not appropriately captured by the software.

First, multiple readings of the interview text were used to inductively determine codeds for qualitative data analysis. Narrative interview data was analyzed in two ways. The first, found in Chapter 4, is a thematic narrative analysis (Smith, 2016). This includes an analysis of what topically and thematically surfaced in the realm of each story's content. This highlights what is important to emphasize in the findings and ensures that the researcher is meeting her commitment to the supportive voice that puts the narrator in the limelight as an expert on their own experience (Chase, 2005). The result of these initial findings led to eight main themes:

perceived resources/ supports, perceived barriers, rurality, self-perception, academics, parents, land-grant concept, and COVID. A full list of the thematic codes and sub-codes, which were

implemented using NVIVO software are as follows:

- Resources/ Perceived Supports (RQ3)
  - Perceived lack of
  - Use of WVU resources
  - o Key players/ influencers in their journey
  - Pre-college resources
  - Involvement on campus
  - o Finances
- Perceived Barriers (RQ3)
  - o Finances
  - First-Generation Status
- Rurality (RQ1, RQ2)
  - Distance to resources
  - Thoughts on rurality
- Self-Perception (RQ1)
  - o Perceived Luck
  - Fear/ Worry/ Doubt
  - o Believing in self
  - Resilience
- Academics (RQ1, RQ3)
  - Preparation

- Difficulty of college work
- Major choice
- Parents (RQ1)
  - First Gen
  - Parents' experiences
- Land-Grant Concept (RQ2)
- COVID (RQ1, RQ3)

The second analytical approach comes from Mishler's (1995) consideration of the function of contexts and consequences of narrative. One of these contexts and considerations includes politics. The researcher will code the data based on the ways notions of power, conflict and resistance come to light. These findings will elucidate the way that the theoretical lenses of social/cultural capital and spatial justice play out in the narrators' experiences.

Furthermore, the researcher will provide one additional analytic approach that is representative of Chase's (2005) interactive voice to provide an opportunity to reflect deeply on the researcher's own interactions with the narrators and examine the role of their own voice, social position, interpretation and personal experiences. This analysis will provide the opportunity to reconcile and address the various lenses through which the researcher conducts the first two analyses (Connolly & Clandinin, 1990). These lenses of self-identity include: researcher, West Virginian, student support provider and graduate student. By adding this as the fourth form of analysis, the researcher has provided a separate space to specifically address their personal opinions and various perspectives without clouding the narrator's story with her own input, and also gives space for another West Virginian to participate in the academic discourse. By providing analysis on four fronts: the themes of the narrators' stories, the examination of those themes and stories through the lenses of social/ cultural capital and spatial justice, and the researcher reflection, the researcher will be able to meet the commitments of supportive and interactive voice (Chase, 2005).

#### **TRUSTWORTHINESS AND CREDIBILITY**

There is significant disagreement and discussion over what constitutes validity in narrative research and critical narrative research, due to concerns over whether evaluative concepts from other fields are relevant for education research. Furthermore, the theoretical viewpoint of this methodology rejects the idea of universal truths. The main point of consensus among scholars is simply that "inquirers need to demonstrate that their studies are credible" (Jannacci, 2007). Despite these limitations, there are practices that can increase trustworthiness.

The emphasis on "reflexivity" in this study is supported by previous scholarship on the credibility of narrative inquiry (Mishler, 1990; Simco & Warin, 1997). In a social constructionist framework, the quality and credibility of qualitative research is partially dependent upon the researcher's ability to think reflexively about the data collected and to create new data as they engage with the collected material. Through the practice of reflexivity, researchers can reveal how their personal understandings and theoretical commitments shape their inquiry. Iannacci (2007) believes that it is important to continually locate, name, examine and reflect upon biases and beliefs throughout the research to remind the reader that the researcher is present within the narratives they are constructing and theory choices they are making" (p. 68).

Another practice that can increase trustworthiness focusing on the quality of interpretations made by the researcher and the consistency with which they are recorded (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Iannacci, 2007). Consistency in the frequency of data recording

must be an explicit and purposeful goal in order to give the data sufficient time to come together and shape the story. Furthermore, the idea of "thick and rich" description has also been purported by some scholars to enhance the credibility of the data (Creswell & Miller, 2000).

Yet another practice to increase the credibility and trustworthiness of the study is member checking. This is particularly useful for data collected via interview, as it provides an opportunity for the participant to confirm, clarify or correct the data collected by the researcher. It helps the participant see how the data is to be used to further the research mission. This practice also gives the participant another opportunity to share additional information that could be helpful in shaping the research.

A final practice to bolster credibility and trustworthiness is to critically examine all trustworthiness practices and explicitly describing where they fall short, a concept Iannacci (2007) describes as "criteria consciousness and candor" and Clandinin and Connelly (1990) describe as "researcher wakefulness."

# **CHAPTER IV**

This qualitative study investigates the college experiences of low-income, first-generation rural (LIFGR) college students from West Virginia. The three research questions are:

- RQ1: What are the experiences of LIFGRWV students at the state's land grant institution?
- RQ2: How do the postsecondary experiences of LIFGRWV students align with their expectations and the institutional land-grant narrative?
- RQ3: What institutional factors do LIFGRWV students perceive as sources of support or barriers to their success, affecting their retention and persistence?

Participants were solicited through campus email. Respondents completed a brief survey to determine if they met the target audience, including hometown and state, identifying as a firstgeneration college student, identifying as being a low-income student and identifying as rural. The following chapter introduces each narrator. Then, each research question is answered through the lens of Chase's (2005) supportive voice, where narrators are responsible for coconstructing the research and the researcher's job is to allow for representation of the narrator participants' experiences as observed.

## **NARRATOR PARTICIPANTS1**

Embry is a second semester first-year student who hails from the small community of Salt Rock (population ~166) in Cabell County in the southwestern part of the state and has dreams of working for NASA. Salt Rock is approximately three hours from WVU. Embry is conscious of the classed and spaced juxtaposition of being from a rural community that neighbors one of the more populous cities in the state. Her consolidated high school had an "absolutely insane" engineering program and she was part of a graduating class of approximately 425 students. Embry is an only child who grew up with both of her parents and a large extended family nearby. She is incredibly close with her mother.

She describes falling in love with STEM thanks to influential middle school and high school teachers who provided rewarding experiential learning opportunities. Academic success came easy to her in high school, and she chose to pursue a dual degree in aerospace and mechanical engineering. She even secured a competitive internship at the Green Bank Observatory prior to the start of her freshman year. She considered a prestigious out of state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To maintain student confidentiality, pseudonyms are used throughout the study.

school, but ultimately decided to choose the in-state option that offered her dream majors due to a confrontational interaction she had with a non-West Virginia friend she met through STEM programming. This person questioned and belittled WVU and her choice to attend.

Embry's college experience got off to a rocky start. Within the first week of her first semester, she called the admissions office at WVU's smaller regional campus closer to her hometown in an effort to transfer. She ultimately decided to stay in Morgantown, but her first semester was full of challenges due to mental health struggles and roommate conflicts. She extensively utilized campus mental health resources and ended her first semester on academic probation. At the time of the interview, Embry expressed she had made significant academic and personal progress since that time. She feels gratitude for access to WVU resources, which made a positive impact on her decision to stay enrolled.

**Mason** is a second semester first-year student from Point Pleasant (approximate population 4146) in the Midwestern part of the state and about 2.75 hours from WVU. Mason described himself as shy and nervous about his transition to WVU, but having two older siblings currently enrolled at WVU helped ease the nerves. He repeatedly described his hometown as a "nice, close-knit" place to grow up, but recalled that there was not much there in terms of opportunities or things to do. He also commented on the lack of diversity in his hometown, which was particularly salient to him as a Hispanic identifying individual.

Mason knew from a young age that he wanted to attend college, encouraged by both of his parents who had each attempted but not finished college. He took as many courses as possible to prepare. However, by his senior year there were only two required courses left for him to take due to a lack of advanced coursework offered at his high school. His school was attached to a career center that offered engineering courses he could take as electives. He

enjoyed those courses and the supportive instructors who taught them, and felt this experience helped prepare him for a college major in engineering. He adjusted well academically, which he credits in part to his fellow engineering majors in his residence hall. He made President's list<sup>2</sup> after his first semester.

**Marla** is a second-semester freshman from Pocahontas County (approximate countywide population 8382) in the southeastern part of West Virginia, about 3.5 hours from WVU. Although her mailing address reflects the name of the county seat, she grew up in a rural area about 35 minutes from the town in one direction and 30 minutes from her high school in another direction. She graduated with about 68 students and was valedictorian of her class. She described her hometown as very "county focused", constantly supporting local business, agriculture, and the dreams of its students regardless of whether they went to college, the workforce, the military, or another path.

Marla grew up with both parents, who she describes as hardworking and very intelligent but did not have the resources to pursue college. She began thinking about college in the fifth grade when she had the opportunity to shadow her father's friend who was an engineer. In high school, she fell in love with STEM and solidified her thoughts on attending college. Due to the small size of her high school, she became very close with her math teachers – almost like friends. The teachers were very supportive and encouraged her to consider a career in engineering that might bring her back to the county one day.

Marla has had a relatively smooth transition to college life. She cited two main factors for this. First, the close-knit network of friends from her high school that has provided stability, support, and transportation back home. Second, her total time commitment toward school related

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The President's List includes students who earned 4.0 GPAs during a given term.

activities is less in college than it was in high school. Specifically, she likes that she no longer has to include hour-long commutes each day, as was the norm to get to her high school or to get to the local library for internet access during the COVID-19 pandemic. She has performed well academically overall, but does have to retake one course due to illness.

**Faith** is a second-semester sophomore studying public health from Ravenswood, WV (approximate population 3716), 2.25 hours from Morgantown. She grew up there with her grandparents and older brother, who also attends college at a different West Virginia institution. Faith said college "was always in the books for me" and her grandmother was an important force supporting the importance of education. Faith's father was not part of her life growing up, and her mother had to relinquish custody of her and her brother due to addiction when Faith was in middle school.

As a student of color, Faith is critical of both her hometown and, to a lesser extent, of WVU for their lack of diversity. In her graduating class of 100 students, she was often the only nonwhite student in the room and she feels that the bond she shares with her brother is particularly strong due to the unique experience they had navigating predominantly white spaces.

Faith shared about several challenges she has faced and overcome during her time at WVU. Her first-generation and low-income status is particularly salient to her. She also had to overcome a generational gap, working with her grandmother through the college admissions process. She experienced feelings of isolation due to COVID-19 protocols her freshman year which limited her opportunities to meet new people, and disappointment due to inadmissibility to her top major choice, nursing. Despite these many challenges, Faith describes feeling "very, completely happy" with where her life is at the time of the interview, signifying achievement and resilience.

76

**Grant** is a second semester freshman from Calhoun County, a particularly rural central West Virginia county with a total population of approximately 7185 about two hours away from WVU. He graduated from a combined middle and high school with about 60 students. His older sister is a college graduate and now works as a teacher in Calhoun county. He is studying exercise physiology and has dreams of attending medical school at WVU. He was inspired to become a doctor from TV shows in his youth.

Grant described significant feelings of nervousness and anxiety as he prepared for college and throughout his first year thus far. He recalls many older students trying to succeed at WVU and failing out. He is a vocal critic of the lack of qualified teachers in his hometown, and felt that he was in no way prepared for college level work based on the rigor of his high school. However, he took nearly 55 credits of dual enrollment college courses, which have played a role in helping him succeed at WVU. Despite significant fears and perceived difficulty adjusting to the pace of college work, Grant finished his first semester on the President's List.

Grant attributes his success to his work ethic, the support of his family and sister, and resources such as HSTA (Health Sciences Technology Association) and a medical school coaching program offered by WVU. Through these support systems and utilizing social media platforms such as TikTok, he has been able to learn from the successes and failures of those before him to forge his own path toward his dreams.

Adeline is a second semester sophomore from Birch River, WV (approximate population 136) in Nicholas County in the central part of the state about 1.75 hours from WVU. She is enrolled in an accelerated 3+3 program with a major in political science and plans to attend law school. She describes growing up in an extremely rural setting with her father and younger brother. She is very close with her father and does not have much contact with her biological

mother. Her father remarried, bringing two much older stepsisters who had successfully completed college in to Adeline's life when she was about 10 years old.

Adeline attended a small private Accelerated Christian Education school with a total student body of approximately 30 students and a graduating class of two students. She was the first student at her high school to graduate with honors, the first to attend a major university such as WVU, and one of the only graduates to pursue postsecondary education in general. She credits her schooling with empowering her to be an independent learner. Adeline began to solidify her plans to attend college her junior year of high school when she realized she loved to read and could probably succeed in college.

Adeline credits the COVID-19 pandemic and its social distancing/ de-densifying protocol with allowing her to experience stepping-stones between her graduating high school class of two and a WVU campus of more than 20,000 students. She sets a strict schedule for taking care of herself and studying, and has been very academically successful thus far. She credits her academic advisors and the SSS Trio program as major supports during her time at WVU.

Ella is a first semester freshman from Hedgesville, WV (approximate population 251) in the Eastern Panhandle of West Virginia about 2.25 hours from WVU. Ella grew up with her mother in a rural part of town with dirt roads and did not have an extended family support system. She did not intend to go to college due to finances and once the COVID-19 pandemic hit, stopped completing and submitting high school schoolwork. However, she was notified a few weeks after high school graduation that she was a randomly selected winner of a drawing for a full ride scholarship for young people who received a COVID-19 vaccine. Although it was too late to enroll for the fall semester, she decided to enroll at WVU for the spring 2022 semester as a business and communication pathways student.

At the time of her interview, Ella was still acclimating to college life. She was only about two months into her studies, and had been sent home once already sick with COVID. She is learning about how to take notes, how to study, and setting a schedule. She feels that her college performance is decent, especially compared to her high school efforts.

Ella describes her relationship with her mother as very emotional. She has a much older half-brother, and her mother only had an empty nest for about three years between his high school graduation and Ella's birth. Ella's departure was emotionally difficult on her mother, who is described as a "bit of a doomsday prepper" and "extremely religious." Ella's mother describes the scholarship as a divine intervention that Ella should thank Jesus for. Ella felt that she herself was to thank for signing up for the drawing – or the injection nurse, who encouraged Ella to put her name in the drawing for a chance to win a prize, such as a full ride scholarship.

Most of Ella's support has come from friends and parents of friends, straining her relationship with her own mother who views their actions as taking on Ella as a "charity case." However, Ella described the support of her friends' parents as much needed, since her own mother does not have familiarity with the college going process.

## THEMATIC ANALYSIS

#### EXPERIENCES OF LOW-INCOME, FIRST-GENERATION RURAL WEST VIRGINIA STUDENTS

# Research Question 1: What are the experiences of low-income first-generation rural West Virginia students at the state's land grant institution?

Five themes are salient in describing the experiences of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginia students: rurality, self-perception and academics, parents, and COVID-19. Rurality provided a foundation for the students' pre-college to college transition. Self-perception and academics included the students' perceptions of the changes and experiences in college. This combined theme encompassed the preparation participants felt they did or did not have for college-level work, as well as their acclimation to academic expectations. Parents influenced students even once enrolled in college. Although participants had not had a non-COVID postsecondary experience, they perceived COVID as influential to their experiences.

# RURALITY

#### Marla

Marla felt that her high school predominantly pushed trade schools and did not encourage students to obtain a four-year degree. Marla said, "We don't have like a local college or anything so (people at school) were like it's just easier if you like go there (to a trade school) instead in the county." However, Marla's love of math and desire to be an engineer led her to leave. "I was like I can't do engineering math related fields if I don't like venture out." However, once she made the decision to attend college, she felt her community was supportive. "I feel like the community, no matter which direction they chose, whether it be like military or anything (for after high school) was just really supportive. Like everyone was like, 'yeah you'll do great in that." She echoed sentiments of a supportive community with three other examples: all families coming together to participate in a community 5K fundraiser, advertisements of local farmers' markets and young agricultural business owners, and community fundraising to help send students to college.

Marla graduated as the valedictorian of 68 students, and she described her community as having about 9,000 residents, compared to the 20,000 plus student body at WVU. "When I came here (to WVU) that was one of the weirdest things cuz like there's no way I can ever recognize – there's so many faces every day."

Marla's rural high school led to close knit connections with teachers and fellow students. Most of my teachers, I had all four years of high school. I could kind of pick and choose which ones I wanted because there was very few. There's only three teachers in the entire math department. I had one and she became my friend by the time I was 18. We were just friends at the end of that. Most of them, you developed kind of a relationship with because it's just like they're like your older family members. They give you guidance because it's so small. Like you talk to them every 180 days for four years straight, you're going to have to be friends with them. And all my classmates I knew since I was 6 so it's kinda like siblings almost.

Marla described her home as 30 minutes from town and 30 minutes from her school. A family-owned gas station 15 minutes from her house was the closest resource. The only chain restaurant within 40 minutes or so was a Dairy Queen in the town.

Everything else was kinda like local... I think it's bizarre that you can Door Dash here (in Morgantown.) It's crazy but it's nice, I like it... And the Starbucks is like in the (dorm), like that is insane. The closest Starbucks (in my hometown) was like 45 minutes from my house. It's so funny that I live next to one now... It's so weird because I get on my phone (here in Morgantown) and I run out of data all the time because I don't realize that you can turn your service off because I never had to do that before because I had no service ever.

Marla described how a possibility of returning to her home community after college appealed to her. Marla described how an educator helped plant the idea, saying,

If you come back to the county, you can make so many stream studies and like you can do all this stuff. And it was so cool. Yeah she was so supportive about that. I never said that I'm 110% moving back because you can't make that call but there's definitely a high chance I'm coming back. It's just like you never know. You got to see where jobs are available, got to see where it takes you.

Marla expressed a desire to meet other first generation Appalachian students. "That would be pretty cool because I feel like if you're first generation and from like a rural area it's different because you're not really exposed to people who have (been to college.) Most of the people in my county don't have college degrees." She suspects that experience may be different in a more urban area.

#### Mason

Mason enjoyed the small, close-knit aspect of his rural hometown, specifically in regards to the widespread support his high school wrestling team enjoyed within the community. However, he felt that he was missing important opportunities.

I was ahead in school throughout pretty much all middle school and high school. And there's a point of like in high school, I had three periods every year because there wasn't an option to take higher classes. There just wasn't anything around that was available to take.

He also reflected on having to leave the town for resources, restaurants and recreation. "When we wanted to do something for fun, we'd go drive around. We'd go sit at the high school. There wasn't a whole lot to do," he said. Mason identifies as Hispanic and felt that his hometown was lacking in terms of diversity. He appreciates the greater diversity present at WVU.

There wasn't that many minorities in my town. I mean it wasn't something that you saw a whole lot... Originally when I was little I felt like I was a little different of course. It was definitely a little weird but as I got older I got more used to it and it didn't really bother me as much. I started to realize who I was actually friends with. They didn't care or make

any comments or anything like that.

#### Faith

Faith was not a big fan of her rural hometown, and was critical of the state of West Virginia in general. However, her experience at her high school was one of the highlights of her time in her rural area.

It's not really known for much. I definitely don't want to live there in the future. I'm just not a big fan of small towns. It wasn't diverse. I was like one of maybe five people of color at my school. I enjoyed it because it was close knit, but obviously there's downsides... Like everyone knowing your business if something goes wrong, and there's not a lot of new people... Coming to a big city made me excited if that makes sense because, like, literally it'd be nice to have a Target in the town...I don't think I'll settle down in West Virginia... I just don't really like this state that much. It's not that it's a bad state. It's not its fault, but it's not as diverse as I want it to be. I don't want to be the only person of color in a lot of places that I go. WVU is even more diverse than my hometown, so that was a positive thing. It's not as diverse as it could be, but it's better than rural West Virginia and has more opportunities I guess... I've seen things online about the colleges that are known to be black campuses headed by black faculty and stuff. It makes me kind of like wonder what my life would have been like if I'd gone to one of those.

#### Grant

Grant's graduating class was only about 60 students. He liked that it was a tight knit community that allowed him to have deep relationships with others. However, he expressed significant concerns about the realities of rural life. He was asked about what embodied the rural

experience to him. He described a lack of economic support from the community as well as feelings of frustration and inadequacy in regards to his academic preparation.

Honestly just like the lack of resources we have... there's hardly any stores or anything so you don't really have anyone that's helping you... There weren't local businesses who could donate to the schools, so everything you do has to come out of your own pocket, and of course a lot of people coming from rural communities, you know, you don't have a lot of money the way it is. (When it was time for inter-school academic competitions) we would literally just throw a team together at the last minute to try to compete with them. But I mean we would never win anything because we've never had like the dedicated people and resources to really make sure that we were really going to learn (the material) and like make that happen.

Grant also felt the rurality of his hometown contributed to educational barriers and felt that the rural nature of his community got in the way of his academic success. With the closest Walmart more than 30 minutes away, and the closest larger town of Parkersburg (population approximately 30,000) about one hour away, it was very difficult to obtain supplies necessary for school projects, even if transportation was available. "You'd have to be like really good at planning, so that way you don't have to go to Parkersburg so many times every week."

Grant did have praise for rural educators when it came to caring about the students as people. He contrasted this to his experience with faculty at WVU.

You have very few (college faculty) that actually I think care about you as a student. Despite you know where I came from, and not having a lot of qualified teachers, they all really cared about you, you know? You could confide in them if something was happening in your life, if you needed advice. (Something that was difficult with the

transition to WVU was) coming here and realizing you don't really have that same support level.

Grant felt that his rural experience caused him to see a black and white dichotomy between oil and gas work and attending college.

All I'd ever been taught was there's really no like in between, which is definitely not true with technical schools and different things you can do. But I just kind of knew from probably like middle school on that I definitely didn't want to do (labor) for the rest of my life and see the struggles that so many people in my community go through with not having enough work or getting laid off.

A positive of Grant's rural upbringing was his close-knit family. He had a sister and six cousins who spent time together after school Monday through Friday while their parents worked, plus family dinners at grandparents' houses on the weekends. He greatly cherished the quality time he had with his more extended family.

Grant had high praise for Health Science Technology Academy (HSTA) which is a West Virginian program that helps prepare underrepresented high school students pursue and succeed in STEM based college programs<sup>3</sup>. "That was kind of nice to actually have a program. It was like hey we're here for you guys at this rural community. We really want you guys to go to school, and you know they're paying for me to go here. That was nice to have a program like that built around you."

#### Ella

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The vast majority of HSTA participants go on to graduate from college, and 75% of program participants are rural areas (What is HSTA, 2019).

Ella described her hometown as very isolated, with a dirt road to get to her home. "We have a Dollar General. That's about it. If you didn't have a car you were just unhappy because there wasn't really any public transport and Uber still hasn't gotten there." She also described her rural hometown as a relatively unwelcoming place, which was in contrast with what some other participants experienced in their rural hometowns. When asked how she would describe her hometown, the first word was "homophobic."

One of the first things that comes to my mind (when recalling my hometown experience) was being called a dyke walking down the street because I had a short hair cut in middle school. It was mostly hick people. A lot of the kids my age were more progressive, but it's very much old people in that community. It's a very Republican state, honestly, West Virginia. I just don't want to be like negative, but that's all I can think of is the negative side of living in a rural town. I didn't really know a lot of people. I mean my neighbors were nice, but it was the only thing I knew. Being up here (at WVU) is a lot more like community. I know a lot of people say small towns are community based, and everyone knows everyone. No they don't. They don't care about you.

When asked about what being from a rural community meant to her, she shared, slightly tongue in cheek, that "you have to know how to shoot a gun. If you don't you'd probably be excommunicated from the community because everyone hunts."

#### Adeline

Adeline's ruralness was a focal point for much of her interview. Her private Christian high school enrolled a total of 17 students and she graduated with just one other student. Her father's towing business operated out of their home, so life at her home base was busy with customers.

There ain't much to talk about it. Behind the house there's just hillside. Ain't nothing that really goes on... The closest thing to us is a gas station. I mean you can't just like run to the store or to get something to eat. There was just not much around. You're sort of like separated from everyone else if that makes sense. I mean I'm lucky because I live close to some people. A lot of people don't. My grandparents and my real mother she lives like an hour from society, she really is in the middle of nowhere... I feel like since I come from a small community, I wasn't exposed to as much.

At the same time, Adeline adores her home and spoke at length about loving the mountains, the lake, the snow, the rocks, and being outdoors. Adeline's home place is about 20 minutes away from a more urban center, Summersville, WV (population approximately 3300). But despite the geographic proximity to resources like Wal-Mart and restaurants, Adeline lamented her lack of reliable internet both at home and at her school. It is worth noting that her experience completing school work was different than that of her fellow research participants since her school was so small and grounded in ACE (Accelerated Christian Education). "I've never set foot in a class before I went to school here (at WVU). This was my first time like legit like sitting in a class listening to a professor."

Adeline shared about her vernacular. Her father told her she needs to "work on my 'y'all' and says 'don't ever talk like me.' She felt that some folks she's met at WVU have a hard time understanding her accent or colloquialisms, especially after she returns to Morgantown after time spent at home. "I really hear stuff come out of my mouth and I'm like wow." She feels she has sometimes faced a stigma for her accent, mostly from peers.

**Embry** 

Embry's concept of rurality began with comparing her home community of Salt Rock, outside of Barboursville, with the nearby city of Huntington, WV (population approximately 46,000). She felt the juxtaposition of rurality and urbanity played a big role in getting her to college. Her elementary and middle school years were spent in smaller local schools, but her high school experience led her to one of the largest consolidated schools in the state. She felt that the size of the nearby high school "absolutely" influenced her smaller middle school's ability to secure opportunities in STEM for their students.

She described her hometown as a "very unique place and that it's very personal." She described the community as close knit and caring. It's "a very country area, like people riding their four wheelers on the main road... at (school), especially all of the Salt Rock kids are considered to be like really country." Embry was conscious of differences among various groups within her consolidated high school. "It's very odd like going to elementary school then high school because it's a very contrasting dynamic. Especially with kids from the higher class neighborhoods of Barboursville interacting with Salt Rock kids interacting with Milton kids. It was very interesting. But I really appreciated the people from Salt Rock because even though I'm definitely not as country as them, it definitely was like it reminded me of where I actually live."

Embry described a time in high school when her stretch of the road was pummeled by an ice storm and all of Barboursville lost power. Specifically, her area was without power for two weeks.

There were trees on the street, like people couldn't get to places to get heat. There was ice on the road. So what our street did is everybody like worked together to clear the roads, and also like make sure everybody had fuel to get heat. Our neighbors came over and stayed at our house so we could all stay warm. We all slept in the living room with

one big heater, which I thought was really cool because like in a bigger neighborhood I don't think you could be like, 'Hey, the power's out. You guys want to come spend the night to stay warm?' I don't think that would have worked out if it was anybody else. It felt like post-apocalyptic so it was good to have everybody working together...It was really bad, but they collectively, like all of the power companies came together and made a little community in our mall parking lot and they got everybody's power on in less than a month. I mean they did their best. Some people had to wait three weeks, but I think we were pretty lucky to get it in two.

Embry has faced some doubters due to her "country" upbringing. Some of it has been light-hearted, as she recalls some lovingly teasing comments from one of her best friends." He's like 'you are the most country person I've ever met. You're from Salt Rock.' And I'm like, 'dude, I am not. You should meet some of the (other) people!' Like it's the type of neighborhood where you look out your back window and someone's asking your dad if they can hunt in your backyard."

Other instances of teasing have been less kind. For example, her first roommate's mother often made disparaging comments about the quality of the town surrounding WVU, and complained publicly on social media about West Virginia. Embry found this to be hurtful. But even before she matriculated to college, she experienced a criticism that propelled her to commit to and succeed at WVU.

So since I'm an aerospace engineering kid, I wanted to go to Embry Riddle in Daytona Beach so bad. So they have like very specific funding for things I wanted to do. So I applied there, and I applied here, because this was my state school. I wanted to go to WVU. I was having a conversation with one of my friends that I've made that went to

Embry Riddle. And he said, 'Where do you want to go?' and I was like, 'Well if I don't go to Embry Riddle, I'm going to go to WVU.' And he responded, 'Well do you really trust your education with a West Virginia school? And that made me so mad. I was so mad. I kept my composure and I was like, 'You understand that you just insulted the place where I'm from? You understand that, right? And you insinuating that WVU can't give me a good education because it's from West Virginia makes me angry.' So I was thinking about it and I was like, no, I'm going to WVU. It's really important to me... You know, people are gonna think you're country. And I don't care. I mean I grew up in Salt Rock, I don't care if people think – they can think whatever they think. But being from a rural community, I think it really shows you what it's like to interact with people like keeping very close knit to people. So even when you're in a big school (like WVU) you feel like you can have a personal connection."

#### **Summary: Experiences of Rurality**

The seven participants all felt their rural upbringing had an impact on their experiences of college preparation and college attendance. Specifically, all participants acknowledged the difference in size and activity in Morgantown compared to their hometowns. Some students were very overwhelmed by these differences (Grant, Embry, Marla) while others were excited by the change of pace (Faith, Ella). Some participants had very isolated, remote experiences (Adeline, Marla, Grant, Mason), while others had easier access to resources such as stores and restaurants (Adeline, Ella, Embry). Most participants spoke fondly of their close-knit, rural communities and recalled them as supportive. But others like Ella and Faith, recalled it less fondly, mentioning what they called the more negative aspects of growing up in a rural environment. The two racially minoritized participants, Faith and Mason, both commented on their displeasure with the

lack of diversity in their hometowns, and felt that Morgantown was an improvement. Embry and Adeline commented on experiencing stigma based on their "country" accents and vernacular. Some participants attended small, rural schools (Adeline, Marla, Grant) while others attended large, consolidated schools (Embry, Ella). All of these points of divergence highlight the heterogeneity of the rural experience.

#### ACADEMICS (PREPAREDNESS & COLLEGE RIGOR)/ SELF-PERCEPTION

All students interviewed discussed the transition from high school-level work to collegelevel work. Some felt quite prepared, and others felt very underprepared. Influential factors included their high school experiences, the difference between their small rural hometowns and the large university setting, COVID-related interruptions, and the resources available in their hometowns.

Adeline was one of the participants who felt like her high school adequately prepared her for college. In her nontraditional high school, she did extracurricular activities like dramatic monologues, word count, recitations and sewing, quilting and crocheting. She hired an ACT coach to help her prepare for the exam because her high school curriculum did not align with what would be covered on the test. "I'm the world's worst test taker. Never was a test taker, so it took me a lot to get it."

Adeline did not know that the fields of study she is enjoying in college – philosophy and political science – even existed when she was in high school.

I didn't know any degree like that existed until I came here, because everyone I know who went to school always seem to be that they went to school to be a doctor of some sorts or an engineer. So I didn't know something like that existed... I really got into it. And I absolutely love reading. That's one of the things about political science. I love to learn about that type of stuff like constitutional law and civil liberties, like that's more up my alley. And then philosophy, I love the mindset of it. Love it. I've never enjoyed so much. I love puzzles, which is like brain games. You know, philosophy, to me is like that, and I really like that.

Adeline said that topics such as civil liberties and constitutional law were never covered in history classes at her school. In fact, she recalls she rarely had any social studies curriculum at all. Despite this nontraditional approach, Adeline felt her high school provided her with tools necessary to be successful at WVU.

I'm actually really thankful that I went to the school I did, even though I never had like the classroom experience. I actually find that to be so helpful. I'm so, so motivated and so self-disciplined. I do so much better in my online classes than I would ever do sitting in the classroom. I'm really on top of all my stuff if that makes sense. I'm very independent. I can learn more from a book than what I can somewhat from a professor teaching me. I would not stand here today if it wasn't for my school. There are some things I didn't learn before I went to college, but then there's a lot of stuff that I did learn from my school that college doesn't offer – like how to write checks, how to do stuff with every day life.

Marla was a bit nervous about the rigor of college level work. She shared that her father was very supportive of her going to college, but was not initially supportive of her attending WVU specifically. But as her school's valedictorian, she felt that her dual enrollment credits earned in high school helped prepare her for college level work.

He was more like go to (smaller state school)... I don't want you to get up there and be like not able to adapt fast enough to take on college courses, and then an atmosphere change or like new environment change. I was like no, I think I can do it. He was

supportive of me going (to college) he was just like I just don't want you to get up there and then (not succeed). (My parents and others told me) just stay prepared and focused and you'll be fine. That's what I kept telling myself. As long as I don't get distracted by anything and stay organized I can do it. That's the main thing I focus on is organization.

This focus on organization has served her well. Marla shared she didn't struggle too much with the adjustment to a college schedule due to her rural high school experience where her school day took 10 hours or more due to lengthy transportation plus her extracurricular activities. She felt that the preparation for college level work and expectations was overplayed by high school teachers. She feels the college level instructors are more forgiving and lenient than she was led to believe. It is possible that exceptions made and policies changed in light of COVID-19 impacted this experience.

Although Marla felt her academic preparation was sufficient, acclimating to college level work has still taken some adjustment. She recalled a tight knit sense of community with her high school teachers in her rural hometown. WVU's way of doing things signified a transition or adjustment in regard to communication with faculty and using academic support systems, specifically tutoring.

(Before I got here) I didn't know tutoring centers existed. I didn't know that was a thing at all... those students who work there, they know exactly what they're doing. They got through the class, like you can ask them anything and they can explain it just as well as a professor has to me... In high school I never had to email my teachers and now it's the only source of communication. That was so weird to me because my high school email I get like one notification a week, and now I get six-plus (school emails) a day.

Mason felt that his high school did not adequately prepare him for the rigor of college level work, because he had completed all the available courses to take before his senior year. There were no additional math courses for him to take after his sophomore year, when he completed a college level calculus course. Fortunately, his high school offered an engineering program that he could complete on an elective basis during his senior year. He feels the college coursework in engineering is extremely tough, and experienced a wakeup call his first semester when he earned a grade of D on a chemistry exam.

That was like the first time I did so bad on something, so it really shocked me. Then I just realized I had to actually start studying more and focusing more. I feel like (my high school) decently prepared me for (college), some classes more than others. Once I realized how hard the (college) classes actually were I realized I needed to focus on school more... Trying to get used to everything while trying to maintain my grades was pretty hard. Luckily all my roommates were in engineering so we kinda have the same classes and we got to know each other really well and became pretty good friends. We were able to work together on stuff and kind of make sure that each one of us is getting through it together.

Mason described a critical academic experience that helped him stay engaged and motivated during his first semester of college – department visits in his freshman engineering program.

You go to a lecture about the different engineering majors. And it's cool to see all the different majors and what all they do. They even show us some projects and stuff. That was really interesting to me. I liked that. And then in the engineering building they have something called the Innovation Hub. There's a bunch of like 3D printers and laser

engravers all that stuff. It's really cool to kind of think that I will be working with that eventually. So that was nice.

Faith was one of the participants who felt relatively underprepared for college level coursework. She experienced feelings of nervousness and excitement during her early college days. Faith initially wanted to pursue a nursing major, and began in the pre-nursing program. The courses were more difficult than she anticipated and she did not meet the criteria for matriculation to the nursing program. Faith remembers being mostly excited, but also worried and nervous about attending college.

No one in my family knew what to tell me (about college)... Our high school is known for having really bad math teachers. Luckily I don't think I struggled with that cuz my math scores were fine. But I know other kids had trouble... I didn't get into the nursing school. I was sad at the time, but like honestly I'm not regretful of that at all. I enjoy public health a lot more to be honest. It excites me. It's sad that it took a rejection to notice that, but I think public health would have made me happier in the end. If I'm not happy with the money I'm making (in the future) I could go back to nursing... when I changed my major the academic advisors were super nice about it and very helpful to me. There was a lot of options otherwise. And if I did still want to pursue nursing before graduating I could have. They would have made that happen for me.

Grant came to college with 55 hours of college credit, so in that regard he felt prepared for college academics. However, this experience contrasted with his experience of having unqualified or underqualified teachers at the high school level. The rigor and volume of college level work was new to him.

No one even close anywhere in my family went to college, so you know we were kind of on our own trying to figure that out. I am starting to figure it out. I feel like those college classes I did in high school helped. But definitely coming here was a big adjustment and it still is. I'm still trying to figure things out. The few certified teachers we had, I mean even then they weren't like super focused on school work. We did not have the teachers put on the work like we should have. In no way did they prepare us for this. Because they, like most of our students there, were not interested (in going to college) so there wasn't any need to be like, you know, assigning a ridiculous amount of work, because (the students) weren't going to do it either way... We would spend a whole week doing one assignment, you know. And then here it's like we have an assignment every single day, plus all these tests to study for. So I think that's definitely been the biggest thing for sure... just getting used to the workload here.

Beyond feeling unprepared by his high school, Grant also experienced nervousness from observing other students from his county who attempted college at WVU and did not succeed. Despite his fears and apprehension regarding maintaining the grades needed to qualify for medical school, Grant ultimately ended up making the President's List his first semester. Before getting to that point, Grant experienced earning a bad grade on a test.

I was like ok, this just fortifies my entire reason I was so scared to come here... You start freaking out, especially for me whenever like so much rides on my grades for going to the next step, you know to medical school. So that was very low for me because I was like how am I going to like come back from this? ... I knew it was going to be really hard. There's been a lot of people from Calhoun that have tried to come here and in fact do the premed route and they failed out. So that was very daunting to try to be like, 'well,

what makes me any different, you know? Whenever they've tried the same thing and they went to the same school that I did... It's difficult but not nearly what I thought... I just came in here and I was obviously like really worked up the whole time. I kept talking to my sister. She always talked me off that ledge. Like you're gonna be fine, Grant, you just need to keep working. She was like after you get that first assignment and you start, you'll be fine. Really that's how it was. I mean I just started doing it and I was like, if I can just get into a rhythm of this I think I'll be ok. And I did. The next thing I know it was the end of the semester.

Ella also reported struggling with college level coursework. She passed high school by doing makeup work and packets, and she felt the amount of effort she put in during high school was not sufficient to prepare for college. She said that she would have done some things differently if she could have possibly known the stroke of luck that was about to befall her upon high school graduation. But in some ways, she does feel college is going better than high school.

I'm almost failing a class... I bought a planner, I don't use it. If I don't write it down I'll put sticky notes on everything, I just forget that they exist... Without the high school structure, I find myself doing better. That's not a common thing for people with ADD or ADHD which I have. But it's kind of like doing things at my own pace and having to keep myself accountable for something. That's actually taught me a really big lesson. If you do (the homework) the first day and turn it in early your teacher's not only going to like you, they're going to read it. You're going to get a good grade or if you turn it in early, well some of my teachers will let me make revisions to get a better grade. That's something that's really helped me. [If I had known I would be able to afford college] I

probably would have studied a lot harder and got a lot of the things that I'm learning right now out of the way. Like note taking, which I just learned how to do this year.

Although it's been difficult, Ella says it has not been as difficult as she mentally prepared herself for. She had not yet received her first set of college grades at the time of the conversation, but she anticipated college would be even harder, requiring her to focus solely on schoolwork. Her experience has included a lively social life.

I don't work that hard on school work, and I still get pretty good grades. I do have to study more. Studying is something I don't like to do. I didn't expect to be like study study study, but yeah. I have to study.

Embry felt well prepared for college level work thanks to the opportunities she had to immerse herself in STEM related education from an early age. Due to the proximity of a great high school, Embry's middle school also had STEM programming that allowed her to travel on all expenses paid trips to metropolitan areas.

We had a lot of funding. A lot of engineering departments in high schools especially don't get a lot of money. It was shocking the stuff we could get funded. We had a laser cutter, we had multiple 3D printers, and double monitors for all of our engineering projects. It was absolutely insane...The thing about Barboursville is that while there's a lot of low income communities, there's also a lot of higher income communities. So a lot of funding money for the middle school came from parents. Parents contributed a lot of money, especially the higher income places, because there was such a contrast. It's just this contrast of different like socioeconomic areas. A lot of our funding came directly from parents." She also had a wonderful teacher that instilled a love of science early on. "I had a science teacher and her name was Miss Ryder. The funny thing is that I'd also

gone to church with her and she sat behind me in church. So when I showed up in her class, I was like this is gonna be awkward. But it wasn't. She made sure to make class fun. Everything was personalized and once she came to me with the idea of, "oh there's this thing where you can compete and you can do fun stuff" I was like "absolutely!" We did some real research studies as early as seventh grade. We were studying e coli levels in the Guyandotte River. It was a big deal. We placed number one in West Virginia and got to go to DC, which was so cool. I was like If I can keep doing science like this, I'm gonna stay (in WV). We went again in eighth grade and placed again and got to go to New York City. Miss Ryder drove us. She was like I don't want you guys to miss out on this experience.

But the strong academic preparation did not adequately prepare Embry for the mental health challenges she would experience during her transition to college life. She experienced very poor mental health and felt some of her habits were not up to the standards needed to succeed in college.

When I was in high school... I didn't have to study or anything. [In college] I think that kind of hit me weird because I was like I don't instantly know this [material]. It wasn't that I thought that I was like a genius. By no means was I a genius. But you know, I knew math. I knew science. I knew history. I knew how to write papers. But in high school, I had a structure. I had to go to a class every day at the same time. I got out of class, I did all my homework, then I went to work. I did the same thing every day. When I came to college, I was responsible for everything, keeping myself healthy.

This change in scope of responsibilities threw Embry for a loop as she sunk into a season of poor mental health.

#### Summary: Academics / Self-Perception

Low SES students suffer from negative stereotypes concerning their ability and competence, and show lower self-reported perceptions of intelligence (Fiske, et al 2002; Durante et al, 2017). Each of the seven participants spoke about how their academic preparation in high school impacted their transition to college and their in-college experiences, as well as how they thought about their ability to complete college-level coursework. Grant was the most self-critical and critical of his academic preparation, despite entering his first year at WVU with 55 hours of college credits. He was hyper-aware of a lack of qualified teachers (perhaps because his own older sister is now a teacher in the county) and the failures of older students before him. Mason was also critical of his school's lack of advanced coursework, although he was kinder about the support provided by teachers at the technical school next door where he took elective engineering courses.

Ella, Faith and Marla felt somewhat critical of their academic preparation, though for different reasons. Ella did not feel she was adequately prepared because she was able to graduate thanks to remedial work. Faith felt like the low rigor of her high school was partially to blame for her inadmissibility to her top choice major. Marla felt that her high school tried hard to prepare students, but wasn't sure if it was up to the standards expected at WVU – after all, she was the class valedictorian.

In contrast, Embry and Adeline felt their high schools prepared them for the rigors of collegiate coursework, but their experiences were vastly different. Embry attended one of the largest high schools in the state that offered advanced coursework and had a strong STEM program and well-funded extra-curricular educational opportunities. Unfortunately, this did not translate to academic success in her first semester of college as mental health struggles impeded

her progress. Adeline attended a tiny ACE-based school that did not provide the curricula of public high schools in the state. However, the school required students to obtain practical skills and be self-sufficient in time management, which has served Adeline well in college.

## FIRST GENERATION STATUS/ PARENTS' EXPERIENCES

All seven participants mentioned the first-generation positionalities of their parents. There were 114 unique references to parents. Some comments were about their parents' own college experiences (or lack thereof), and other comments about parents were related to the participants' first-generation college student identity. Many participants described the push and pull of parents wanting to help and be supportive, but not knowing how. Some parents, such as Marla's, had feelings of fear and worry about sending their child to college.

As Marla left for college, she experienced dealing with her parents' emotions and fears. She described them as "super sad."

Neither of them went to college so neither of them really gave me any advice coming into it. They didn't really have anything to say other than stay focused. But they were also like afraid of safety issues because at home we rarely ever lock our door, or like we leave our keys in our vehicle with the doors unlocked in our driveway. And here you can't do that. They were scared.

Although her parents' fears and concerns of the unknown in a college town weighed heavily on Marla, in contrast, she attributed much of her desire to attend college to her firstgeneration status and her parents' lived experiences.

My dad really wanted to go to college. He just couldn't. Like he didn't have the means, you know, the grades to go. And he's so intelligent he could have got any degree he wanted to. I got a lot of scholarships with SAT scores and stuff, it's like well, if I have all these means, all this support to go, why not just like do what I want with what I can do?

So furthering my education was definitely one of the things I want to do for [my dad] in a way. I mean, also for me of course. But if he didn't get to do it because he didn't have the right things? I have the right things, and if I want to do it, I might as well.

Marla also described taking responsibility and ownership of her college preparation, in contrast to what she observed from non-first-generation peers.

I had to do it by myself. Like my parents don't have access to my Portal at all. I paid for my entire college. I feel like that's partially because I'm first-generation. I also feel it's partially because I'm from Appalachia because for one, my parents didn't know that they could have access. But coming from Appalachia they've never had a college fair. Like there was one day out of my entire four years of high school where we had colleges come and speak to us. I don't think WVU was there, I think it was Potomac State, which is the branch campus... And I feel ... the parents for first-generation students are never really given information. Everything that I tell them, like FAFSA, I have to do on my own. Because they're like 'What's a FAFSA?' they've never had to do any of that. If more information was provided to the parents, it would make the whole thing easier.

Mason was the only student in the study with two parents who attempted college, but neither completed a credential. His parents wanted a different path for their three children. When Mason recalls what his parents shared about their college experiences, he said they spoke mostly about fun stories from that time in their life and not about the process of going to or attending college. While he enjoyed their stories, he did not find them particularly helpful as he navigated college, instead relying more on his older siblings who recently went through the process. They always pushed me when I was little, me and my siblings, because they wanted us to go to college because they saw it as a good thing... just all three of us getting through college will, I think, mean a lot to my parents and to my family in general.

Faith described a feeling of longing for a parent who attended college – both for her own desires and also to put her on a more even playing field with her peers. Her mother, who struggled with addiction, dropped out of high school and later completed a GED. Her father was not in her life when she was growing up. Recently before this study was conducted, Faith reconnected with her father as an adult. Throughout her college journey thus far, Faith has noticed a contrast between herself and her peers on the basis of parental college experience. She described an alienating experience of her friends exchanging text messages in a group chat, featuring pictures of their parents from their college days.

A lot of my friends have like both parents and stuff. They'd be like oh yeah well my mom went here for college and when she came back she had me. [The picture] was really cute but then it made me just think that like, oh wow, I'd love to see what my mom looked like in college, too, but [that's not possible.]

Faith explained that her grandparents took guardianship of her and her brother when she was in the fifth grade, and her experience living with an older generation was in contrast to much of her friends' experience. While the age gap and unfamiliarity with college has complicated some things, the involvement of her grandmother in her education has been a positive influence in Faith's life. "[My grandmother] always said academics first. Never like forced it on me, but just kind of said it's important. She's my support and why I'm here [at college] probably."

Grant described his parents as very supportive of his pursuit of a college education. His mother attempted college but ran out of money to finish. His father attended a technical center while enrolled in high school.

I know my mom really hated not being able to finish college. I think she really wanted that for my sister and I. Even though [my dad] didn't go to college, you know he went through a lot of struggles with trying to provide for us. I mean we have a very nice lifestyle but I think he always wanted to do more. I think that was one of the things he kind of felt bad that he didn't try to go to college or anything and just went straight into working. I really think that both my mom and my dad were very influential. (They said) you need to try to do [college] because it'll make sure that you can have a future... I saw with my parents my entire life that you're just not really going to get anything if you don't work for it. You're only young once so I was like what if I did try to go as far as I can? I really want to become a doctor, but can I do it? I don't know. But at least I can try while I'm young and that way I know for sure.

Ella shared about complicated emotions and feelings regarding her relationship with her mother, who dropped out of high school, had her first child (Ella's older brother who is 20+ years her senior) at 18 and then returned for her GED. She described a supportive and loving, yet tumultuous relationship with her mother. This is further complicated by significant support Ella received from a friend and her friend's mom through high school and matriculating to college, which at times created a wedge in the relationship with her own mother.

It's kind of hard being a first-generation student. [My mom] got her GED but it took a while for her to do that... [My mom] tried to go back to school for nursing, but she didn't have the funds to do it. And then she got pregnant with me, so it kind of went down the

drain for her... It's hard because if I have a math problem, my mom's not really the person that I can go to and my dad's not here... If I have any questions about college I usually go to [friend's mom.] My mom gets very upset about that. My mom and her don't really have the best connection. I didn't really have a great life growing up and her family took me in basically. My mom, she thinks that my best friend's mom used me as a charity case. I got the hand me down clothes. I get the homework help. I get all the stuff like that, even now [in college]. My friend's mom is the one that helped me set up my FAFSA, that helped me do almost everything that had to do with college. And that's kind of hard, too, because it kind of strains my relationship with my mom. Because one thing she loves to say to me is 'just because you're going to college doesn't mean you're smarter than me.' I don't want to be rude but she can't do fractions.

Ella feels strongly that her mom wishes she could do some of those supportive things to help her. Despite these challenging feelings and emotions, Ella's mom has been consistently insistent that she wants a better life for her daughter. Ella became passionate when discussing this, pounding the table for emphasis when recalling what her mother had told her.

My mom had always been like do better (hits table for emphasis) than me. Do better (hits table harder for second emphasis) than me. Treat your kids (hits table) better than I treated you. Get better finances (hits table) than I have. Get a better house (hits table), get a plot of land and we'll live on that plot of land. I'm living with you.

When Ella found out that she had won the full ride scholarship, her mom was elated and credited Jesus with the stroke of fortune.

Basically, she just cried. She was like you did it, you did it. But honestly I wasn't great throughout high school. I barely passed a lot of my classes and had to retake a lot of

classes. So me getting this scholarship was basically my mom's like divine intervention, I guess. You should thank me [instead of Jesus]. I'm the one that signed up for it. No, thank the nurse! Thank the nurse that told me about it...[My mom] was like you're doing good, you're going to be great, you're going to be the next Albert Einstein. And I'm sitting here like I can't do fractions because you can't do fractions.

Ella also described a tearful, emotional goodbye when she did finally come to college and her mother had an empty nest after more than three decades. Ella said, "Basically, it's just us right now. I'm the only one that she has."

Ella acknowledged positives and negatives regarding her mom's assistance while enrolled in college. In addition to the encouragement and emotional support, her mother provides financial help for food and incidentals as she is able. Ella described her mom as "a bit of a doomsday prepper" who provided more supplies than she had room for in the residence hall. However, some aspects of getting to college were made more difficult by her mother, specifically when it came to paying for college, despite having a full ride scholarship.

I actually went to [the FAFSA filing program] because I can't really do that myself. It wouldn't let me complete [the form] so I went. They were like 'Oh yeah, your mom needs to come in. Or she needs to go into the site and click that she is acknowledging her tax information is being used.' And I was like (whispers) my mom doesn't know how to turn the computer on. So I tried to do my FAFSA filing there by just being like well let's try her email and maybe her social security number, because I've known [all my mom's documents] since I was 10 just in case something happens. But [the financial aid worker] was like 'You can't do that.' I was like why? He said it was illegal. I was like oh, I'll do it at home.

Adeline described her father as her greatest support in life. Her older stepsisters encouraged her to consider college, and her father was supportive from the beginning. So far, he has helped pay the portion of Adeline's college tuition that hasn't been covered by scholarships. She has offered to get a job to pay part of the bill herself, but her father has encouraged her to focus on her studies.

He said, 'okay, as long as you don't screw up, do something stupid, and try to make something of yourself, I will help you go to college.' He's like no, don't get a job. You can work in the summer or whatever you want to, but I'm not going to make you work... He's like I will help you pay for college if you just study and get As. If you get As, I'm behind your back.

Adeline experiences feelings of guilt because she does not work to contribute to the financial aspects of her college education, while she describes her father as a very hard worker who built or fixes and maintains everything they have – their home, his business, their vehicles. "It really guilt twists me half the time. But he's like no, no don't worry about it. But yeah my father is a real big help."

Adeline has also experienced criticism from classmates, roommates and other peers based on her accent and colloquialisms. These are deeply engrained from her sense of place and her family. She shared that her accent becomes much stronger after spending time at home, and that her father is self-conscious about their southern accent.

He told me I still need to work on my y'all (laughter). I still need to not talk like him is what he tells me. He's like don't ever talk like me. All the time he's picking on me, like well if you are going to be a lawyer you don't need to be saying that (laughter).

Adeline has been very mindful and observant of experiencing intellectual growth during her college journey thus far. She recalled that her parents never influenced her to read as a child, and that her father typically has other people read things to him or he doesn't read. Adeline discovered a passion for reading by accident late in high school, and in college, her experience is that learning by reading is one of her greatest joys. When catching up with her father, he often remarks on Adeline's intellectual growth and development.

He's like, 'a year ago we would not be sitting down having this conversation. You really have improved a lot...' Like I've said, my father doesn't read a lot so like half the time I talk about stuff with him about my day he might not know what I'm even talking about... But [he knows] I have really worked hard for what I have got right now and I don't intend to stop anytime soon. Like everyone in my family has worked hard for everything they have ever had and I'm working hard for my degree.

Embry's also described having very supportive parents, even if they did not always know how to help. She grew up in a home where aspiring to college was the norm, a requirement even, which she attributed to her opinion that she "always" wanted to go to college. Her parents' experiences with adversity (especially her mother's and her maternal grandmother's) was channeled into pushing Embry toward a better standard of living.

My mom when she graduated high school... she worked retail. And my dad he went to trade school so he became a welder. So the whole time I was growing up my mom used to tell me, you do not have an option... You're getting a college education, you're getting a good job where you don't have to worry. You don't have to live paycheck to paycheck. She was like I regret not doing things more that I wanted to. I want you to be able to do whatever you want. Which I thought was really cool...[Me going to college] was important to my mom especially... When my mom was a kid, my grandparents got divorced. My Nana had to support four children while putting herself through beauty school. She had a lot on her plate. My mom got to see what it was like for my Nana to struggle. And then my mom, you know, she didn't go to college, so she was working retail which absolutely was perfect for her, she has such an eye for color and shapes. But they didn't pay her well enough. So she's like 'I understand what it's like to struggle and I never want you to have to struggle or worry about where your money's coming from.' She was like it's very important for you to get a college education.

Even with such consistent and enthusiastic support from so early on, Embry still experienced challenges as a first generation college student. In particular, she has experienced challenges with transitioning from her family unit, explaining college processes to her parents, and explaining why her performance in high school and college were so vastly different in her first semester. Embry and her mother are still very close, speaking on the phone multiple times per day, and yet sometimes there is still a disconnect.

It's hard to explain, but my mom does not know what it's like to be a college student. Neither does my dad. I try to explain to my mom different things about college. I had a whole financial issue with student accounts I had to get that figured out. But I was trying to explain [the issue] to my mom, that it's not something I can directly handle. I have to get people to help me with that. She's like well I don't understand why you can't just do it. And I'm like, ok but you haven't been to college. I'm not saying that's a bad thing. I'm just saying there's kind of a disconnect, especially with communication and like having issues with dealing with certain things in college.

Embry also had to work through the experience of her mother missing her so deeply when she moved away from home. Embry's departure was difficult on her mom. Although Embry described her mom as relatively unemotional and as someone who "doesn't cry", she showed her sadness in other ways such as acting angry and irritable, which Embry described as a tough experience. Once at college, the amount of time the two spent in communication was unusually high, especially in that first semester. "She used to call me a lot more. About every couple hours. Then I got her like weaned off of calling me so much. She started calling me just twice a day which is pretty ok."

The mental health struggles Embry experienced during her first semester of college were acutely felt by her mother as well. This aspect of the college experience has not been smooth for her and has led to emotional challenges and academic missteps. Furthermore, Embry took on more than the lion's share of the emotional labor and burden, wishing to shield her mother from the worry.

I struggled a lot last semester. I got really depressed. And I stopped doing work. And it was very scary for my mom, I will tell you. [She] wasn't used to it because I had always had straight As. I had a 4.7ish GPA when I graduated [high school]. I really had a bump. I had a bad bump. And I mean I've got some pretty not great grades. I would call her crying. Like I was in therapy. My mom took it the hardest. She was like I'm three hours away. I can't like actively be there for you. I didn't want to ask for my mom's help actively, because I didn't want to worry her. So I kind of took on responsibility all alone and I shouldn't have. There's plenty of people I could have asked for help but I didn't. (Being willing to seek help) was not something I realized would be that difficult coming out of high school.... But I've made up for it. But it was very hard for my mom to get to

understand that college is harder. Not just because of the work, but because I'm also raising myself, feeding myself, going to class, going to work, doing all this stuff. So that definitely was a disconnect, but we're working on it.

## Summary: Parents

All seven participants reflected on the influence and impact of their parents and their first-generation status on their own experience in college. Some participants grew up in two-parent households (Embry, Grant, Mason, and Marla), while others grew up with one parent (Ella, Adeline); Faith grew up with her grandparents. Only Grant and Mason had parents who had attempted college. Several participants were able to rely on their older siblings or stepsiblings for advice (Mason, Faith, Grant, Adeline). Participants commented on feelings of guilt in various ways. For example, Marla was pushed by the fact that her parents were capable of a college education, but it was simply out of reach. Ella described her mother's emotional outbursts at the thought of her daughter receiving a college education. Grant felt guilty that he perceived his father felt bad for not "doing more". Some of the participants described being pushed by their parents to achieve what they had not, while others did not experience that pressure.

#### *COVID-19*

Study participants were interviewed during the spring 2022 semester, the fifth regular academic semester impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic impacted students' college experiences in various ways before, during and after the transition from high school to college, as all were juniors or seniors in high school when the pandemic shuttered daily routines in March 2020. In regards to RQ1, there are examples of how the COVID-19 pandemic influenced the experiences of these low-income, first-generation, rural college students from

West Virginia in four realms: adding to the feelings of worry with attending college, the acclimation to college-level work, navigating COVID-19 guidelines, and building social bonds.

Several participants (Faith, Grant, Mason, Marla) described experiencing an additional layer of worry and stress regarding going to college due to the impacts of the pandemic. Faith, who had at the time of the interview contracted COVID-19 on two separate occasions despite being vaccinated, worried about going home and potentially spreading COVID-19 to her grandparents. Mason felt that he would probably be fine due to his young age and because he got the vaccine, but he and his parents still experienced concerns about the disease. Marla's mother worked in healthcare and it was a priority for her to be up to date on her booster before coming to school. Mason noted, "I feel like I would feel a little more comfortable if we all didn't have to wear a mask and try to keep our distance and everything like that. I did get the shot before I came here to feel more comfortable with it all."

A majority of participants (Grant, Marla, Embry and Ella) referenced challenges to academic preparation due to COVID that they feel contributed to their experiences of acclimating to college level coursework. In particular, Grant and Ella separately used the phrase "we did nothing" to describe entire semesters or years of high school education impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Grant elaborated that his school wasn't technologically equipped for students to be able to complete work from home. "We didn't have computers or good Internet at all... So we literally did absolutely nothing like from the beginning of March [2020] to the end of that school year." The pandemic also left psychological imprints on the participants that impacted their academic success. Embry recalled, "I felt like I kind of lost a little bit of like who I was kind of before COVID... I definitely struggled a lot. My grades suffered. I got put on academic probation but I'm making up for it. I've got really good grades this semester. I had to

definitely do a 180 and I was ok with that because [now I'm] back to how I was in high school." Although Marla has been successful in her transition to college level work, she mentioned that she felt her academic preparation was negatively impacted by COVID because it cancelled a statewide competition she was poised to compete in.

Marla described a challenging first day experience in Morgantown as COVID-19 took away the opportunity for an in-person New Student Orientation. She and her parents experienced a stressful day trying to find the correct parking garage and determining how to use the oncampus transit system.

We didn't get to do (in-person new student orientation). It was all on Zoom. I feel like it would have been super beneficial for like my parents and I to come up here together. Because the first time that we all came up here, it was move in day and it was so chaotic. It was terrible. My dad had no clue where [my residence hall] was.

Furthermore, Marla and her close friends had negative college experiences due to the COVID-19 guidelines and contact tracing protocol enforced by the University. She described a lack of clarity and certainty around the University's efforts to identify known exposures in classrooms and describe or enforce quarantine policies. She told a story of a time she received a text from a friend she had been with the day before. The friend had received a notice from university that he was required to quarantine for five days due to COVID exposure. He had reached out inform Marla, as she was a close contact. But determining if he was really exposed, and if Marla was a close contact by extension, was anything but straightforward. This caused additional layers of stress and uncertainty for students trying to do the right thing by quarantining when necessary.

Five minutes later [after he texted me] he was like 'They just sent me a second email saying they emailed the wrong person.' I was like, 'Are you serious?' And he's like 'yeah, they apologized.' And then he got ANOTHER [third] email [saying] it wasn't a mistake, [he was] exposed to COVID. [So he asked them] 'Do I quarantine?' And they [replied] 'No, wait wrong person again. I'm so sorry but you weren't exposed to COVID'. [He was] so confused. He [replied to the email saying] if you tell me what class it is, I'll tell you if I have that class. Because there must be like a boy with the same name or something [causing the confusion]. And they were like 'No we can't tell you that, it's too personal information but we promise you weren't exposed.' It's just like a bunch of panic. [Because you need to know one way or the other if you were exposed. And they told him he couldn't] go to class for five days, so [while all these emails played out] he missed two of his classes today for absolutely no reason.

The COVID-19 pandemic also impacted the social experiences of students. Faith discussed this at length. When the pandemic first began in March of Faith's senior year of high school, her college roommate decided to cancel her attendance at WVU to instead attend a local community college at home. Faith was looking forward to living with this friend, and felt increased nerves knowing that she wasn't heading to college along with her friend. She spent her first year without a roommate at all, which she felt was a negative impact to the social aspect of her college experience.

I didn't have a roommate my entire freshman year. I feel like that limited my potential friendships... Everyone says when you're going to college you won't be friends with people from your hometown anymore, but like about five or six of [my close friends] came from my hometown and, and I think COVID, I mean I love them all and they're my

close friends, but I feel like I would have made even more [friends] if COVID didn't limit me from meeting people. Can't really meet someone when you're wearing a mask. There wasn't as many opportunities, like welcome week wasn't really a thing... So I just think that like my close friends are good, the hometown ones, but I feel I would have had more [friends] if COVID didn't happen.

Faith also contracted COVID twice during her time at WVU – first around Thanksgiving break of her freshman year, and then a second time over winter break of her sophomore year despite being vaccinated. While there are obvious health challenges with COVID, overcoming the social isolation was a challenge, as well.

Although her outlook on it was more positive, Marla also felt that the COVID-19 pandemic helped keep her closer and tighter knit with her friends from high school.

I hang out with them every day almost. Whenever I moved in with my [random] roommates... my whole [high school] group came over and [my roommates said] 'you really must have like a huge high school' but like no this is one-sixth of my entire senior class, we're just all really good friends.

Grant credited the COVID-19 pandemic as one of the reasons he sought to avoid requirements to live in the dorm, staying in his own apartment instead. While he felt this was ultimately the best choice for him to focus on his studies, he acknowledged that it does prevent him from getting the full college experience in some ways.

There's only like two of us that came here from my high school. I have a couple friends in classes, but I don't really have that many friends because I live off campus. I feel like that kind of is like [both] a good and bad thing, but I was just like really adamant about I didn't really want to live on campus... so I mean in that aspect I think that also has taken

away a little from me just because I'm not able to maybe be around so many college students like [most students] are literally 24/7.

There were two concrete examples of COVID playing a very positive role in the participants' college experiences. Ella's very presence in higher education is thanks to a chance given her as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and Adeline called COVID-19 a "real blessing" in her life that has enabled her to succeed in college.

Ella was able to afford college because of a scholarship giveaway to incentivize young people to get vaccinated against COVID-19. However, she was notified of her award too late to apply to WVU for the fall semester, and so she started in January instead. The second week of school, she contracted COVID and had to miss some school right at the start of the semester. Ella also disclosed that she experiences imposter syndrome from being in college predominantly due to this stroke of luck.

Well basically how I applied [for the scholarship], I literally got a shot. When I got my second dose two weeks later, a nurse said 'Hey do you know about this [scholarship giveaway]?' And I said, 'no,' and then she helped me sign up for it. When I got picked I thought it was a scam... Imposter syndrome [motivates me to perform.] I haven't been a good student. But me getting a random lottery, like being here and [having] everything paid for me, that's kind of pushed me. [I think how] these kids are paying tons of money, their parents are. They're going to be in debt for the rest of their lives. I don't [have to go into debt.] I have the opportunity to not do that. And if I want to actually make the most of it, then I need to get my shit together [or else] this opportunity could have gone to someone way more deserving. I'm trying, I really am, and trying not to throw [the opportunity] away.

Adeline felt positively about the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on her college experience, which began during the fall 2020 semester. WVU's COVID-related protocols and adjustments made the large university in a comparatively urban setting more hospitable to Adeline, whose graduating class consisted of her and one additional student. Now in her fourth semester of college, each semester has become a new learning experience that she was more prepared for based on the previous experience.

Honestly, if it wasn't for COVID, I don't think I'd be here [at WVU]. COVID has really been a blessing in my life. Like seriously I don't think I'd be in college if it wasn't for COVID. People's like you're crazy. I'm like I truly don't think so because it transitioned me into college a perfect amount. Literally I just took steppingstones and entered into it. [College] didn't hit me like all at once... for instance, we had a lot of classes online and my classes were very small... I had no one on my dorm floor. I didn't have a roommate either. There were six people on my floor. That was just like perfect for me. So each semester I've just kept taking stepping stones and gradually getting into [college]. And this semester [spring 2022] is really when it all went back and running like 100% which is really perfect for me because I gradually introduced myself into it.

## Summary: COVID-19

The impacts of COVID-19 were salient for all study participants both before and during college. All participants were in high school when the pandemic began and experienced varying levels of technology and accessibility issues that impacted their learning. During college, participants felt the impact of COVID differently. Many caught COVID, although none reported falling seriously ill. There were worries for their families back home, especially for Faith who was raised by her grandparents. Participants reported varying feelings of discomfort and

displeasure with masking and social distancing protocols. In particular, Marla detailed the stress of contact tracing for students who were trying to follow the rules and procedures. The pandemic also impacted students' social experiences by limiting the number of in-person activities. Faith and Grant felt this negatively impacted their opportunities to make new friends, while Marla felt it gave her the opportunity to become closer than ever with friends from her high school. Ella and Adeline actually credited the COVID-19 pandemic for their college attendance and success, respectively.

## **RQ1 SUMMARY: THE LIFGRWV EXPERIENCE**

The present study seeks to add to the body of student retention literature by highlighting the experiences of low-income, first-generation, rural (LIFGR) students from West Virginia. These narrative interviews help fill the gap omitting this group from the literature. This matters because there is a growing recognition that successful retention of underrepresented groups may require institutions to depart from the assumption that integration is a one-way street where students must assimilate into the institutional context.

The literature review showed that low SES students with greater levels of unmet financial need are more likely to work more than 20 hours per week than higher SES students (Titus, 2006). However, the participants in this study did not fit this mold, perhaps because of significant parental support and subsidized education through the WV PROMISE scholarship and other scholarship programs such as HSTA and COVID-19 awards. While Faith did stress the impact of financial challenges, perhaps more financially challenged students were not able to participate in the study due to their work commitments.

The literature review detailed the challenges first-generation college students face, and the stories of the West Virginia LIFGRs were largely aligned with the literature. They felt that their parents, though supportive, were not effective in helping them understand or navigate the college environment and its expectations. Several study participants mentioned family pressures to attend college (Embry, Mason, Grant) or to succeed in college (Embry, Adeline, Marla). However, a majority of study participants' experiences (Grant, Mason, Marla, Adeline) deviated from prior first-generation student research suggesting that first-generation students have lower than average academic performance. This aligns with some previous studies on rurality that suggest rural students are more likely than their non-rural counterparts to benefit from factors that are associated with increased academic achievement (Wells et. al, 2019). Previous literature highlighted the tensions between staying and leaving a rural community. The students in the present study largely had wide support to leave their rural communities to go to a more urban setting to receive their education. While there were some difficult transitions and tears shed when going off to college, by and large the participants' families were supportive and encouraging of their children to leave.

Previous research suggested that rural students have difficulty with time management, the anonymity of attending a larger school, and exhibit anxiety when engaging with diversity (Heinisch, 2017; Yenney-Henderson, 2019). However, the present study does not completely align with these findings. Ella, Embry and Mason both reported challenges with time management, but Ella contributed those to her essentially giving up in high school during the COVID-19 pandemic, Embry felt it was due to poor mental health, and Mason reported it yet still managed to earn a 4.0 in his first semester of engineering. Other participants like Adeline, Grant, Marla and Faith reported strong time management skills. Specifically, Marla and Adeline credited their rural high schools with preparing them for the rigor and expectations of time management necessary to succeed in college level work. While students did mention the adjustment period from a rural to a large setting, most reported enjoying the change of pace a

larger setting provided, and two specifically praised the diversity present on WVU's campus compared to their hometown. No participants reported a discomfort or anxiety with diversity.

The present study reinforced Tieken's (2017) study that educational inequities are intimately tied to geography. All seven narratives help paint a picture of how rurality impacts the educational experience. For example, Embry's large consolidated high school gave her STEMbased educational opportunities as early as middle school. In contrast, Grant's lack of qualified teachers left him feeling nervous and unprepared for college level coursework. Mason's school did not offer any additional math courses for him to take after the tenth grade. Adeline's rural private school did not have a social studies curriculum and very few previous graduates had ever attempted higher education.

Chenowith and Galliher (2004) reported that Appalachian students seem to experience an internal conflict of identity struggle more acutely than most students. Wilson et al. (2018) found that Appalachian students experienced greater levels of externalized tethering (or the pressure to provide external resources of time or money to the family) but the participants in the present study do not seem to reflect either of these findings. This may be because students who opted to participate in the study felt confident, or may be a reflection of the communication and connectedness technology available today that was not available at the time of these prior studies.

Prior research showed that Appalachian students' dialects can be a source of stigmatization in the higher education setting (Dunstan & Jaeger, 2016). Two students specifically mentioned experiencing stigmatization on the basis of their accents, but neither reported facing this stigmatization by a faculty member or staff member of the university.

## **EXPECTATIONS & THE INSTITUTIONAL LAND-GRANT NARRATIVE**

# Research Question 2: How do the postsecondary experiences of low-income first-generation college students from rural West Virginia align with their expectations and the institutional land-grant narrative?

Two themes are salient in describing how the postsecondary experiences of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginia students aligned with their expectations and the institutional and-grant narrative: rurality and the land-grant concept. The comparisons and contrasts between their rural upbringings and their ideas of Morgantown and WVU shaped their expectations of what to expect regarding their college experiences. Six of seven participants were asked directly about their knowledge and thoughts on the land-grant concept (the seventh, Embry, was not asked due to time constraints because her interview took a turn in another direction providing rich insights in other areas). Study participants were unaware of what it meant for WVU to be a land-grant university. After being provided with a brief description of the meaning, all study participants felt that WVU lived up to the notion of having a calling as a land-grant university. Adeline described it as exceeding her expectations, saying, "college is not as treacherous as I imagined it."

Marla and Faith both described WVU as being financially accessible to any West Virginians who worked hard in in school. Faith shared that her out-of-state friends described WVU's non-resident tuition as less expensive than in-state tuition in their home states, a fact that seemed to surprise her. Marla discussed this idea:

I would agree with [the notion WVU is accessible to the people of West Virginia], if you really wanted to go here and you don't have the means financially to go here, you could make it. You could if you really wanted to because there's so many loan opportunities and scholarship opportunities... I always tried to get straight A's and I would study for the SAT and stuff and I ended up being valedictorian and like getting all the scholarships.

I [said to my dad] you can keep your savings [for my college] if you want it because I got like a full academic ride here. Even any background that you come from, I feel like if you really had your heart in it, I feel like you could get the means to come here. I feel like that's huge because if you compare in-state [in WV] with the girl I'm living with next year [from another state] she said in-state there was like \$60,000 [per year] and I think that's insane comparatively because we're an R1 school like it's not like we have bad education programs. We're really accredited in most fields so I think it's crazy that there's such a big difference [in cost] when you're getting a good education both places. So I feel like that's something WVU's doing right.

Adeline and Ella both described WVU as living up to the land-grant idea by being accessible in terms of admissions criteria. Ella's driving force to attend WVU was winning a full ride scholarship. She felt her high school grades did not reflect her full capabilities, but she was pleased that she was still able to enroll at WVU. "I didn't have good scores in high school and they still accepted me. Might be because of the money [I won] but I don't know. They still accepted me. And I know a lot of other kids that don't really have a lot, but they're able to go here too." Adeline's nontraditional high school caused some challenges when applying to some other schools in the state, but she said there was no issue with being admitted to WVU. "I just got into [WVU] like there was absolutely no problem. I applied to [two other in state schools and there] it was such a long treacherous process [for admission]. Since my transcript looks a lot different than a public-school transcript, I realized a lot of admissions offices had a difficult time reading it and understanding it. But WVU was just like yep you're in."

Mason and Faith, two study participants with minoritized identities, both framed the "land-grant" idea in terms of social acceptance. Faith said, "I had heard good things from people

that have gone up here from my hometown. I think it pretty much all ends with the land-grant thing, it's just accepting here and that's what I thought." Mason echoed this sentiment: "they kind of have like something for everybody, different things to learn... it's really cool just to see all the different classes and stuff that they offer here. I was hoping to come to a place [with lots of variety], and people who had different goals and different backgrounds. There are here. Here, it allows for that."

Grant was the only participant who expanded upon the land-grant notion beyond the confines of the WVU experience and tied it back to his rural hometown experience, where he noted WVU's frequent presence in his community. "Whenever I was in high school, I know there was always opportunities you could do like summer camps or online camps. They would have those all the time. Especially you know, even go to reach us in rural West Virginia. And so I think (WVU) does a really good job with [living up to the land-grant mission], especially with the extension service at the 4H, I think that's a prime example."

#### **RQ2 SUMMARY**

Participants were unfamiliar with the concept of the land-grant mission. However, upon learning about the purpose and brief historical overview of the creation of land-grant institutions, all participants agreed that WVU lives up to the calling. Rationales depended on their individual experiences in their communities and at WVU and mostly focused on the notion that land-grant universities ought to be accessible to state residents. Marla and Faith felt it was financially accessible not only because of the aid (need-based and merit-based) that was available to them, but also because of comparisons with their out-of-state friends' home state institution costs. Ella and Adeline reported vastly different levels of high school performance, but shared an appreciation of the accessible admissions criteria – in one case, for someone who "didn't have enough credits to actually pass" and in another case it was more accessible than other state

institutions that "had a difficult time reading and understanding" a transcript from a nontraditional high school.

## **PERCEIVED SUPPORTS AND BARRIERS**

## Research Question 3: What institutional factors do rural, low-income, first-generation students perceive as sources of support or barriers to their success, affecting their retention and persistence?

Four themes are salient in describing perceptions of low-income, first-generation rural West Virginia students regarding the institutional factors they see as sources of support or barriers to their success. Resources and supports encompassed both pre-college and in-college resources and supports such as finances, key players or influencers, and use of WVU services. Perceived barriers encompassed pre-college, in-college, internal and external perceived barriers and COVID-19, which impacted the ability of college to deliver on their expectations. Using NVIVO open coding, the seven participants mentioned resources or perceived supports 269 times compared to 114 references to barriers or perceived barriers. Despite the participants' recognition of challenges and barriers they faced, they spoke much more frequently about the resources and supports they received before and during college.

#### **RESOURCES / SUPPORTS – KEY PLAYERS**

All participants discussed various resources and supports from their pre-college and incollege experiences. Parents and guardians who encouraged college attendance to varying degrees were mentioned frequently as a support. Participants were asked when they knew they would attend college. Experiences varied widely. Two of the seven participants indicated a sense that they'd always known they would attend college: "Ever since I first thought about it," and "It was always in the books for me" without a specific moment they decided they were bound for college.

A majority of participants (four) first formed their college-going plans in middle school. Marla recalled an opportunity she had to shadow an engineer. Embry recalled impactful and formative academic experiences related to STEM education. Grant recalled becoming inspired to be a doctor from television shows he watched as a child. Adeline recalled being encouraged by her new, college-educated older stepsisters to start thinking about it, although she did not decide for herself at that time.

Two participants reported solidifying tentative plans in high school. Marla's love of STEM subjects in high school really solidified her ideas of attending college. Adeline's newfound love of reading and encouragement from her family and teachers gave her confidence to commit to attending college.

One participant (Ella) did not establish a plan to attend college until after her high school graduation. In fact, she had consciously decided NOT to attend college due to finances.

I gave up on college because I just thought I was going to work for the rest of my life, like my mom did. I was prepared to do that. Before I came here, before I even graduated, the minute I turned 18 I joined the Home Depot Warehouse making \$17.25 an hour. I thought that I was going to be doing that for the rest of my life and here I am.

Despite the variety in the timeline of decision-making, all participants described having the support of their families to attend college. Support may have looked or sounded different for each participant, but all reported having parents who were ultimately supportive of their intention to pursue higher education.

Other key players and influencers that provided sources of support included high school teachers (Marla, Embry, Mason, Adeline), guidance counselors (Faith, Marla), an uncle (Embry), friends (all), siblings (Grant, Mason, Faith, Adeline), parents' friends (Marla), social media

influencers on TikTok (Grant), and friends' parents (Ella). Marla felt she benefitted from purposefully staying close with childhood friends who accompanied her to WVU. When Marla felt like backing out of her decision to attend WVU, her friend's reassurance that they would be "each other's support systems" kept her on track. Faith expressed some disappointment in not making more new friends due to the COVID-19 pandemic, but she was quick to say how grateful she was for her friends from high school.

Honestly I have a really good friend group so I'm really thankful. There's like five of us all from my hometown and they've stuck around.... I just got lucky with that. And my friends, we like push each other kinda. We like when we study. It's motivating.

Mason made several new friends in the engineering program in his residence hall. Studying together and spending time together has been a huge support system thus far. Although his hometown was close and tight knit, he feels these friends are even better.

It's just nice to meet all these new people... I want to say they're better friends than I have back home because I feel like if they didn't have the choice they wouldn't hang out me because there's so many people here. So it's like they choose that they want to be my friend. So that's cool.

## **Resources / Supports: Finances**

All study participants self-identified as low-income and were confirmed to meet the institution's standards of financial need based on EFC. While many commented on not having significant means growing up, few expressed difficulties with financially affording WVU due to scholarships and familial support. The students in this study contrasted from previous literature that outlined the need for low-income first-generation students to work many hours per week while in school (Titus, 2006). Faith was the only student who disclosed that she once

experienced a point between semesters where she was almost completely out of money. A change in her billing, possibly due to her change in major, added a \$170 charge to her account. "They took that (financial aid) off and I was like okay well heck, so I have to pay that (\$170) now. I was coasting along fine, but then by the end of this mess I literally left sophomore year and I didn't have much money. I worked over the summer but I barely made it (financially).

Most students in the study obtained the WV Promise Scholarship (Marla, Mason, Embry, and Faith). Grant's education was paid for with the HSTA award, Ella's through the COVID-19 drawing raffle, and Adeline's through various grants and scholarships. Marla, class valedictorian, recalled that her parents had been able to save some money for college, but she told them to keep it. "I was so thankful for all the scholarships I got too because like the financial problem wasn't really a problem [for me]."

Mason also had no cost for college, but in contrast to Marla's parents, his did not have any savings set aside. His parents expected him to do well enough in school to earn scholarships. Faith and her older brother did not have much means set aside for college, but could attend because of the Promise Scholarship so long as they stayed in state. "Because of the Promise [scholarship] like is pretty much the only reason [my brother and I] are going [to college]," she said.

Adeline's tuition is covered by scholarships, but her father provides money for her cost of living and incidentals. She feels some guilt knowing that he works so hard while she "just" goes to school. But she and her father agree that school is her job – especially since she's performing so well. She was deeply moved to be the first student from her high school to receive a scholarship offered by the school. "That alone made me break down in tears. They're very supportive of me. They still think about me now and always contact me."

Ella's financial path to college was unconventional. She never imagined she'd be able to afford college, and then a scholarship fell into her lap from a statewide giveaway. She recalled, "[the fund] had \$100,000 in it when I first got it. They really said four years. It's got my tuition, room and board, my food plan, and books and I got a laptop."

It is important to note the findings of this study suggest that financial accessibility seems to lessen tensions around college going. Rural areas often demonstrate skepticism or question the utility or relevance of higher education (i.e. Adeline's fellow graduate who thought she was "crazy" for going to college). However, financial support changes the conversation and negates some of the hesitance to give higher education a try. Of all participants, the only student who did not retain to the start of the following academic year was on academic probation at the time of the study interviews, which typically leads to the loss of institutional aid.

## **Resources / Supports – Institutional**

Study participants mentioned several resources they have benefitted from while at WVU. These include student organizations, professional organizations, academic-affiliated groups, tutoring, academic advising, diversity programming and mental health services. Five participants specifically mentioned their academic advisor (Marla, Mason, Faith, Adeline, Embry), and six specifically mentioned tutoring as resources and supports provided by the institution (Marla, Mason, Grant, Ella, Adeline, Embry).

In addition to the financial support Grant has received from HSTA, he benefitted from his involvement in high school and continues to benefit now as a college student. Pre-college, he attended statewide HSTA activities with other high school students across the state. Now, he's enrolled in college alongside them, and participating in the collegiate side of the program. In addition to his medical school coach, HSTA provides him with a sense of community. This aligns with Garriot & Nisle's (2018) finding that when students have the chance to observe and

know someone "like them" on campus, it can positively affect the relationship between a student's stress levels and perceived academic goal progress.

It's nice to kind of actually get to know them a little bit better. It is good to talk to them, especially about the academic rigor of stuff coming here because they're from [various] rural communit[ies]. It's definitely been nice to kind of hear how they've struggled but still came out on the upper side of it. That's nice to hear from other students that are almost going through the same exact thing that you are, and kind of like get tips from them. That I really like. For instance, the girl I'm paired up with [as a medical school coach] she actually failed her first semester of medical school. So she had to take a year off and fix those classes and now she's starting back. I hate that for her, but it was nice for me to hear that you can fail and still continue on this path. It's not like you have to be this perfect A plus student all the way through, because that's just not going to happen... I think [these other students] honestly care about you a lot. The actual leader of our HSTA group Dr. Epps, he's really good about like really caring about you. He'll help you in any way that he can.

Adeline credited the Student Support Services/ TRiO office with helping her every step of the way. They've provided guidance, helped connect her with a tutor at no cost, and have provided events and activities that helped her feel connected on campus. "There's a lot of support there. I love all of them. They're the most kindest people ever [sic]. They actually want to help me." Embry similarly found a great deal of support in the campus mental health center, which she attributed to helping her throughout what had been an unexpectedly difficult transition. "I was having too many panic attacks for me to be able to function. So I just started going to therapy, which was really good. My therapist [at the center] was absolutely wonderful

and she was a perfect person to talk to."

Ella was the only student enrolled in a freshman seminar course at the time of the interview, and she credited this course as a supportive resource to her acclimation to college life. Uniquely, she also expressed that WVU fostered a stronger sense of community than she experienced in her hometown due to the expanded resources available and ample opportunities to meet new people. "Being up here it's a lot more like community. I know a lot of people say small towns are community based, and everyone knows everyone. No they don't. They don't care about you... [Here] if I wanted to meet someone I could strike up a conversation at [the student union coffee shop]... Then someone else will start a conversation. I do like that." Faith appreciated the attention drawn to diversity on campus, and said that the email invitations and flyers for activities for diverse students made her feel welcome and supported. "I get emails and stuff about (diversity) and how they want people to group together and come support it, so I definitely feel supported by the school [regarding diversity]."

Some participants talked about specific clubs, events or activities on campus that were meaningful to them. Grant attended a panel discussion for first generation exercise physiology majors. "Any of the ex phys professors that were first generation actually came and talked about how... they made the adjustment and what it was like for them. I'd say that was a really nice thing for me to be able to hear, that like yeah there's a professor who was a first-generation college student at one point in time. I think that was good to hear about." Mason had the opportunity to connect with the head of the biomedical engineering department. Although he was nervous about the opportunity at first, he was so glad that he did it. He felt that her encouragement directly impacted his desire to stay enrolled at WVU and continue pursuing his field, and joined the biomedical engineering club as a result. Marla and Embry are both members

of Society of Women Engineers. In fact, Marla even was able to attend their virtual conference for free thanks to support from her academic advisor "[my advisor is] probably the main way I felt supported. You know they want the best for you."

Overall, study participants felt very well supported by the institution. A quote from Grant sums it up well:

I think the biggest [adjustment] is adjusting to what I consider city life [in Morgantown]. You have all of these business and resources at your fingertips. I don't know about other colleges, but I think that West Virginia University is very good with having student success opportunities and things like that. There's always people you can go to for help.

The participants overwhelmingly shared about support systems in place to help them succeed in college. Familial support came in the form of mothers (Embry, Grant, Mason, Marla, Ella), fathers (Marla, Grant, Mason, Embry, Adeline), grandparents (Faith), siblings (Grant, Mason, Faith, Adeline), and other relatives (Embry). Family friends with industry connections or knowledge of the college-going process were also influential (Marla, Ella). High school teachers and guidance counselors also provided support for many (Marla, Mason, Embry, Faith, Adeline). New and existing peer friendships while in college also provided support to all participants. Participants had varying degrees and sources of financial support in college. Some participants paid entirely for their schooling with merit based and need based aid (Mason, Grant, Marla). Adeline and Embry relied on a mix of familial support and need-based or merit-based aid. Faith relied wholly on need-based aid, and Ella paid for school using winnings from a raffle drawing. Institutional resources such as academic advising, tutoring, and student organizations were salient for several participants. Most participants indicated specific programs or services such as the first-year seminar (Ella), HSTA (Grant), diversity programming (Faith), mental health services (Embry) and SSS/TRiO (Adeline).

## **PERCEIVED BARRIERS**

References to perceived barriers were less frequent than references to perceived supports, but salient themes related to perceived barriers to college success were present. These included lack of resources in a rural hometown, adjustment from a rural to less rural environment, firstgeneration status, mental and physical health, stigma toward WV students and the COVID-19 pandemic.

## **BARRIER: RURALITY**

Participants often cited a lack of resources and adjustment to a less rural setting as a barrier. Grant felt the rurality of his hometown contributed to educational barriers, specifically, a lack of teachers generally as well as a lack of certified teachers. Due to his accelerated studies, he did not have many options for upper-level high school coursework.

A lot of times we literally just had like anyone with a four-year degree come in and teach... The few certified teachers we had, even they weren't super focused on schoolwork because they, like most of our students there, were not interested [in going to college] so it wasn't any need to be assigning a ridiculous amount of work because [the students] weren't going to do it either way. I think that was kind of hard, because we were never really taught how you should be... I think that's really hard to [come from where I'm from and] really have that good foundation coming [to WVU]... I pretty much finished high school in two years, so I really had two years left I needed to do something [else]. I [decided to] take online college classes to help me later. A lot of kids don't do that, you know. So they just take a bunch of random classes, or they take classes over and over again because it's like grades don't really matter to them.

Both Grant and Adeline also remarked on the lack of internet access in their rural hometowns as a barrier. Although Grant lived in a place that got decent internet, he was one of very few students in his school with that privilege. Adeline's home and school had the "world's worst internet" and said she doesn't know "anyone that has good internet" in her hometown. With everything from homework to college applications to college prep occurring predominantly online, this lack of internet connectivity presented a significant barrier.

Adjusting from a more rural hometown into a larger environment at WVU posed challenges for some participants regarding population size/ class size (Marla, Mason, Adeline) as well as with the distance from their familial support system (Grant, Faith, Ella). Finding new ways to be successful in these significantly larger class sizes while away from their familial support systems required flexibility and perseverance.

Participants regularly experienced class sizes of 200-300 students and found the experience to be overwhelming, at least at first. This was a significant adjustment for most participants, as their entire graduating high school classes were smaller than this one single college classroom: 130 (Mason), 99 (Faith), 68 (Marla), 60 (Grant), 2 (Adeline).

As Mason explained, "I had a biology class last semester, I think it was like 300 kids and I was a little overwhelmed because I felt like I didn't get any one on one with the teacher. It was hard because I'm used to that. So it was a little overwhelming." Marla also experienced feeling overwhelmed with the larger class sizes. However, she was relieved when she realized most classes of this size are typically lower level, less difficult courses.

I was overwhelmed by the idea of having so many kids in my class. I read about it online because I was like it would be terrifying to be in a very difficult class and not be able to ask the professor any questions because he has like 400 other students... that's

intimidating. But I did some more research [and realized] it's just for pre reqs. Once you get more major specific is when you have like 30 or something [students in a class].

Adeline's tiny nontraditional high school required her to complete a lot of work independently. She had never sat in a class lecture before. "One of the deepest struggles I really struggled with is sitting in a classroom listening to a professor. I know that sounds stupid, but that is one of my biggest struggles. I can gain more from reading a book than I can listening to a professor. I don't know if my attention span is just horrible, or I just can't absorb information [in this way] but I'm getting a lot better."

Other participants expressed that leaving their families and loved ones behind posed a challenge or barrier to overcome. Faith called not having her loved ones always there a "negative" of her college experience. Grant felt that moving from a rural community to the "big city of Morgantown" was an adjustment and found it difficult to feel so far away from home so often. And Ella said that as she prepared for her transition to Morgantown, one of the top stressors on her mind was about leaving her mom and social support system. "I haven't left my family for less than two weeks [before this] so basically I was like [long pause]... Oh fuck. What am I going to do? I was trying to think in my head who I knew up here, it was basically no one... I really didn't have anyone up here."

## **BARRIER: FIRST GENERATION STATUS**

Six of seven of participants expressed various challenges with being a first-generation student. The seventh (Mason) mentioned that his older brother, the first in his family to attend college, experienced challenges that Mason could observe and learn from and not have to personally experience for himself. Other students mentioned various challenges related to firstgeneration status such as difficulty completing the FAFSA, a lack of first-generation centered

134

programming, an inability to rely on parents for guidance and support, and a disconnect with parents when trying to explain their college experiences.

Faith, Marla, and Ella all felt a first-generation barrier was FAFSA completion. Without this document on file, they would not have been eligible for the financial aid that made their college attendance possible. Marla and Faith both described feeling a bit overwhelmed that they had to complete the FAFSA on their own, with Faith saying "I basically had to do it myself." Ella did have support from a friend's mom to complete the FAFSA, but that form of support came with its own challenge or barrier – driving a wedge between her and her mother.

Filling out the FAFSA before college is not the only financial related barrier related to first-generation status. Embry experienced difficulties trying to explain a financial aid issue to her mom. Her mom was growing impatient that the issue was not yet resolved.

She's like 'Well I don't understand why you can't just [take care of it].' And I'm like okay, but you haven't been to college and I'm not saying that's a bad thing, I'm just saying there's kind of a disconnect with communication and like dealing with certain things in college.

Faith, Grant and Adeline all described the challenges as a first-generation college student when trying to relate with parents, grandparents, or friends who do not have familiarity with college. Faith and Grant both felt at a disadvantage compared to peers whose families could provide guidance, input and support. While they felt the institution provided great resources to help, there was a sense that it's just not the same as having someone close in your life who can guide you through it.

As Faith noted,

My grandparents [had] no idea what to do so ... once I'm here [ in college] the classes and stuff they didn't know how it worked. I didn't have anyone to base it off except my brother because he is a year ahead of me, but he goes to [a different school] so it didn't really help... [I didn't know] what to expect because no one in my family knew what to tell me since I'm a first-generation student.

Grant relayed a similar experience:

Really no one even close anywhere in my family went to college, so we were kind of on our own trying to figure that out... I feel like those college classes I did in high school helped but coming [to college] was a big adjustment and still is. I'm still trying to figure things out... I think just not having a parent that you can kind of call on to [ask] 'how'd you do this in college?' or you know, like 'what would you recommend I do because you went through the same thing?' If they haven't went through what you're trying to do, it's just like really flying blind... The school has a lot of different resources if you're first generation, but definitely not on the level as if you could just have a parent that's been there.

For Grant, the fear of the unknown associated with not having many role models who attended college manifested in panic during his New Student Orientation meeting where he began to register for his first semester of coursework. While the outcome of Grant's first semester was extremely positive, the initial stress and anxiety was a barrier in his way.

[The advisor was] telling me all these classes I was going to have to take. It was biology, chemistry, exercise physiology, psychology. I started freaking out. I'm like what did I just get myself into? Like I don't know how I'm going to do this. So I told them 'Hey I need to just take a break for a minute I'll be right back.' I literally left the room and I was

like I don't know what I'm doing. I was so scared because I was like, I think I just made a really big mistake because I do not think that I can do this. It was really scary. Then I ended up here and I mean I ended up President's List my first semester.

Adeline was not only the first in her family to attend college, but she was the first from her high school to attend a comprehensive university like WVU. She recalled that some people (family, friends, and classmates) thought she was "crazy" despite being supportive of her choice to attend. Despite the fact that many in her community found it strange that she wished to attend college, she feels proud of her accomplishments and how she was able to set a new precedent for students in her high school.

I mean no one in my school went to university. Maybe to a smaller technical college... but I'm the first for my school to go to a university like WVU... The boy I graduated with works for the pipeline. I mean he thought I was crazy coming to college, like 'why would you want to do that to yourself?'... But I sort of like created a path for all these other kids [from my school] that want to [go to a large university].

Marla described that one barrier or challenge she faces as a first-generation student is not having many opportunities to connect with fellow first-generation students or have support systems specifically dedicated toward first-generation students. While she was overall very pleased with the resources and supports available at WVU, she identified this as an opportunity for growth that could further improve the university's offerings.

I thought there was gonna be more first-generation stuff [on campus] and I haven't really seen anything... If there was first gen academic advisors that like specialized in that, I feel like that'd be nice. That'd be pretty cool meeting other first generation [students]. I feel like first generations from Appalachia though would be even cooler, because I feel

like if you're first generation and from a rural area it's different because you're not really exposed to people [who have attended college].

Although many participants expressed pride in their first-generation status, they also acknowledged that it creates barriers that they perceive their non-first-generation peers do not have to face. Challenges with paperwork, financial aid, understanding how college works, overcoming questioning from folks in their hometown, and having access to a network of fellow first-generation students were all cited as barriers caused by first-generation status. The students in the present study did not overwhelmingly display the external influences in previous firstgeneration student literature such as lack of time spent on campus, time spent working in a job, and ties to home communities (Soria & Stebleton, 2012).

# BARRIER: MENTAL AND PHYSICAL HEALTH

Embry's mental and physical health struggles impeded her academic success, even with treatment. Ella's mental health struggles are undiagnosed and she does not wish to seek treatment on campus. Marla's physical illnesses caused her to perform poorly on an exam that was weighted so heavily in her final grade that she had to take and pay for the course a second time despite doing well in the class otherwise.

Embry's hometown was a place where she knew everyone and didn't interact with strangers often. The transition to WVU caused social anxiety for the first couple months of her college career which impacted her mental wellbeing and academic success.

I got in a rut and had a lot of issues with mental health, especially being so far away from my family and I had ... a really big falling out with my roommate. I got really depressed and I stopped doing work. It was very scary for my mom because I would call her crying. I was in therapy. I had all kinds of stuff going on. I got sick a lot, like I got pneumonia,

the flu and COVID all last semester. I struggled a lot and my grades suffered. I got put on academic probation.

139

Ella had only been in college for about half of one semester at the time of her interview. She described having "pretty bad anxiety" but expressed an unwillingness to seek out campus mental health services due to negative things she'd heard about the service from friends.

I am scared to reach out to [the campus mental health center]. At the same time I can't really do anything about [my anxiety] until I get it professionally diagnosed and either get on meds or some other thing for it. Someone told me I could get diagnosed at [the campus mental health center] and I'm like no, I'm not going there.

Marla, who was valedictorian of her high school, described sickness as a barrier to her college success. She had multiple sinus infections and other colds during her first semester. Missing one exam caused her to retake one class over the summer, which is not covered by financial aid.

The grading in there was so weird. I'd never had a class like that. It was like the only grades you have in that entire class was exams. So if you did bad on one exam, then you could fail the entire class. I failed the second exam so that tanked my grade. It was irreversible. There was no like recovery so that's kind of sad. It was so frustrating though, because I knew the content. But I literally couldn't breathe or see my paper because my eyes were watering so bad. I literally just wrote stuff down and turned it in. I was like I have to get out of here.

#### **BARRIER: STIGMA TOWARD WEST VIRGINIANS**

Embry and Adeline both experienced stigma of being from rural West Virginia from fellow students. In addition to the stigma Embry experienced from a fellow aspiring aerospace engineer about the quality of a West Virginia education, she also dealt with negative comments from her roommate and her roommate's mother. This was a major contributor to roommate issues that impacted her mental wellbeing and academic success.

She was from Delaware and she liked to mock people from West Virginia and that just didn't sit right with me. I got into plenty of arguments with not only her, but her mother about it. Her mother posting on Facebook about, you know, 'I stayed in a hotel in Morgantown yesterday and it was bad' and people commenting, 'what do you expect, it's West Virginia.' I just felt like it wasn't good for either of us to live together.

While Adeline's experience was less hostile, it was still impactful enough that it manifested in the interview. Her roommates are from Virginia Beach, North Carolina, and New Jersey and were not from rural areas.

It's a big cultural difference. [My roommate comments] on some of the stuff I say. Half the time she looks at me like 'what the crap is this girl even talking about?' And she does not understand me most of the time. I think to be honest, I truly deep-down think that she thinks I'm an idiot. She sort of treats me like I'm stupid. There's just a big cultural difference there.

# **BARRIER: IMPACT OF COVID 19**

All participants mentioned the impacts of COVID at various stages of their college preparatory or college going experiences. Challenges during the college preparation stage included internet access and geographic access. Challenges persisted once participants were enrolled in college as the pandemic created social barriers (more challenging to forge new friendships) and academic barriers (online education, adjusting to college level coursework during a global pandemic).

140

Marla had to drive 35 minutes one way to town to submit her high school homework.

"The Governor put internet in each public library for the students if you have one of those school emails. I would have to drive to the library to get that. That was the closest library, it's about 35 minutes one way."

Grant was a junior in high school when the COVID-19 pandemic hit in March 2020. He recalled that during his senior year, his schooling included about six weeks of completely online instruction.

They told us, 'you're going to be out of school for two weeks.' You know, everyone's just panicking. And we ended up being out for the rest of the year... Honestly this sounds crazy I remember the number: It was March 13; it was a Friday and we never came back to school. We didn't do any education at all from then on, because they weren't like ready to be at home [work from home/ technology wise] and we didn't have computers or good Internet at all to do it. So we literally did absolutely nothing from the beginning of March to the end of that school year. We did nothing.

And Grant felt he was one of the lucky ones because he had relatively strong internet access due to living close to one of the nearby schools.

I would always be able to get onto the Teams meetings. But [it was common] for me to be the only one on [the Teams meetings] because students really could not get on[line]. You know I say for my junior year [from] March to the end of that year we didn't do the education, but for a lot of kids, even... that next year they still didn't really get to learn much of anything because they couldn't do anything from their house. They couldn't get on to any of the meetings or even do homework. They didn't have [internet]. So I think that definitely impacted [them] and that really worries me a lot. My sister [who is a teacher] has said too that she can tell the kids are definitely not where they should be. It's not their fault. You know, I mean they've just been out of school for so long. They just aren't where they should be.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic ended up being a stroke of luck for Ella in some ways (as she was the winner of a raffle for young West Virginians who received the COVID-19 vaccine), she also described how the pandemic decreased her motivation for school. She did not have prior intentions to attend college due to financial barriers, so when COVID-19 struck, she stopped completing any schoolwork. "I didn't do anything [school-wise] the first year of COVID." This has come back to negatively impact her college academic success because she did not have the same level of preparation that she may have had if the pandemic and online education didn't occur.

Marla described COVID-19 as a barrier to becoming familiar with the physical layout of campus in advance of her first semester. Her freshmen orientation experience was on Zoom. "I feel like it would have been super beneficial for my parents and I to come up here together [before the semester started]. Our first time up here was move in day and it was so chaotic. It was terrible." In RQ1, Marla's experience recounted how WVU's COVID-19 contact tracing protocol created added stress and confusion for students.

#### SUMMARY OF RQ3

Participants' perceptions of support encompassed financial supports, having key players or influencers in their lives, pre-college resources and use of WVU resources, including on campus involvement for some participants. Participants spoke much less about barriers, but did perceive their first-generation student status, relative lack of resources in their rural hometowns, mental and physical health, stigma toward West Virginians and COVID-19 as barriers to their success.

# **CHAPTER V**

The present study approaches research from sociocultural and critical lenses by understanding the realities constructed by the narrators to share their experiences. This perspective shapes the study through the stories of research participants and has implications for leaders in higher education to reflect on current practices and consider making changes or implementing new initiatives to better support the retention and academic success of this population. The present project posits two frameworks – social and cultural capital (classed) and spatial justice (spaced) - can further illuminate existing retention literature as it relates to the retention and persistence of low-income, first-generation, rural students from West Virginia. The chapter concludes with a researcher reflection that analyzes the participants' experiences from the interactive voice (Chase, 2005), where results are viewed through theoretical lenses and researcher reflection, and the researcher serves as narrator.

# FRAMEWORK I: BOURDIEU'S FORMS OF CAPITAL (CLASSED)

Bourdieu argued that the formal education system not only reproduces social inequality, but also provides legitimacy to existing social class structures by equating class distinctions into merit-based distinctions based on academic achievement within a classed system (Bourdieu, 1973). Through the lens of his work, individual actors' quality and quantity of various forms of capital and their position within a society interact with societal norms and social structures internalized over time (Bourdieu, 1971; 1990).

Cultural capital refers to the symbolic elements like skills, tastes, clothing, information, mannerisms or credentials that one acquires through being a member of a particular social class. It is valued by members of the upper class but is not taught in schools (Bourdieu, 1977, 1987). Several study participants alluded to not having access to cultural capital prior to college by

lacking exposure to upper class norms as they are from rural, low-income areas. For example, Mason recalled sitting in his school parking lot for fun because there were no other public spaces to spend time, and not enough resources in time or money to drive to an area with more activity or recreation. Similarly, Adeline commented that her upbringing was mostly centered on her own home place, which included her small house and her father's towing business. She recalled "I just have been used to being around trucks, vehicles and equipment all the time. That's basically my hometown. There ain't much to talk about it... ain't nothing that really goes on." Grant described jealousy of his fellow college students who hailed from better-resourced hometowns, explaining that he lacked access to cultural capital related to opportunities through his very rural school. "It's kind of hard to do a lot of things... we don't really have a lot of money to do [sports and school projects] so our stuff suffer[s] compared to other schools." Marla described her parents' lack of capital of educational attainment as one of the most salient inspirations for her to attend college, saying "My dad really wanted to go to college when he was out of high school. He just couldn't... I was just like if he didn't get to do it because he didn't have the right things, like, I have the right things and if I want to do it I might as well." She went on to say that the challenge imposed by first-generation status was broader than just her own family. "I feel like if you're first generation and from a rural area it's different [than being firstgeneration in a non-rural area]. Because you're not really exposed to people who have [a college education]. Most of the people in my county don't have college degrees."

Through the lens of cultural and social capital, students succeed in college because of their ability to understand and correctly perform to the social norms of the elite classes who dominate the field, or by utilizing their social connections (Bourdieu & Passeron, 2000). The participants of the present study differ from higher education's traditional or dominant class in

multiple ways: they identify as low-income (college has traditionally been for the wealthy); they identify as first-generation (continuing generation students are more likely to be endowed with education related social/cultural capital by their parents and are a dominant group within higher education); they identify as rural (rural students are a minority of higher education participants and may have less access or proximity to valued forms of capital); they identify as West Virginian (West Virginia has one of the lowest college-going rates in the nation); and some study participants also differ from the dominant class in regard to race/ethnicity (Faith, Mason) and gender (Faith, Marla, Embry, Ella, Adeline) and sexual orientation (Ella).

These points of divergence between the research participants' positionalities and higher education's institutional norms and values may make it more difficult for these individuals to culturally and socially integrate and succeed within the academy through the lens of this framework. Previous research demonstrates that students with lived experiences unaligned with what is valued and normalized within higher education may struggle with feelings of inadequacy as they try to fit in (Ardoin, 2019; Barratt, 2011).

#### CAPITAL AND EXPECTATIONS: BRIDGING CLASS DIVIDES

The cost and structure of higher education can lead to poor and working-class students being funneled into less selective institutions, suggesting that these students do not have the same access to opportunities to build the kind of social and cultural capital valued by society as wealthier students do (Stich, 2012). As a land-grant in an under-resourced state, WVU does not have competitively selective admission criteria. Some participants (Ella, Adeline) remarked on the ease of admission and the accessibility afforded them that they might not have received elsewhere.

Several participants (Faith, Grant, Marla, and Embry) mentioned that they attended WVU due to financial accessibility. Mason described WVU as a place that allowed "a variety of people

with different goals and different backgrounds" to succeed. Some students (Adeline, Embry, Faith) had considered other institutions but ultimately chose WVU for the cost. Others (Marla, Adeline, Ella) described their reaction to the cost of out of state-tuition some of their fellow students pay. Marla shared that her family had saved some funds for her college education. However, they did not need to use the funds due to the merit-based scholarships she received, and the relative low cost afforded her at the state's land grant.

My dad had made [my college savings account] when I was like six months old, so I was set. But... I ended up being valedictorian and getting all the scholarships. I was like you can keep your savings, because I got a full academic ride here... I think it's crazy that there's such a big difference [in cost] when [both options offer] a good education. So I feel like that's something WVU's doing right.

Overall, participants felt that WVU lived up to the land-grant concept by being financially accessible, eliminating class barriers to enable greater access. This aligns with Rowan-Kenyon et al's (2017) finding that social capital is not necessary to persistence, but that discrepancies in the amount of social capital a student has can be mitigated by institutional actions.

## CAPITAL AND EXPERIENCES: DECLINING SOCIAL CAPITAL AND CULTURAL DIVIDES

Research participants demonstrated shared experiences regarding cultural and social capital. Past studies have suggested that rural youth attribute their success to small town community social capital, where their involvement in that community was more likely to expose them to the kind of social capital that leads to college access and success (Nelson, 2018; Beasley, 2017). Most study participants (Adeline, Embry, Marla, Grant, Faith and Mason) attributed some of their college preparatory success to teachers or school-based initiatives within their rural home communities.

One common experience was the transition of having high levels of social capital in their rural home community to having relatively lower levels of social capital and higher levels of anonymity within the WVU community. This was challenging for some participants. Marla described it in terms of the social capital she enjoyed with teachers at her high school compared with that of her college professors.

In my high school, the biggest class I've ever been in before college was 16 or 17 [students]. You could go up to the teacher at any point in time during class... and if you needed help after school the teachers would stay in their rooms for 30 minutes after... so I was scared [about the size of WVU] because a lot of times [that one on one time is] what helped me understand [course content].

Mason had a similar experience, adding, "I had a biology class last semester [with] 300 kids and I was a little overwhelmed because I didn't get any one on one with the teacher and it was hard because I'm used to that." Mason also experienced this transition with his experience of living in a residence hall.

I was nervous, to be honest. I'm not a super outgoing person so living in the dorms with random people because I don't know any of my roommates [from before college] was scary, just because I was so used to that small town and knowing everybody. Then I came to a whole new place where I'd stay in a room with people I didn't know and go to class with people I didn't know. It was very overwhelming.

Adeline's experience with roommates reflected differences in cultural capital and possibly a lack of alignment with the capital valued in her hometown compared to the capital valued in the college setting. Adeline described a roommate who did not know how to boil water for cooking or how to clean the house, which were daily expectations for Adeline throughout her

childhood. She described her roommates' reactions to the code switching she exhibits after a weekend home with her family. "My roommates will be like, 'what's this woman even talking about?' It's probably because I've been home for too long." She described the disconnect between her and her roommates as a "big cultural difference."

Some of the stuff I say, half the time [my roommate] looks at me like what the crap is this girl even talking about? She does not understand me most of the time. I think, to be honest, I truly deep down think that she thinks I'm an idiot. She sort of treats me like I'm stupid.

Embry also had a negative experience based on cultural difference with a roommate not from West Virginia who "liked to mock people from West Virginia" and whose mother made disparaging comments about West Virginia in front of Embry. This led to a "really big falling out" which negatively impacted Embry's mental health and academic performance.

Grant shared that he experienced feelings of imposter syndrome and significant stress about obtaining the capital necessary to succeed in college. He experienced intense bouts of selfdoubt during virtual new student orientation, and during his first round of exam preparation during his first semester of college. He also shared that his decision to live in an apartment instead of a residence hall may have inadvertently created some barriers to building social bonds with peers by making it more difficult to feel connected.

I feel like living off campus is [both] a good and bad thing. I was just like really adamant about it. I didn't really want to live on campus because I just heard so many stories about the partying and constant noise and stuff. I'm not here to be like that. I really just want to come here for school.

However, Grant's social capital with his sister who recently graduated college was a key factor in overcoming these feelings.

I was really worried, like, what if I don't do good [in college]? How am I going to get the resources? I didn't know basically anything... I was so nervous and I still am... I was really worked up the whole time. I honestly don't know what I would have done if I wouldn't have had [my sister] to talk me off the ledge.

After making it through the first semester on the President's List, Grant reflected that his access to college level courses while in high school, as well his access to internet during the virtual COVID days, both forms of cultural capital, were helpful in setting the stage for college success. "I feel like those college classes I did in high school helped."

Other previous research demonstrated that finding success in college might mean giving in to dominant middle-class culture and rejecting the family to succeed in education (Corbett, 2007; Rueda, 2005). While there were examples of assimilating to expected norms (living with strangers, finding a way to succeed despite the anonymity of large class sizes, and code switching, the idea of "family rejection" did not manifest in the present study. Some did describe a disconnect in explaining higher education to their non-college educated parents or grandparents (Adeline, Embry, Faith), while others mentioned feelings of rejection for their rural hometown (Faith, Ella), and one participant described challenges of having a conflicting worldview with their parent (Ella), but no participant described feelings of rejection of their family.

Similarly, the concept of "class straddling," where poor or working-class students find themselves living in two very different realms of class identity and having to learn to function within each to be successful, was not salient in the present study. Ardoin (2018) found that class straddling could leave poor or working-class students feeling ostracized in both their home and

academic lives. While this did not manifest among participants, further work could be done on both the concepts of familial rejection and class straddling later in the students' academic careers to see how their thoughts may change or evolve over time.

McFadden (1995) and Riley (1996) both found that knowledge taught in schools sometimes contradicts working-class knowledge (a form of cultural capital in working class communities). Adeline was the only participant who communicated that some of her family and friends were puzzled or confused by her desire to pursue higher education. "They sort of thought I was crazy. Why would you want to do that to yourself?" This was an example of the cultural capital of a student's home community not being in alignment with the cultural capital of higher education. But even for Adeline, ultimately her core supporters (her father, brother, stepsisters, and teachers) were supportive of her decision to attend college.

Measures of the amount of capital parents have to invest in their children are found in characteristics such as parental education, family income and socioeconomic status (Padgett et al., 2012). Low-income, first-generation college students such as this study's research participants demonstrated varying levels of parental education, with at least two participants' parents earning a GED later in life (Ella, Faith), others completing a high school diploma (Embry, Marla, Grant's father); and others who had attempted college (Mason, Grant's mother), and one not explicitly saying the level of their parents' education (Adeline). The experience of being a first-generation college student did manifest in the narratives of their college experiences, and the findings show cultural divides negatively affected the academic and social experiences on campus for some study participants.

## PERCEIVED INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORTS AND BARRIERS TO BUILDING CAPITAL

Previous research (Engle & Tinto, 2008) found low-income and first-generation students were less likely to be engaged in academic and social experiences, or institutional factors, that

contribute to success like studying in groups, interacting with faculty and peers, or utilizing resources and support services. Hlinka (2017) found that incongruent priorities between the institution and its first-generation Appalachian students was a hurdle to student success and retention, saying that while students may understand that education opens doors, they may not "know how to do education". Ardoin (2018) found that the cultural capital of rural, low SES or first-generation students does not equate with the cultural capital of colleges and universities, which may cause challenges for students.

In the present study, the results are mixed. A majority of participants were engaged in at least one of the areas mentioned by Engle & Tinto, mentioning various institutional factors that they have perceived as sources of support, and very few as barriers to their success. Several participants (Marla, Grant, Mason, Adeline) were succeeding greatly in the classroom and certainly seemed to know how to "do education." Others like Faith, Embry and Ella struggled with the transition to college-level work, although for different reasons. Embry was a high achieving student in high school and never learned the study skills that would have been helpful for more rigorous college level work. Furthermore, she experienced mental health struggles that significantly influenced her academic performance. Faith felt that she just was not quite prepared for the academic rigor of her first choice of major and needed to make a switch to a new major better suited for her strengths. Ella described how she purposefully stopped trying in high school due to her financial status and the COVID-19 pandemic and was not surprised about the challenges presented by collegiate level coursework given the choices she made in high school.

For students with the cultural capital to know how to "do education", or who were emulating others regarding how to "do education" (social capital), some of the sources of support included academic services. For example, Grant utilized a tutoring center.

I was not afraid to seek out help for tutoring and stuff. I know a lot of kids are like 'I don't want to be caught dead in the tutoring room' or whatever but I mean that's what they're there for, you know? I didn't want to end up with bad grades just because I didn't want to go to tutoring. That's really silly. I believe I wasn't ashamed of [going to tutoring] at all.

152

The environment at WVU was conducive to the creation of various forms of social capital that served as a resource to many of the study participants. However, the sources of this social capital varied among participants. Some students relied on strong bonds from high school that remained or strengthened during college (Faith, Marla), others relied on new roommates or friends (Mason, Ella), and others relied on institutional programs such as HSTA (Grant), student organizations (Embry), and Student Support Services (Adeline). Embry and Ella indicated fewer social bonds and participation in institutional activities than other participants did.

# FRAMEWORK II: SPATIAL JUSTICE (SPACED)

The concepts of social and cultural capital are clearly relevant to the college experiences of the study participants. However, amassing cultural and social capital can be more challenging in rural or remote places. There may be fewer opportunities for rural youth to organically accumulate the types of social and cultural capital necessary to help them succeed in postsecondary education. Furthermore, depending on the existing industry and employment opportunities in a given rural setting, there may also be fewer chances for rural youth to observe future employment possibilities. Rural youth who have a great deal of social capital in their hometown communities may be forced to break those social ties due to minimal industry and available employment opportunities. Adding the lens of spatial justice to this study provides further insight to the impact of rurality on the participants' experiences, and the importance of rurality to this study. Location can be a determinant for one's wealth and resources such as education and healthcare. Spatial justice refers to an explicit emphasis on the fair and equitable distribution of socially valued resources and opportunities across spaces. It is not a substitute for social justice or economic justice but is instead a perspective that assumes there is always a relevant spatial dimension to justice (Soja, 2009).

In the framework of spatial justice, one's ability to access capital is influenced by their geographic location. This means one's living environment influences their life chances and opportunities. Institutions and systems such as markets, labor, education healthcare and transportation constitute a given place's "spatial opportunity structure," which is tied to geography and plays a role in one's socioeconomic status achievements (Galster & Sharkey, 2017). Not only does the spatial opportunity structure influence the available choices one has, but it also influences the extent to which individuals have the agency to exercise those choices by shaping what the individual perceives to be the most desirable or feasible option. This can influence an individual's trajectory, and therefore subsequent life decisions. This may also lead to cumulative effects that influence multiple generations (Galster & Sharkey, 2017). In the present study, this may manifest through the first-generation positionality held by study participants, as youth are likely to experience indirect impacts by the spatial opportunity structure through their caregivers' behaviors, attitudes, and access to resources (Galster & Sharkey, 2017).

Spatial injustice can also lead to imposing bias upon certain groups because of their geographic location. Geographically uneven development can lead to areas or relative privilege

or advantage/ disadvantage (Soja, 2009). The chronic underdevelopment or lack of investment in rural West Virginia may affect the lives of inhabitants by affecting the quality and quantity of opportunities available and accessible to residents, including the pursuit of higher education. The following section will explore place and space as it relates to college expectations, experiences, and students' perceptions of institutional barriers and supports.

#### PLACE/SPACE AND COLLEGE EXPECTATIONS

Rurality was a major influence in the pre-college and college preparatory experiences of study participants, and included themes of poverty and distance from resources (transportation challenges, stores, supplies, restaurants, qualified teachers, rigorous high school curricula, etc.) Rurality is also associated with poor internet connectivity. This was particularly salient due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which initially occurred during the study participants' junior or senior years of high school and therefore affected their most critical years for academic preparation for college.

Many higher education institutions have limited or no engagement with rural communities (Davis, 2019; McDonough et al, 2010). This limits rural students' exposure to college-going behaviors and understanding of postsecondary pursuits and possibilities. As a land-grant school, WVU has a larger presence in its predominantly rural state which may help alleviate the common disconnect between colleges and universities and their states' rural areas. WVU's dominance in the in-state market manifested in some of the narratives, although WVU's presence in the participants' home communities varied. For example, Grant found WVU to have a very visible presence in his rural home community.

[WVU] reach[es] out a lot. Like whenever I was in high school, there was always opportunities you could do, like summer camps or online camps, or whatever. They would have those all the time. Especially, you know, even go to reach us in rural West

Virginia. So I think they do a really good job with it, especially with the Extension service and 4H. I think that's a prime example.

This early repeated exposure to WVU impacted Grant's perspective on what opportunities were available to him in life. In his rural hometown, he saw the main employment options were to work in oil and gas or pipelining. He was one of the few in his graduating class who chose to try the less traveled route – leaving town to pursue a college education.

Adeline's experience was similar to Grant's in that she rarely saw anyone in her community with a college education, but she did not have regular touchpoints with WVU prior to enrolling. Instead, the inspiration to attend college came from family (two older stepsisters who attended graduate school at WVU) and teachers.

All my friends, none of them went to college. I mean one of my best friends, she's a cake baker. That's what she does is bakes cakes. The other [friend] now works at a vet's office and the boy I graduated with works for the pipeline. I mean he thought I was crazy coming to college... I [didn't ] have anyone really around me [back home] that actually went to college [except for] teachers.

Similarly, Marla had little interaction with WVU prior to enrolling but was inspired by some family friends and teachers. She was also encouraged by her parents. She recalled that WVU did not have a heavy presence in her community.

There was one day out of my entire four years of high school where we had colleges come and speak to us. I don't think WVU [main campus] was there, I think it was Potomac State, which is a branch of WVU. They might have been combined, but like there was never a WVU specific representative that came.

Nevertheless, Marla, Grant and Adeline, despite their varying pre-college experiences within their rural home communities, felt that WVU was the place they needed to go (and could afford to go) to achieve their aspirations.

## PLACE/SPACE & COLLEGE EXPERIENCES

Challenges posed by place and space were far more salient for study participants in their pre-college and transitory period as opposed to their experiences as enrolled students. Examples of this are more thoroughly outlined in the previous chapter. Several participants referred to Morgantown as "the big city" in contrast to their hometowns. Once on campus, students described enjoying an unprecedented level of spatial access. Some access focused on the area outside of campus, such as stores like Wal-Mart or Target, walkable restaurants, coffee shops, and nightlife. Marla had one of the best examples of the change in access from hometown to college town:

It's funny. Everybody [back home] was like, wait, you live next to a Starbucks? Because it's right beside my building. Like that is insane [compared to the two hour round trip required back home.]

Other participants mentioned the accessibility of needed services on campus, such as tutoring, mental and physical health resources, and ease of getting to class. Even if parallel services and resources existed in their rural hometowns, accessing them may not have been possible. Mason was particularly pleased with the change of pace offered by this change of space on a college campus:

[Back home there] wasn't a whole lot going on. When we wanted to go do something for fun, we'd go drive around... There wasn't a whole lot to do. [Here] you [can] just go out and walk around the town. I don't do that in my hometown. [Where I'm from] I can't just walk around to different shops and stuff. Up here, I can. Even like having a gym that I can go to in a five-minute walk I don't have that back where I live.

For several participants, the 10 to 15 minute walk to college class was a welcome change from the 30-40 minute drive to high school (Marla), and the ability to catch a local bus to get to Walmart was preferable to the 90-minute drive required in their hometowns (Grant, Mason). Ella was the lone dissenter of the group. She had only been on campus for about 8 weeks at the time of her interview (in contrast to the other study participants who had been enrolled at least one semester or more, and it was during the coldest part of the year) and was still getting used to the more walkable community. As someone who had always relied on driving to get anywhere from her home on a dirt road, she described traversing campus as such: "Here, walking is like hell." Many students also commented on the availability of ridesharing services, accessibility of social opportunities, reliable internet service and cell phone service (specifically Marla, who lives near a "complete dead zone") in contrast to their experience in their rural home communities.

Study participants had varied levels of access to vehicle transportation, which affected their ability to visit home. Faith described feelings of stress related to not having a car, which she felt she needed to secure part time employment and to return home to see her grandparents.

I don't have a car yet, and I haven't had one. I'm not going to have one until the end of sophomore year I feel like that kind of made my options limited. I was going to get a job. Luckily my scholarships paid for [school so I didn't need a job] but I could still use [a job] to save money.

Marla relied on a tight knit social group from back home to catch rides, and Mason's older siblings were able to provide him with transportation home. Adeline's father was willing to

make the drive to come to her. Grant was required to make the trip home twice per month to work as an EMT in his local county.

One negative aspect of space and place that came up for Marla and her family was safety in a college town. Although Marla felt the town was relatively safe, she recalled that "[Back home] we rarely ever lock our door, or we leave our keys in our vehicle with the doors unlocked in our driveway. Here you can't do that."

#### PLACE/SPACE & PERCEIVED INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORTS & BARRIERS

Rural, low-income, first-generation students, like other minoritized student groups, are influenced by the institutional environment within higher education. Tinto's theory of student integration described how students separate from their backgrounds and integrate into their new settings on campus in order to succeed (Tinto, 1975). As described in the literature review, there are many critiques of this work for not accounting for a wider variety of positionalities and experiences in higher education. However, the fact remains that institutional environments can be leveraged to engage and include students, influencing their success and educational attainment. There is a growing awareness for a need to focus on low-income, first-generation, rural college students, but more needs to be done.

Several study participants reported internet connectivity as an important source of support provided by the institution. For participants like Marla, Grant and Adeline, this was in stark contrast to what they (or others in their rural home communities) experienced in high school. For example, Marla had to drive 35 minutes into town to submit her homework during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic; Adeline's high school did not have a reliable internet connection; and Grant recalled sometimes being the only student in his entire high school class able to join the teacher for online learning.

Another source of support related to geography is the relatively low cost of WVU's instate tuition. As mentioned in the previous section, participants felt they were able to access a solid education through a mix of a low in-state cost and the availability of need-based, meritbased, and lottery-based aid. While Faith and Grant experienced some concerns and anxieties about running out of money if they did not maintain their financial aid, challenges surrounding financial need did not manifest in the interviews to the extent the researcher anticipated based on the literature review.

Proximity to wellness resources while in college also proved to be a source of support to the study participants, who noted such resources were much closer and more easily accessible at college than in their rural hometowns. This included mental health services, recreational activities such as a gym and nightlife, close proximity to social support like friends, student organizations and study groups, and academic resources like tutoring and advising.

Some participants experienced proximity to family as a barrier or challenge (Grant, Faith, Embry), and others as a source of support (Mason, Ella). Specifically, Faith shared that she was very close with her older brother, but since he attended another institution several hours away, he was not able to provide the level of support she had hoped he'd be able to provide. In contrast, Mason found great benefit in the geographic closeness of his two siblings who also attended WVU. Embry struggled with her mental health as she moved away from her hometown, while Ella described having relatively better mental health away from her hometown.

Study participants reported far more institutional sources of support than barriers to success. While the students interviewed may be considered to possess less cultural and social capital than the average college student, the sources of support provided by WVU filled many of these gaps. The majority of participants shared that they felt comfortable to reach out for support

when needed, and then used the campus supports provided. These included mental health resources, academic support services such as tutoring, financial aid services, academic advising, student organizations, and sponsored programs such as SSS/TRIO and HSTA. Spatial proximity to these resources and services was a new phenomenon for most participants that positively affected students' ability and willingness to make use of them.

WVU's calling as a land-grant institution also plays a part in influencing place and space in rural West Virginia. Grant felt that WVU succeeded in its land-grant mission to support the state by offering educational opportunities through extension programs. "I think [WVU] does a really good job of [reaching out to the people of the state], of being there for the community. I think they give a lot back. I mean heck they've bought almost every hospital in West Virginia now and they do a pretty good job of running those. I've seen that firsthand." Although study participants were unfamiliar with the definition of a land-grant university, they were in unanimous in believing that WVU fulfilled its place-related purpose once they understood the definition. The land-grant concept is an example of Galster & Sharkey's (2017) concept of the "spatial opportunity structure" that shapes what individuals perceive to be the most desirable or feasible option. The combination of geographic proximity to home and the relative affordability that accompanies in-state tuition (also defied by geographic location) both manifest in the present study.

# **SUMMARIZING FRAMEWORKS**

Frameworks examining class and space help us understand the expectations, experiences, perceived barriers and perceived supports of low-income, first-generation rural college students from West Virginia. The spaced aspects of students' experiences were more salient at the pre-college stage as students reflected on the differences in geographic access to various resources

before and during college. Rurality was a major influence in the pre-college and college preparatory experiences of study participants, and included themes of poverty, distance from resources (stores, restaurants, qualified teachers, rigorous high school curricula) and poor internet connectivity, which was especially challenging due to the COVID-19 pandemic. While enrolled in college, study participants widely reported an enjoyable and unprecedented level of access and proximity to resources.

Although the issue of space was in some ways solved by the transition to the college campus environment, the classed aspects of students' experiences were more salient while enrolled in college. Before coming to college, students tended to see folks in their home communities as coming from similar backgrounds and having access to similar resources. A contrast began to develop as they began to interact with students from new areas and different levels of class privilege. Study participants reported several manifestations of cultural or social capital consciousness. This included a lack of confidence in their ability to compete with students from more highly resourced areas; an inability to rely on parents for desired guidance compared to their non-first-generation peers; a negative perception of their accents and codeswitching by their peers; and concerns about class sizes and lack of individualized relationships with instructors which helped them during high school.

The present study suggests that there is a strong alignment between the expectations of LIFGRWV students and what WVU provides as a land-grant institution. All participants felt that the institution delivers on its promise of serving the state and its people. Some participants felt WVU lived up to the calling of a land grant by being financially accessible to residents of West Virginia (Grant, Marla, Faith, Adeline, and Embry). Others perceived the institution as a more welcoming and accepting place than their home communities (Mason, Faith, Ella). In addition,

others felt it was accessible in terms of admissions criteria to make the pursuit of higher education possible (Adeline, Ella). One participant (Grant) specifically mentioned WVU's role in his rural community through extension programs, 4-H programs, and medical services which are all part of WVU's land-grant mission.

In comparison to the literature review, results from the present study are mixed. Students reported far more sources of support than barriers to their success. There are classed aspects of the participants' positionalities that have influenced their ability to arrive at and succeed in college, but instances of feeling out of place or unsupported at WVU were comparatively few. The students who did experience stigma described feeling so because of fellow students, high school preparation, or their parents' first-generation status, not due to institutional actors, policies or structures.

Both Galster & Sharkey (2017) and Israel & Frenkel (2018) discuss Bourdieu's theories in their work on spatial inequality as a means to explain the socio-spatial structures that influence or constrain an individual's choices and freedoms. Much like Bourdieu's theories argue that those who already have elevated status are able to more easily maintain that status, the spatial opportunity structure benefits those with the greatest achieved status with upward mobility linked to spatial mobility (Galster & Sharkey, 2017; Lichter & Ziliak, 2017). One's social space and living environment are an expression of class stratification. That space can create barriers or act as a facilitator to enhance the ability of a person to realize their capability. The present study supports this notion, as the challenges reported by students related to space were largely mitigated by living on campus. That is not to say disadvantages related to space cease to exist simply because a student enrolls in college and moves on campus. However, some of the participants' pre-college struggles or barriers to success were no longer in their way.

This study sought to explore spatial inequality and urbanormativity within Bourdieu's theory of social reproduction in a university context, where the university is dominant and rural, first-generation, low-income students are marginalized. The intent was to understand the challenges faced by this group and to question the university's role in advancing urbanormativity and the impact that has on its students from rural backgrounds (Thomas & Fulkerson, 2020). While challenges faced by the group have become known, there is little in the data to suggest that the university has played a significant role in advancing urbanormativity to the detriment of the study participants. In contrast, most participants reported unprecedented levels of access and support while at college that allowed their own talents and gifts to flourish in a way that may not have been possible in their rural hometowns. The following two quotes from study participants highlight how the accessibility of resources and opportunities at WVU have improved their perception of their capabilities:

- "Knowing I could reach that milestone [of making President's List] was honestly the best part so far. Just knowing that if I really did try, that despite where I came from, the lack of resources, I can do this as much as anybody else." - Grant
- "I don't mean this in a braggy (sic) way, but I look back at it and I'm like man, I • really come a far way." - Adeline

### **Researcher Reflection: Interactive Voice**

In qualitative research, researchers must understand that their work is a representation of a version of the truth that reflects the writer's choices. In constructing, interpreting and representing others' voices, researchers develop their own voices (O'Sullivan, 2015). Researcher reflexivity is key in critical narrative inquiry because it allows the researcher to acknowledge their own values, assumptions and expectations from which they are operating, as well as their

own role and influence in the research (Hickson, 2016). Research is the product of the values of researchers and cannot be independent of them (Mertens, 2010, p. 16)

164

Of Chase's (2005) voice styles of narrative inquiry, the interactive voice represents an interaction between the researcher and narrator, where the researcher examines their own voice, social position, interpretation and personal experiences through the refracted medium of the narrator's voice (Chase, 2005). An intentional space for reflexivity and self-understanding is required for narrative researchers if they are to understand their own interpretation of narrators' stories and consider how readers will eventually interpret the research. The following is a brief discussion of the researcher's emotions, thoughts, research relationships and interpretive decisions. The positionalities are ordered on a continuum of objective to subjective.

### I AS RESEARCHER/GRADUATE STUDENT

As a novice researcher, I sought objectivity in sharing the stories of the narrator participants as-is. I observed that West Virginian students, particularly LIFGRs, were underrepresented in the literature and felt motivated to add their voices to the current body of work. I was chiefly motivated to put forth quality work for this dissertation for professional reasons: graduation for career advancement. This was a no-nonsense part of myself that interacted with the narrator participants and their stories more at arm's length to complete the task before me.

However, just as the narrator participants were striving to persist and succeed in college, I saw a parallel in myself as one of the first in my family to pursue higher education and the first to pursue graduate work. This observation likely blurred the lines between objectivity and subjectivity, as I found myself rooting for the participants to persist and graduate much in the same way I am rooting for myself to achieve the goal of earning a terminal degree. At the conclusion of several interviews, I felt the urge to tell the narrator participants that I was proud of

them, as if they were "mine" to be proud of. I instead focused on praising the students for some of the things they did, overcame, or aspired to do. This is decidedly not objective as my researcher intent and is due in part by a second positionality I hold: I as administrator/ student success advocate.

165

### I AS STUDENT SUCCESS ADVOCATE/ ADMINISTRATOR

I've been working closely with undergraduates since late 2014 in various roles including new student recruiter, retention specialist, freshman seminar instructor, living learning community coordinator, student organization liaison, peer mentorship program director, student ambassador trainer, and decider of financial aid awards. In these roles, I champion for students and am responsible for making decisions that affect individual or group student outcomes. As part of my professional and moral standing, I am committed to doing whatever I can to help the institution retain students, and to help students persist. This is a decidedly less neutral position than I as researcher, as I (professionally and morally) have a vested interest students persisting to graduation. This is not a neutral position, but this is what led me to my area of research interest.

This positionality was full of emotion. I experienced immense joy that the participant narrators were overcoming challenges and forging new paths for themselves. Their can-do attitudes, their drive to persist despite the challenges they acknowledged, showed a resilience I don't often see in my professional role. This was inspiring, empowering, and exciting. I felt a bit of sadness and great frustration that these bright students did not benefit from some of the privileges that benefit many of the students I interact with professionally: privileges including internet access, qualified educators, geographic proximity to resources, familial financial support, and parental firsthand experience with college.

My work experience serving students on academic probation as a success coach has sensitized me to be alert to the challenges/ barriers faced by the participant narrators; but this

prior experience also made me anticipate greater academic difficulty than was found in the study. Only one of the seven narrator participants was not in good academic standing at the time of our interviews, and all but one returned to WVU for the fall 2022 semester after our spring 2022 interviews. This may represent a self-selection bias in participation in the study.

As an administrator, I shift my viewpoint from the student's perspective to that of the institution. I know from my professional role that due to increasing dependence on tuition revenue, institutions are admitting students who are more likely to need higher levels of support than previous incoming classes. Throughout this project, my administrator positionality continued to ask – what are we doing to ensure we have systems and supports in place to meet students (in this case, LIFGRWV students) where they are? Is the institution focused on the value (financial and moral) of retaining these students? How many folks on the faculty and administration share the positionalities of the students they serve? Is the academy aware of the challenges these students face - not just regarding some of the statistics outlined in Chapter 2, but also in regard to the actual lived experiences highlighted in Chapter 4? The current study presents an opportunity to communicate the experiences of LIFGRWV students to others in the academy who may have greater difficulty understanding the needs of low-income, first-generation, rural students from West Virginia.

#### I AS APPALACHIAN

Part of my desire to see these participant narrators succeed so badly is intimately tied to my third positionality – I as Appalachian. I grew up in Morgantown, but my high school experience pre-dates social media. As such, I did not have a solid grasp on the magnitude or pervasiveness of negative stereotypes of Appalachia/ West Virginians until I attended college and was surrounded by out-of-state individuals. This was, at times, a jarring experience for me despite the fact that I benefitted from numerous privileges the participant narrators in this study

did not have: financial resources, non-first-generation status, geographic proximity to a comprehensive university, internet access, and one of the best high schools in the state.

This comparison and contrast between my own positionality and that of the participant narrators greatly moved me. I was already devoted to pursuing research that gave agency and representation to West Virginians, but as I engaged in the interviews, I became increasingly determined to portray Appalachians positively in the discourse. I wanted to show others how these students navigated and overcame challenges to persist. I wanted to show that West Virginian students are intelligent, capable, deep, and strong. I want to demonstrate that if we have individuals with such grit and drive, persisting and excelling despite being low-income, first-generation, and rural, what more could they accomplish (and what could others even less fortunate accomplish) if we adequately invested resources into their home communities and educational opportunities?

I as Appalachian am among many West Virginians tired of being seen as nothing more than an amalgamation of state legislators in Charleston, an economic sacrifice zone, and a place primarily for extraction. I am tired of losing our youth to brain drain and the opioid crisis. I am tired of a narrative that says West Virginia gets what it deserves when so many residents lack agency and educational opportunity compared to other areas of the country. Through highlighting the experiences and successes of low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia, I seek to show we are so much more than the stereotypes. We are more than an economic sacrifice zone. We are more than what the handful of individuals in political and economic power depict us to be. Finally, I seek to show that West Virginia University as a landgrant can, should, and does play an influential role in supporting LIFGRWV students. *LAS CRITIC* 

When I set out to complete this study, I as critic was a positionality I outwardly suppressed for objectivity's sake. While I as critic was clearly necessary to engage in a critical narrative analysis, I felt concerns about confirmation bias. I felt susceptible to searching for ideas or interpreting the qualitative data in ways that supported my pre-conceived notions. I as critic was skeptical of the amount of support and resources the narrator participants would perceive they had at WVU. I changed my tune as the interviews progressed, as participant after participant had overall positive feedback on their experience at WVU. In narrative research, the researcher must be open to new understandings and new viewpoints based on the narratives (Fook & Gardner, 2007; Hickson, 2016).

I as critic gained a new sense of optimism from the present study. Based on the findings, the institution lives up to its land-grant mission in the eyes of LIFGRs. Furthermore, LIFGRs reported many more sources of institutional support than barriers to their success. The critic that remains does have reservations and concerns that the present study's participant narrators may not be representative of the subgroup as a whole, which I address in the limitations section of the subsequent chapter.

# **CHAPTER VI**

This final chapter summarizes the findings as they relate to the three research questions posed in this study. After describing the findings in broad strokes, this chapter will highlight the value of this study's contributions to existing literature. Next, implications and recommendations for practice and future research are presented. The chapter concludes with reflections from the researcher.

# **DISCUSSION OF KEY FINDINGS**

The present study investigates the college experiences of low-income, first-generation rural college students from West Virginia. The three research questions are:

- RQ1: What are the experiences of LIFGRWV students at the state's land grant institution?
- RQ2: How do the postsecondary experiences of LIFGRWV students align with their expectations and the institutional land-grant narrative?
- RQ3: What institutional factors do LIFGRWV students perceive as sources of support or barriers to their success, affecting their retention and persistence?

## SUMMARY OF MAIN FINDINGS RQ1

The impacts of rurality were more salient pre-college, while the impacts of social and cultural capital were more salient during college. The findings indicate five salient themes in describing the experiences of LIFGRWV students. **Rurality (affecting pre-college preparation and experiences):** All seven participants felt that their rural upbringing was a salient factor affecting their experiences of college preparation and college attendance, but their pre-college experiences and college experiences were not homogeneous. The "ruralnesss" of a student's hometown did not directly correlate with reported feelings of being overwhelmed. Some participants went to very small schools with graduating classes of fewer than 100 (Adeline, Grant, Marla), while others attended large, consolidated schools with several hundred in the graduating class (Ella, Embry). Some students reported feeling very overwhelmed with the transition to college (Grant, Embry, Marla), while others were very excited by the change of pace (Faith, Ella), and some fell in the middle, feeling both excitement with the newness and apprehension about the changes (Mason, Adeline).

170

experience navigating college-level coursework): These experiences also differed widely among participants. Many found significant academic success at WVU (Marla, Mason, Grant, Adeline), while others faced significant academic challenges (Embry, Ella), and one had overcome initial academic challenges by switching her major (Faith). Embry reported top notch STEM opportunities afforded her in middle and high school, including trips to Washington, DC and New York City, and a pre-college internship opportunity (a form of spatial privilege), but struggled in college. Mason and Marla both described having very caring teachers who made a positive influence (a form of social capital), despite their school's limited academic offerings. Both were succeeding in college, with Mason even making the President's List his first semester. Grant described limited internet connectivity, a dearth of qualified teachers in his high school, and long commutes to purchase school supplies (spatial injustice) and credited the opportunity he had to complete 55 college credits in high school (a form of cultural capital) with helping him succeed so strongly in college. Faith shared that she felt her high school preparation was not sufficient for her first choice in major. Adeline, who attended an ACE school with a graduating class of two students, arguably had the most nontraditional education of the group. However, she strongly credited her schooling and teachers for her ability to succeed in college due to the independence and time management skills gained in that setting, and her grades reflect strong achievement. Ella did not comment on the quality of her high school education, instead emphasizing that she did not put forth any effort in high school because she believed college was not a financial possibility. Although her college performance was not stellar, she was pleased given her high school performance.

Self-perception (their anticipated ability to succeed in college/ how they felt about their abilities): In addition to the varying levels of academic preparedness, study participants reported varying levels of confidence in their abilities as students that developed as they went through college. Grant reported extensive, significant feelings of nervousness and self-doubt about being able to succeed in college before enrolling and during the early weeks of his first semester, yet ended his first semester in a rigorous major on the President's List. Embry felt relatively confident in her ability to succeed in college, only to find that both academic (she did not learn how to study in high school since academic material came easily to her) and nonacademic factors (mental health, homesickness) negatively impacted her performance. She finished her first semester on academic probation Adeline reflected on the education omitted in her K-12 experience as well as her current college success, and felt pride in saying that she's "really come a long way." Faith, who had to change her major, reported feeling happier with her life than she ever had before. Marla felt very prepared for college level work but failed a required course due to illness. Although she was disappointed, she did not have negative perceptions of her capabilities and felt optimistic that she would find success taking the course during the summer. Ella felt strong feelings of imposter syndrome, since she felt her high school academic performance was poor and was only able to enroll in college due to winning a scholarship. Although her college performance was not stellar, she felt pleased given her high school performance.

**Parents:** The influence of parents and the impacts of their first-generation status varied across participants, with all seven participants commenting on the influence of their parents/ guardians. Parents play an influential role in the accumulation of a student's social and cultural capital. Many students described a push and pull of their parents wanting to be supportive, but

not knowing how. Some participants described a push from their parents to achieve more than they did, while others did not report that pressure. Some reported feelings of guilt, but for different reasons. Grant felt guilty that he perceived his father felt bad for not "doing more" for their family. And Ella felt guilt that her mother expressed perceived jealousy of her daughter's opportunity to attend college. Some students, such as Faith and Grant, more strongly identified with challenges related to the identifying as first-generation. Most participants reported strong bonds with their parents, while others had more contentious relationships with theirs.

**COVID-19:** The impact of COVID-19 was salient both pre-college and during college. The pandemic's impacts to spatial in/justice were particularly salient during their pre-college experiences. The disruption to high school education and daily routines manifested in all seven interviews. Specifically, Grant and Ella both used the phrase "we did nothing" to describe their schooling in the early days of the pandemic. Grant recalled that his school was not technologically equipped for students to complete schoolwork from home. The pandemic took away opportunities for students to participate in statewide competitions or other forms of experiential learning.

In addition to the pre-college impacts, the pandemic also affected in-college experiences in at least four ways. First, the COVID-19 pandemic impacted students' feelings of worry and concern related to attending college. Several students experienced health concerns for themselves and their families back home. Additionally, Marla mentioned challenges with online New Student Orientation that contributed to feelings of worry and concern regarding college attendance. Second, the pandemic impacted students' acclimation to college-level work. More than one participant reflected on how their high school education was cut short in some ways due to the move to online learning. There was a sense that these students did not arrive at WVU with

the typical amount of pre-college learning due to school closures and perceived sub-par instruction in the early days of the pandemic. The impact was not only academic, but psychological, too. For example, Embry reported feeling that during the pandemic, she "lost who she was before COVID" and struggled to emulate the academic success she had in high school while in college. Third, the pandemic created additional challenges for students by requiring them to navigate what students felt were confusing, and occasionally conflicting, COVID-19 guidelines (see Chapter 4 for a detailed account of Marla's experience with the campus's quarantine policy). Finally, the COVID-19 pandemic affected students' ability to build social bonds in college (Faith felt robbed of the college social experience she originally envisioned).

The COVID-19 pandemic also created opportunities for some students. Marla felt that it helped her retain her strong social bonds with her friends from high school, which she credited with helping her succeed in college. Ella stated she would never be in college had it not been for the pandemic and the nurse who encouraged her to enter the drawing for a college scholarship for receiving a COVID-19 vaccination. Adeline also felt the pandemic allowed her to experience a large university in small increments, which helped her acclimate from a high school graduating class of two, to a university of more than 20,000 students.

#### SUMMARY OF MAIN FINDINGS RQ2

The findings indicate that participants were unfamiliar with the concept of the land-grant mission. However, once they learned about the purpose and brief historical overview of the creation of land-grant schools, all seven participants agreed that, in their estimation, WVU lives up to its calling. Some students felt that the expectation of a land-grant was delivered in the financial accessibility of the institution (Faith, Marla, Mason). This may have played a significant role in overcoming the hesitance and skepticism some rural communities have about the utility and relevance of a college education. Multiple participants indicated that if they had

173

the financial opportunity to attend, they might as well try. Others felt the institution delivered on the promise of a land-grant by being accessible in terms of admissions criteria (Ella, Adeline). Yet others remarked that WVU was more welcoming and accepting than their home communities (Faith, Ella, Mason). Grant noted ways that WVU lives the land-grant mission that he noticed before attending college- specifically, Extension 4H programming in his home community and WVU's prominent presence in medical facilities across the state. As a land-grant in a small, predominantly rural state, WVU has the opportunity to live the land grant mission in ways that other land grants may not. An institution of this size may be able to alleviate some of the educational access challenges posed by spatial injustice in rural West Virginia.

#### SUMMARY OF MAIN FINDINGS RQ3

The findings indicate that LIFGRWV students perceive far more instances of support than barriers to success. Despite recognition of the challenges and barriers they faced, participants spoke much more frequently about the resources and supports they received before and during college. Specifically, the themes found in the qualitative analysis included resources/supports (finances, key players or influencers, institutional resources) and perceived barriers (rurality, first-generation status, mental and physical health, stigma toward West Virginians, and COVID-19).

Resources and supports included financial aid (either through need-based, merit-based affiliation based, or lottery-based scholarships/ grants) which aligned with some students' perception of WVU as a land-grant being financially accessible to the average West Virginian. Access to financial aid seems to lessen tensions around college-going, which some rural communities see as an unwise financial investment. Participants noticed a contrast between resources in their rural hometowns and in their college town, including technological access, mental health services, recreational activities, close proximity to friends, student organizations,

sponsored programs such as HSTA, academic advising, study groups, tutoring centers, and services such as SSS/TRIO all available on campus.

Social capital was considered a resource by all students, but there were differences in how social capital was illustrated across participants. Marla relied heavily on high school back home connections by choice, and enjoyed the deeper connections she had built with those she knew from back home. Faith relied heavily on high school back home connections, not by choice, but because of the COVID-19 pandemic's impacts on being able to meet new people. Despite her discontent with the inability to meet new people, she commented that she was "lucky" to have a good group from back home. Mason, Embry, Adeline and Ella all mentioned making new friends at WVU and did so through a mixture of meeting in the residence halls, joining student organizations, and speaking to others in class. Compared to the other participants, Grant shied away from making new friends, as he focused almost exclusively on his studies. However, he did report relying heavily on connections through HSTA to create a sense of community. Embry and Ella reported the lowest number of social bonds and participation in institutional activities during their spring 2022 interviews. A post-interview look at the academic performance of study participants indicates that Embry did not enroll for Fall 2022, and Ella's academic performance lags behind the other participants of the study.

Although participants spoke less about barriers, they did perceive their first-generation student status, relative lack of resources in their rural hometowns, mental and physical health, stigma toward West Virginians and COVID-19 as barriers to their success. These barriers were more related to issues of class than space, although both played a role. This included students' lack of confidence in their ability to compete with students from more highly resourced areas, an inability to rely on parents for desired guidance compared to non-first-generation peers, and a

negative perception of their "country" accents (Embry, Adeline). Additionally, the sheer size of the institution eroded what was once a big source of social capital for some participants – small class sizes.

While the COVID-19 pandemic caused challenges and barriers for most study participants, both at the pre-college stage and during college in relation to online classes and decreased social opportunities, two participants directly credited the COVID-19 pandemic with their ability to attend WVU (Adeline, Ella).

#### **IMPLICATIONS / CONTRIBUTIONS**

This study adds to the discourse around student retention theories by exploring the experiences of low income, first generation, rural college students from West Virginia at their land-grant institution. Specifically, the present study adds to the existing body of literature in two ways. First, it fills a gap by highlighting a subgroup that is unrepresented in the literature: LIFGRWVs. Second, it adds to the spatial justice conversation by focusing the intersection of social reproduction and spatial inequality in a rural context.

#### HIGHLIGHTING LIFGRWVS

Abes, Jones and Stewart (2019) described current "third wave" student development research as having a strong emphasis on critical theory, where researchers integrate theory and practice as a mechanism to promote social change through emancipation. This follows a second wave of theoretical contributions that demonstrated there is meaning in how one's group affiliations are perceived by others within the higher education context and brought attention to the impact of inhospitable campus climates on student development of minoritized groups. Although the present study arises from a critical lens which aligns with the third wave, the researcher is not satisfied with the resolution of the second wave when it comes to considering

low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia, who have not been well represented in the literature. This study adds to the current body of literature by highlighting the voices of low-income, first generation, rural West Virginian students and detailing their experiences before and during college in their own words.

Giving representation to this population of students is an important step to overcoming the tendency to stereotype or ignore voices in rural Appalachia (Higbee et al., 2005). Furthermore, the present study meets Hlinka's (2017) call to address obstacles unique to the demographics of a specific campus in an effort to further improve retention rates. A key takeaway from the 2017 study of Appalachian community college students was that current retention theories and programs are too broad and should be customized to meet the unique needs and challenges of the students they serve (Hlinka, 2017). This study adds to the existing body of literature by providing a context-specific examination of LIFGRWV college student experiences at a land-grant institution. The present study's findings differ significantly from Hlinka's (2017). This is likely due to differences in institutional context (community college vs. land-grant comprehensive university) and student backgrounds (the students in Hlinka's study a. faced significantly more familial pull, b. reported greater struggle to make the cognitive leap necessary to succeed in college level coursework; and c. expressed feelings of the institution failing to meet their psychological needs).

## INTERSECTION OF SOCIAL REPRODUCTION & SPATIAL INEQUALITY IN A RURAL CONTEXT

This study purposefully avoided heavy use of intersectionality (Crenshaw, 1991) as it is not the researcher's intent to use a theory created by and for racially marginalized individuals for a predominantly white population. However, this study does highlight the overlapping challenges of students with four arguably marginalized identities: low-income (socioeconomic), firstgeneration (socioeconomic), rural (spatial injustice), and West Virginian (spatial injustice; a poor

and resource-extraction heavy state). While significant research exists on the first two identities, much less research exists on the third and fourth identities, a contribution of this research.

This study adds nuance to the current literature by combining social reproduction with spatial justice as lenses through which to examine the college experiences of rural students. As outlined in chapter 3, much of the spatial justice research is urban-centric in nature, which leads to cultural assumptions of the normalcy and superiority of life and cities in suburbs, while othering or marginalizing the rural experience.

Spatial injustice is sometimes due to intentional efforts to organize physical space into ways that maintain or reinforce a status quo (Galster & Sharkey, 2017; Israel & Frankel, 2018; Lichter & Ziliak, 2017). The intentionality of the marginalization of rural West Virginian spaces is far outside the scope of the present study; however, the research participants' rural experiences reflect a status quo of community aspects such as labor, education, and transportation that affected their college aspirations, preparation, and in-college experiences. Each of these aspects are part of Galster & Sharkey's (2017) spatial opportunity structure, which affects an individual's socioeconomic status achievements. Furthermore, the spatial opportunity structure was strained in many cases due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which caused extra challenges due to limited, intermittent or unreliable internet access (Adeline, Embry, Grant, Marla, Mason).

This work adds to extant literature by exploring the spatial opportunity structure from a Bourdieuian perspective from the standpoint of individuals who self-identify as rural. This contributes to Lichter & Ziliak's (2017) call for "a place for space" that emphasizes the need to identify, define and understand changing spatial relationships and embrace a spatially inclusive approach to contemporary social problems. By highlighting the experiences of LIFGRWV

students, the present study makes the body of literature more spatially inclusive as scholars and practitioners develop solutions to problems of college access, retention and success.

In practical terms, the inclusion of rural and West Virginian identities adds nuance to the current literature by demonstrating how lack of connectivity (geographic and technological) and rural identity impacts college readiness and success. It is a call for greater investment in educational resources and opportunities in rural communities, for more attention to rurality as a salient factor in understanding identity, and a suggestion that schools should recognize and celebrate the perseverance of LIFGR students, as well as communicate explicitly about the resources and supports available to them.

This study suggests that students perceive WVU as adequately meeting the promise of a land-grant institution. The students who did experience stigma described feeling so because of fellow students, high school preparation, or their parents' first-generation status, not due to institutional actors, policies or structures. There are classed aspects of the participants' positionalities that have influenced their ability to arrive at and succeed in college, but instances of feeling out of place or unsupported at WVU were comparatively few. Some students (Adeline, Ella, Grant) had high praise for institutional actors such as professors, academic advisors, SSS/TRIO staff, and the HSTA program coordinator. Hlinka (2017) argued that institutions must understand that their students are shaped by the region's culture and should customize retention practices and programs accordingly. The present study suggests that the institution, WVU could do more to invest in education in rural, low-income communities. The students in the present study have already obtained an uncommon level of privilege for West Virginians by attending college. With West Virginia's college going rate expected to drop further (WV Higher

Education Policy Commission, 2023), the institution should be mindful of outreach and access programs in underserved parts of the state if it wishes to impact the trend of West Virginia having the lowest college attainment among all bordering states and the national average (WV Forward Human Capital, 2021).

The shared experiences of the present study may assist faculty, student support staff, and administration in better understanding the perspectives of low-income, first-generation college students. This could result in delivering better quality services (academic, mental health), social opportunities (living learning communities, cohort-based groups, formal and informal mentorship), and academic resources (more office hours for intimate interactions, study groups, tutoring) to current students. It also has implications of rethinking outreach for admissions and recruitment in low-income, rural areas. For example, Grant's ability to routinely see WVU in his rural community contributed to an early decision to attend college one day, and to see what was possible beyond pipelining. In contrast, Marla felt less supported by WVU before College, saying that nobody came to her high school or spoke with the parents about opportunities available.

While the insights from this study may most directly influence individuals working at this particular land-grant institution in this particular state, there may be takeaways that other land-grant institutions can use to connect with the low-income, first-generation, rural individuals within their states, particularly among higher education institutions within Appalachia. Furthermore, hearing the experiences of these students and seeing their ability to overcome and succeed may bring hope to other low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia. Indeed, more than one study participant mentioned feeling apprehensive about enrolling at WVU due to seeing older community members go away to college, only to come

back after "failing out", unsuccessful and dejected. Additionally, more than one study participant mentioned they hoped the present study can inspire or help at least one other student like them in the future.

A final implication is that WVU has a special opportunity due to its relative size within a small, predominantly rural state, to deliver on its land-grant mission compared to other higher education institutions. Davis et al (2019) found that many higher education institutions have limited or no engagement with rural communities. The results of the current study suggest that WVU is outperforming the norm (based on students' perception of WVU delivering on the idea of the land grant mission) but that there is more work to do to bring accessibility and college success and attainment to low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia. A new initiative that has launched between the beginning and completion of this study is WVU's Mountain Scholars Program, a support program for college transition of West Virginian students. Although it is open to all students from West Virginia, the program seeks to provide extra support to the positionalities highlighted in the present study (low-income, first-generation, rural).

### LIMITATIONS

The present study faces several limitations that should be considered to appropriately contextualize the findings. Anticipated limitations of this work were outlined in Chapter I. Now that the study has been conducted, additional limitations have manifested. First, the size and scope of the study presents a limitation. While the seven participants are sufficient for a qualitative study of this nature, the experiences of these seven students may or may not be representative of the pre-college and college experiences of LIFGRWV students. Furthermore, the present study sought to examine students' perceptions of their institution as a land-grant with

a duty to serve the state and its people. These findings, therefore, may not be easily applied to non-land-grant schools with less interaction within their home communities.

Another limitation may be the opt-in bias of study participants. Perhaps students who elected to participate in this study differ in significant ways from students who did not choose to respond to the invitation to participate. Perhaps the students who struggle the most and face the greatest barriers are those who are not checking campus email to consider participating in research on LIFGRWV student experiences. Nationwide retention of first year students at four-year institutions was 81% in 2018 (US Dept of Ed, 2019) and Chapter II outlined the myriad ways students from West Virginia lagged behind national averages. However, the narrator participants of the present study had a first to second year retention rate of 85.7% (some participants were already in their second year of study at the time of their interview; all but one were enrolled at WVU for the fall 2022 semester).

Some of the narrator participants in this study are among the highest achieving low SES, first-generation students. Most participants cited financial support from external sources and family that alleviated financial stressors. One literally won a lottery which enabled her to overcome the financial barriers she faced to pursuing higher education. The lone participant who did not return for fall 2022 lost their institutional aid due to academic performance in the first year.

Furthermore, Engle & Tinto (2008) found that low-income and first-generation college students were less likely to be engaged in the academic and social experiences that contribute to success while in college, such as studying in groups, interacting with faculty and peers, participation in extra-curricular activities, and utilizing resources and support services. However, the students in the present study did indeed do many of these things.

A third limitation to the value of the present study is the fact that the students enrolled in higher education already hold a more privileged status than the average LIFGRWV citizen. While it is certainly worthwhile to understand the experiences of the students who have "made it" and understand how they've overcome challenges to succeed and persist in higher education, these findings may not be useful to individuals who are unable to overcome the barriers to enroll in the first place.

A fourth limitation could be impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. The interviews for this study were conducted in the spring 2022 semester, and campus life was still impacted and upended in some ways by COVID-19 protocols. This may have affected recruitment and interest. It also led to some of the interviews being held virtually (Embry, Mason, Faith) with others being held in person (Adeline, Grant, Ella, Marla) which may have led to inconsistencies or different comfort levels across participant interviews. Furthermore, the impacts of the pandemic were very salient to this particular group whose high school graduation and college matriculation were most heavily impacted in the early days of the pandemic. These experiences may be unique to this particular cohort during this particular snapshot in time and may not be representative of the student cohorts before or after them.

A fifth limitation is the researcher. Any approach where the researcher is the instrument for data collection is open to human error. Specifically, the researcher's lack of experience and time constraints related to dissertation work for a part-time graduate student with full time employment likely influenced the outcome of the study. The present study could be improved with more experience and more time to dedicate to the project. Furthermore, the researcher's passion for the project, while important to the work, does leave room for bias.

## **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH**

The present study has been described as the cresting of the second wave in Abes et al.'s (2019) description of waves of student development theory. While the present study does contribute to second wave research to bring additional nuance based on the social identities of low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia, the work remains unfinished. Abes et al. (2019) argued that it will never be sufficient to merely describe students' experiences (the focus of the current study). It is imperative to require a critical analysis of the "intersecting domains of power and structures of inequality that frame (student) development in the first place" (p. 26). The present study does provide some initial contributions related to this particular subgroup of students in regard to examining social and cultural capital (classed) and spatial justice (spaced), two structures of inequality that may frame student development. The researcher offers ideas for additional studies that could build upon this dissertation in pursuit of promoting social change and emancipation of low-income, first-generation, rural college students from West Virginia:

One area for future study could include a heavier focus on LIFGRWV's student interactions with faculty and staff. Interactions with faculty and staff manifested as a source of support to many students in the present study, which may tie into the concepts of connectedness and fit, which are particularly salient for Appalachian students (Wilson & Gore, 2010, 2013, 2016). Looking at the nature, frequency, and comfort level of these interactions more closely may provide insight on how an institution can more effectively serve this population. Such a study may include an examination of the institution's faculty and staff identities as they relate to the students' identities. Students often express a preference or need to see themselves reflected in their faculty and student support staff, but the identities researched in the present study (lowincome, first-generation, rural, West Virginian) are not observable by sight. The makeup of folks

employed in a higher education institution likely varies significantly compared to the makeup of folks in the rural hometowns of study participants. This is not only due to the geographic location and spatial resources afforded in a college town, but also because of the social mobility often afforded to individuals who enter the professoriate or professional jobs in higher education. To add to the critical lens, questions could be crafted for research that further elucidates the makeup of faculty and staff, and how that may impact their ability to understand the needs of and relate to LIFGRWV students.

A second area for further research may be the intersection of spatial justice with ecological models of student development. When addressing the issue of place and space and the impacts of rurality on spatial injustice, this study's findings support the notion that institutions can intentionally create spaces conducive to student success that improve the lives and experiences of students. Many study participants noted a lack of resources in their rural hometowns – issues that were not completely solved but often alleviated via their presence on campus. Perhaps an examination of Lichter & Ziliak's (2017) five takeaways on research and policy, some of which manifested in the present study,

A third idea for future research includes a closer examination of rurality in terms of identity. In the present study, most of the discussion around rurality manifested in students' precollege-experiences and their initial transition, as opposed to their experience in college. A specific area for further inquiry might be code switching, accents, and speech of students from rural West Virginia. Two participants in the current study explicitly mentioned stigmatization from others for being from West Virginia. While these negative experiences did not occur from institutional actors, it might be a worthwhile endeavor to examine how LIFGRWV students feel about their perception and interactions with institutional actors based on their speech.

A fourth recommendation for future study is to create a research design that entails spending more time with participants to get to know them better. While there were very interesting findings based off the seven approximately one-hour interviews, much more depth and thickness could have been delivered with more time and more conversation. The interview format of the present study was designed to let the study participants take the lead on explaining what they felt was important in their own words. Because no baseline experience for LIFGRWV students existed in the research, this study yielded some broad results to create new knowledge about their experiences. However, now that a handful of these experiences have been documented, a revised set of more specific interview questions, coupled with more time to engage with study participants, could yield rewarding and worthwhile additional findings. For example, the final interview in the present study was conducted with Embry, who talked at length about an experience she had in high school where her entire rural community was without power or heat for two weeks. Grant spoke about how he grew up with his extended family (grandparents, cousins, aunts, uncles) on a daily basis. Adeline's experiences were influenced by her attendance at a tiny, rural, Christian school. These were interesting experiences that may yield the creation of new questions to ask another cohort of LIFGRWV students to dig deeper into their pre-college and college experiences and college success. Alternatively, another way to get to know research participants better would be to revise the current study as a longitudinal study that checks in with the participants again after one year, including those who did not persist at the institution.

A fifth recommendation for future study is to examine the experiences of LIFGRWV students who left higher education after one or more semesters of study. This would address concerns of two of the limitations above: that this study only focuses on the already privileged

subset of LIFGRWV students who actually matriculated to higher education, and that there may have been self-selection bias in the respondents to the call for participants. Higher achieving students who more regularly check campus email may have been more apt to respond to the call for participants.

A final recommendation for future study is to connect this work to emerging research on rural institutions and rural-serving institutions. Although the present study focuses on a landgrant institution in a small, predominantly rural state, not all land-grants may be well positioned to carry out practices suggested by the implications of this study. There are a significant number of non-land-grant schools playing a vital role in supporting educational and employment attainment of rural learners. Near the conclusion of this dissertation study, Ascendium Education Group funded two projects that resulted in publicly available data tools to identify such institutions (Ascendium, 2022). Moving forward, this dataset could be leveraged in the further study of LIFGRs and implementation of best practices to meet their needs.

In all the suggested areas of future research above, the researcher also strongly encourages future researchers to closely examine the idea of the "deficit model." In speaking with the students in the present study, it was clear that any "deficits" were the result of external factors outside of the student's control. While rurality is not automatically or always a deficit, the socioeconomic and spatial justice-oriented realities of growing up in a rural, under resourced area does create a barrier to college success and did manifest in the present study. Once immersed in in the college environment with access to the kinds of resources and social connections conducive to success, most participants in the present study were finding success. Put another way, the recommendation is that future research clarifies that deficits are often in the ecology of the students' upbringing, not within the student.

A final note on possible future studies is to consider quantitative research on this subgroup. Quantitative work lies outside the realm of the present study, and qualitative work was specifically chosen to bring unrepresented voices into the literature. However, one of the challenges in researching an underrepresented group is that little literature exists to build off to determine strong research questions, develop strong interview or focus group questions, or to tease out nuances in experience. Although quantitative research on this topic could take many different shapes, particularly relevant areas of inquiry may include an economic analysis of the participants' hometowns, or a spatial analysis of the participants' proximity to key resources that support academic success. Not only would quantitative research be valuable in its own right, but quantitative findings may generate provoking results that future qualitative researchers could use as a jumping off point to delve deeper into specific, nuanced questions surrounding the college access, experiences, and success of low-income, first-generation, rural West Virginian students.

## **CLOSING REFLECTIONS OF THE RESEARCHER**

This area of study became of interest as I reflected upon my own privileges as a two-time college graduate. While many in my family never attended college, I do not claim first-generation status, as my mother attended nursing school in the 1980s. This research has given me a deep appreciation of the challenges she must have faced, as institutions provided far less support then than they do today. As I learned about the impact of rurality on college choice and access in my graduate studies, I thought about how my large Appalachian family just so happened to live on farmland 21 miles from WVU. In fact, what is today the university's research forest was once a Preston County farm owned by my family. The gravesite of my earliest immigrant ancestors (on my paternal grandmother's side of the family) still exists on this land (as a side note, the other branches of my family also were extremely close to this same

farm). I have thought about how all we had to do to attend college at a major university was "head down the mountain," as my grandmother calls the trip between Bruceton Mills and Morgantown. This spatial proximity undoubtedly played a role in the college access and attainment of my mother, and of the subsequent generation in our family.

The participants' experiences moved me. I felt joy for them, pride in their accomplishments (although they are not "mine" to feel proud of), as many seemed to overcome so much more than they gave themselves credit for. I was humbled to spend time with them – they were overwhelmingly positive, with a can-do attitude. Despite the challenges they faced (most of which I did not), they were finding success and joy in their pursuit of education – several of them at levels which I never achieved.

My theoretical commitments included giving voice to the narrator participants and incorporating a critical lens. Critical theory integrates theory and practice as a mechanism to promote social change. More than one student thanked me for conducting this research. While I acknowledge that this target population is small (some higher education researchers may consider insignificant, which I clearly refute), I feel so passionately about the need for West Virginians to be more widely represented in academic literature, especially in a positive light. To hear their words of thanks was a validating and humbling experience in the moment and was a motivator to me many times throughout the writing process. I am grateful they elected to participate in my study and am honored to have the opportunity to share their stories and experiences. Through this study, I've sought to empower the participants to define their own identities, not allowing academic or government entities to define those identities on their behalf. I hope that if nothing else, this project elicits social change in terms of encouraging a more favorable opinion and impression of LIFGRWVs.

### REFERENCES

- About the Center. (2021). West Virginia University Center for the Future of Land-Grant Education. Retrieved Wednesday, October 13, 2021 from https://landgrantcenter.wvu.edu/about
- Abes, E., Jones, S. and Stewart, D. (2019). *Rethinking College Student Development Theory* Using Critical Frameworks (1st ed.). Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Akerhielm, K., Berger, J., Hooker, M., & Wise, D. (1998). Factors related to college enrollment: Final report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Ali, S. R., & Saunders, J. L. (2006). College expectations of rural Appalachian youth: An exploration of social cognitive career theory factors. *Career Development Quarterly*, 55(1), 38-51. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2006.tb00003.x
- Allan, B. A., Garriott, P. O., & Keene, C. N. (2016). Outcomes of social class and classism in first- and continuing-generation college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(4), 487–496. doi:10.1037/cou0000160
- Alon, S. (2009). The evolution of class inequality in higher education: Competition, exclusion, and adaptation. *American Sociological Review*, 74(5), 731–755. doi:10.1177/ 000312240907400503
- Appalachia Regional Commission. (2014). *Appalachian region industry report 2014*. Retrieved from http://www.arc.gov/assets/research reports/AppalachianRegionIndustryReport2014.pdf
- Appalachian Regional Commission (2010). Moving Appalachia Forward: Appalachian Regional Commission Strategic Plan 2011-2016. Washington, D.C.: Appalachian Regional Commission.
- Archer, L., & Leathwood, C. (2003). Identities, inequalities, and higher education. In L. Archer, M. Hutchings, & A. Ross (Eds.), Higher education and social class: Issues of exclusion and inclusion (pp. 175–191). New York, NY: Routledge Falmer.
- Ardoin, S. (2018). Helping Poor- and Working-Class Students Create Their Own Sense of Belonging. New Directions for Student Services, 2018(162), 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20263
- Ardoin, S. (2019). Social class influences on student learning. In *Contested issues in troubled times : student affairs dialogues on equity, civility, and safety* (pp. 203–214). Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Ardoin, S., & McNamee, T. C. (2020). Spatial inequality and social class: Suggestions for supporting rural students across social class backgrounds. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2020(171–172), 37–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.2036</u>

- Ascendium. (2022). Data tools help stakeholders identify and support rural and rural serving institutions. *Ascendium Newsletter*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ascendiumphilanthropy.org/news/news/data-tools-help-stakeholders-identify-and-support-rural-and-rural-serving-institutions/</u>
- Ash, K. (2014). Rural charter schools face special challenges. *Education Week*, 33(30). Retrieved from http://www. edweek.org/ew/articles/2014/05/07/30rural ep.h33.html?r=554281577&preview=1
- Astin, A. W. (1985). Achieving Academic Excellence. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Astin, A. W., & Oseguera, L. (2004). The declining "equity" of American higher education. *The Review of Higher Education*, 27(3), 321341.
- Barratt, W. (2011). Social class on campus: Theories and manifestations. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Bean, J. (1980). "Dropouts and Turnover: The Synthesis and Test of a Causal Model of Student Attrition." *Research in Higher Education*, 12: 155–187.
- Bean, J. (1983). "The Application of a Model of Turnover in Work Organizations to the Student Attrition Process." *The Review of Higher Education*, 6: 129–148.
- Beaver, P. D. (1986). Rural community in the Appalachian south. Lexington, KY: University of Kentucky Press.
- Benzer, M. & Reed, K. (2019). Pierre Bourdieu: capital and forms of social suffering. In Social life (pp 18-35). 55 City Road, London: SAGE Publication Ltd.
- Berger, J. & Braxton, J. (1998). Revising Tinto's interactionalist theory of student departure through theory elaboration: Examining the role of organizational attributes in the persistence process. *Research in Higher Education*, 39, 103-119.
- Berger, J. (2000). Optimizing Capital, Social Reproduction, and Undergraduate Persistence: A Sociological Perspective. In *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle* (pp. 95–126). Vanderbilt University Press.
- Berger, J; Blanco Ramirez, G.; Lyons, S. (2012). Past to Present: A Historical Look at Retention. In A. Seidman (Ed.), *College Student Retention: Formula for Student Success* (2nd ed., pp. 7–34). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Biddle, C., Sutherland, D., McHenry-Sorber, E. (2019). On resisting "awayness" and being a good insider: Early career scholars revisit Coladarci's Swan Song a decade later. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 35 (7)
- Binney, W., & Martin, C. (1997). How do rural students choose their higher education institutions? Two regional Australian cases. *Australian Association for Institutional Research*, 6(2), 74-80.
- Bollen, K., & Hoyle, R. (1990). Perceived cohesion: A conceptual and empirical explanation. *Social Forces*, 69, 479–504.

- Bourdieu P. (1987). What makes a social class? On the theoretical and practical existence of groups. Berkeley Journal of Sociology, 32, 1-17.
- Bourdieu, P. (1971). Intellectual field and creative project. In M. F. D. Young (Ed.), Knowledge and control: New directions for the sociology of education (pp. 161-188). London, UK: Collier-Macmillan.
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). Cultural reproduction and social reproduction. In J. Karabel & A. H. Halsey (Eds.), Power and ideology in education (pp. 487511). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1984). Distinction: A social critique of the judgement of taste (R. Nice, Trans.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). 'The Forms of Capital', in Richardson, John G., ed., Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education, New York: Greenwood.
- Bourdieu, P. (1987). The forms of capital. In J. G. Richardson (Ed.), Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education (pp. 241-258). New York, NY: Greenwood Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1990.) The logic of practice. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1998). Practical reason: On the theory of action. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1999). Cultural reproduction and social reproduction. In M. Waters (Ed.), Modernity: Cultural modernity (pp. 351–369). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bourdieu, P. and L. P. D. Wacquant. 1992. An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bourdieu, P., & Passeron, J. (2000). Reproduction in education, society, and culture (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Bowen, W. G., Chingos, M. M., & McPherson, M. S. (2009). Crossing the finish line: Completing college at America's public universities. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Bradbury, B. L., & Mather, P. C. (2011). The Integration of First-Year, First-Generation College Students from Ohio Appalachia. Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice, 46(2), 258–282. https://doi.org/10.2202/1949-6605.6041
- Braxton J. M. (2006, June). Faculty professional choices in teaching that foster student success. Washington, DC: National Postsecondary Education Cooperative. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/npec/pdf/Braxton Report.pdf
- Braxton, J. M. (2000). Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle. Nashville, TN: Vanderbilt University Press.

- Bryan, E., & Simmons, L. A. (2009). Family involvement: Impacts on postsecondary educational success for first- generation Appalachian college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 50(4), 391–406.
- Bryant, F. C. (1981). We're All Kin. Knoxville, TN: University of Tennessee Press.
- Byun, S. Y., Irvin, M. J., & Meece, J. L. (2012). Predictors of bachelor's degree completion among rural students at four-year institutions. *The Review of Higher Education*, 35(3)
- Byun, S., Meece, J. L., Irvin, M. J., & Hutchins, B. C. (2012). The role of social capital in educational aspirations of rural youth. *Rural Sociology*, 77(3), 355–379.
- Cain, E. J. (2020). Place-based identity: A model. New Directions for Student Services, 2020(171–172), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20360
- Castleman, B., Owen, L., & Page, L. (2015). Stay late or start early? Experimental evidence in the benefits of college matriculation support from high schools versus colleges. *Economics of Education Review*, 47, 168-179.
- Chambers, C. R. (2020). Let's give 'em something to talk about: Spurring college conversations among rural students, schools, and families. In H. C. Green, B. S. Zugelder, & J. C. Manner (Eds.), Handbook of research on leadership and advocacy for children and families in rural poverty (pp. 279–294). IGI Global.
- Chase, S. E. (2005). Narrative Inquiry: Multiple Lenses, Approaches, Voices. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), The Sage handbook of qualitative research (p. 651–679). Sage Publications Ltd.
- Chen, X., & Carrol, C. D. (2005). *First-Generation students in postsecondary education a look at their college transcripts.* Washington DC :National Center for Education Statistics.
- Chenoweth, E. & Galliher, R. V. (2004). Factors influencing college aspiration of rural West Virginia high school students. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 19(2). Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ728958
- Clandinin, J. & Connelly, M. (2000). Narrative Inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Coladarci, T. (2007). Improving the yield of rural education research: An editor's swan song. Journal of Research in Rural Education, 22 (3), 1-9.
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. *Educational researcher*, 19(5), 2-14.
- Corbett, M. (2007). Learning to leave: The irony of schooling in a coastal community. Halifax, Nova Scotia: Fernwood Publishing.
- Corbett, M. (2010). Wharf talk, home talk, and school talk: The politics of language in a coastal community. In K. A. Schafft & A. Y. Jackson (Eds.), *Rural education for the twenty-first*

194

- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, Vol. 43, No. 6, pp 1241-1299.
- Creswell, J. & Miller, D. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. Theory Into Practice, 39(3), 124-129.

Park, PA: Penn State University Press.

- Cromartie, J., & Bucholtz, S. (2008). Defining the "rural" in rural America. *Amber Waves*. Retrieved from http://www. ers.usda.gov/AmberWaves/June08/Features/RuralAmerica.htm
- Cuseo, J. (2010). Fiscal benefits of student retention and first-year retention initiatives. Retrieved Sunday, December 8, 2019 from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.577.3510
- Cutrona, C. E., Cole, V., Colangelo, N., Assouline, S. G., & Russell, D. W. (1994). Perceived parental social support and academic achievement: An attachment theory perspective. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66, 369–378. http://dx .doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.66.2.369
- Davis, J. (2010). The first generation student experience: Implications for campus practice, and strategies for improving persistence and success. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Davis, L., Watts, K., & Ajinkya, J. (2019). Innovative strategies to close postsecondary attainment gaps: Four regional approaches to support rural students. Institution for Higher Education Policy <u>https://www.ihep.org/publication/innovative-strategies-to-close-postsecondary-attainment-gaps-four-regional-approaches-to-support-rural-students/</u>
- DeAngelo, L., Franke, R., Hurtado, S., Pryor, J. H., & Tran, S. (2011). *Completing college: Assessing graduation rates at four-year institutions*. Los Angeles, CA: Higher Education Research at UCLA.
- Deaton, M. J. (2008). Academic success of Appalachian adolescents: The impact of parental authority and familism (Master's thesis). Miami University, Oxford, OH.
- DiMaggio, P. (1982). Cultural capital and school success: The impact of status culture participation on the grades of U.S. high school students. *American Sociological Review*, 47(2), 189-201.
- Dunstan, S. & Jaeger, A. (2016). The role of language in interactions with others on campus for rural Appalachian college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 57 (1), 47-64.
- Durante, F., Tablante, C., & Fiske, S. T. (2017). Poor but warm, rich but cold (and competent): Social classes in the stereotype content model. *Journal of Social Issues*, 73(1), 138–157.

- Dynarski, S. (2015, June 2). For the Poor, the Graduation Gap Is Even Wider Than the Enrollment Gap. *New York Times*. Retrieved at: http://www.nytimes.com/2015/06/02/upshot/for-the-poor-thegraduation-gap-is-evenwider-than-the-enrollment-gap.html?abt=0002&abg=1
- Elam, C. (2012). Culture, poverty, and education in Appalachian Kentucky. *Education and Culture*, 18(1), 10-13. Retrieved from http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1484&context=eandc
- Elder, G. H. Jr., & Conger, R. D. (2000). Children of the land: Adversity and success in rural America. University of Chicago Press.
- Engle, J., & Tinto, V. (2008). *Beyond access: College success for low-income, first-generation students*. Washington, DC: Pell Institute.
- Engle, J., Bermeo, A., & O'Brien, C. (2006). *Straight from the source: What works for firstgeneration college students*. Washington, DC: Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education.
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J. C., Glick, P., & Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: Competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 878–902. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.82. 6.878
- Foley, M. W., & Edwards, B. (1999). Is it time to disinvest in social capital? *Journal of Public Policy*, 19, 141–173.
- Fook, J. & Gardner, F. (2007). *Practicing Critical Reflection: A Resource Handbook*. London: Open University Press.
- Formula Fairness Campaign. (2015). Formula fairness campaign: Ending discrimination against rural and small schools. Retrieved from http://www.formulafairness.com/
- Foster, R. E., & Conner, R. B. (1992). *Buck: A life sketch of James H. Harless*. Morgantown, WV: West Virginia University Press.
- Galster, George, and Patrick Sharkey. 2017. "Spatial Foundations of Inequality: A Conceptual Model and Empirical Overview." RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences
- Garriott, P. O., & Nisle, S. (2018). Stress, Coping, and Perceived Academic Goal Progress in First-Generation College Students: The Role of Institutional Supports. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 11(4), 436–450.
- Gofen, A. (2009). Family capital: How first-generation higher education students break the intergenerational cycle. *Family Relations*, 58(1), 104-120.

- Graham, D. Y. J. (2018). Intersectional Leadership: A Critical Narrative Analysis of Servant Leadership by Black Women in Student Affairs (Doctoral dissertation, University of Dayton).
- Handke, L. (2012). *Rural identity in a mixed rural-urban social environment: Investigating rural college student identity and how it changes during the college experience*. (Master's Thesis, University of Central Missouri).
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Canning, E. A., Tibbetts, Y., Giffen, C. J., Blair, S. S., & Hyde, J. S. (2014). Closing the social class achievement gap for first-generation students in undergraduate biology. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 106(2), 375–389. doi:10.1037/pspp0000075
- Hausmann, L. R. M., Schofield, J. W., & Woods, R. L. (2007). Sense of belonging as a predictor of intentions to persist among African American and white first-year college students. *Research in Higher Education*, 48(7), 803–839.
- Hearn, J. C., & Rosinger, K. O. (2014). Socioeconomic diversity in selective private colleges: An organizational analysis. *The Review of Higher Education*, 38(1), 71–104. doi:10.1353/rhe.2014.0043
- Heinisch, B. P. (2017). Small fish out of water: Rural first-generation student experience at a large university. *The Journal of College Orientation and Transition*, 24(1), 21–33.
- Hellman, C. M., & Harbeck D. J. (1997). Academic Self-Efficacy: Highlighting the firstgeneration student. *Journal of Applied Research in the Community College*, 4, 69–75.
- Hickson, H. (2016). Becoming a critical narrativist: Using critical reflection and narrative inquiry as research methodology. *Qualitative Social Work*, 15(3), 380-391.
- Higbee J. L., Arendale D. R., Lundell D. B. (2005). Using theory and research to improve access and retention in developmental education. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 2005(129), 5-15. doi:10.1002/cc.181
- Hippensteel, D. G., St. John, E. P., & Starkey, J. B. (2006). Influence of tuition and student aid on within-year persistence by adults in two-year colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 20, 233242.
- Hirsch, D. (2007). *Chicken and Egg: child poverty and educational inequalities*. London: Child Poverty Action Group. Retrieved online at <u>http://www.donaldhirsch.com/chickenegg.pdf</u>
- hooks, b (2000). Where we stand: Class matters. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hotchkiss, J. L., Moore, R. E., & Pitts, M. M. (2006). Freshman learning communities, college performance, and retention. *Education Economics*, 14(2), 197–210.
- Ishitani, T. T. (2003). A longitudinal approach to assessing attrition behavior among firstgeneration students: Time-varying effects of pre-college characteristics. *Research in Higher Education*, 4(44), 433–449.

- Ishitani, T. T. (2006). Studying attrition and degree completion behavior among first-generation college students in the United States. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77, 861–885. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1353/jhe.2006.0042
- Ivcevic, Z., & Kaufman, J. C. (2013). The can and cannot do attitude: How self-estimates of ability vary across ethnic and socioeconomic groups. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 27, 144–148. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2013.07.011
- Jaschik, S. (2018). Are prospective students about to disappear? *Inside Higher Ed.* Retrieved Wednesday, December 4, 2019 from <a href="https://www.insidehighered.com/admissions/article/2018/01/08/new-book-argues-most-colleges-are-about-face-significant-decline">https://www.insidehighered.com/admissions/article/2018/01/08/new-book-argues-most-colleges-are-about-face-significant-decline</a>
- Johnson, M. K., Elder, G. H., & Stern, M. (2005). Attachments to family and community and the young adult transition of rural youth. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 15(1), 99-125.
- Jones, L. (2002). Some observations. In P. J. Obermiller & M. E. Maloney (Eds.), Appalachia: Social context past and present (4th ed., pp. 155–160). Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt
- Jury, M., Smeding, A., Stephens, N. M., Nelson, J. E., Aelenei, C., & Darnon, C. (2017). The Experience of Low-SES Students in Higher Education: Psychological Barriers to Success and Interventions to Reduce Social-Class Inequality. *Journal of Social Issues*, 73(1), 23– 41. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12202
- Kamens, D. H. (1971). "The College 'Charter' and College Size: Effects on Occupational Choice and College Attrition." *Sociology of Education*, 44 (summer): 270–296.
- Kamens, D. H. (1974) "Colleges and Elite Formation: The Case of Prestigious American Colleges," *Sociology of Education*, 47 (summer) 354–378.
- Kannapel, P.J., & Flory, M.A. (2017). Postsecondary transitions for youth in Appalachia's Central Subregions: A review of education research, 1995-2015. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 32(6), 1-17.
- Keefe, S. E. (1998). Appalachian Americans: The formation of "reluctant ethnics". In G. R. Campbell (Ed.), Many Americas: Critical Perspectives on Race, Racism, and Ethnicity (pp. 129–153). Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt.
- King, A. (2000). Thinking with Bourdieu against Bourdieu: A 'Practical' Critique of the Habitus. Sociological Theory, 18(3), 417-433.
- Komada, N. M. (2002). First-generation students and resiliency. Dissertation Abstracts International, 63(06), 2158. (UMI No. 3057087)
- Koricich, A., Chen, X., & Hughes, R. P. (2018). Understanding the Effects of Rurality and Socioeconomic Status on College Attendance and Institutional Choice in the United States. *The Review of Higher Education*, 41(2), 281-305.

- Kuh G. D., Kinzie J. A., Buckley J. A., Bridges B. K., Hayek J. C. (2006, July). What matters to student success: A review of the literature. Washington, DC: National Postsecondary Education Cooperative. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/npec/pdf/Kuh Team Report.pdf
- Kuh, G. D. (2003). What We're Learning about Student Engagement from NSSE. Change, 35(2), 24. https://doi-org.www.libproxy.wvu.edu/10.1080/00091380309604090
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J., Whitt, E. (2010). *Student success in college: creating conditions that matter*. San Francisco, California. Jossey-Bass
- Labov, W. & Waletsky, J. (1967). Narrative analysis: oral versions of personal experience. In Helm, J. (ed.), *Essays on the verbal and visual arts*, 12–44. Seattle: American Ethnological Society
- Lamont, M., & Lareau, A. (1988). Cultural capital: Allusions, gaps and glissandos in recent theoretical developments. *Sociological Theory*, 6, 153–168. doi:10.2307/202113
- Langhout, R. D., Drake, P., & Rosselli, F. (2009). Classism in the university setting: Examining student antecedents and outcomes. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 2(3), 166– 181. doi:10.1037/a0016209
- Li, X. (2019). Challenging Both Rural Advantage and Disadvantage Narratives: The Effects of Family Factors on American Student College Expectations in the Early 2010s. *Journal of Research in Rural Education* (Online), 35(5), 1.
- Liu, R. (2002). A Methodological Critique of Tinto's Student Retention Theory.
- Lohfink, M. & Paulsen, M. (2005). Comparing the determinants of persistence for firstgeneration and continuing-generation students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46, 409-428
- Longwell-Grice, R., & Longwell-Grice, H. (2007). Testing Tinto: How do retention theories work for first-generation, working-class students? *Journal of College Student Retention*: Research, Theory and Practice, 9(4), 407–420. https://doi.org/10.2190/CS.9.4.a
- Lott, B. (2012). The social psychology of class and classism. *American Psychologist*, 67, 650–658. doi:10.1037/a0029369
- Lubrano, A. (2004). *Limbo: Blue-collar roots, white-collar dreams*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.,
- Magalhaes, A. & Veiga, A. (2015). The narrative approach in higher education research. *Theory* and method in higher education research, 1 (p. 311-331). Emerald Group Publishing Ltd.
- Mangan, K. (2019). Public universities work hard to make up for budget cuts. But in-state students may be paying the price. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved Wednesday, December 4, 2019 from https://www.chronicle.com/article/Public-Universities-Work-Hard/245982

- Marshall, D., & Case, J. (2010). Rethinking 'disadvantage' in higher education: A paradigmatic case study using narrative analysis. *Studies in Higher Education*, 35(5), 491-504.
- Maton K. (2008). Habitus. In Grenfell M. (Ed.), Pierre Bourdieu: Key concepts (pp. 49-65). Stocksfield, UK: Acumen.
- McDonough, P. 1994. Buying and selling higher education: The social construction of the college applicant. Journal of Higher Education 65: 427-446.
- McDonough, P. 1997. Choosing colleges; How social class and schools structure opportunity. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- McDonough, P. M. (2005). Counseling and college counseling in America's high schools. Retrieved from http://www. nacacnet.org/research/research-data/Documents/WhitePaper McDonough.pdf
- McDonough, P. M., Gildersleeve, R. E., & Jarsky, K. M. (2010). The golden cage of rural college access: How higher education can respond to the rural life. Rural education for the twenty-first century: Identity, place, and community in a globalizing world, 191-209.
- McElhinny, B. (2017). Higher Ed takes biggest W.Va. budget hit, but how much is too much? *WV MetroNews*. Retrieved Wednesday, December 4, 2019 from http://wvmetronews.com/2017/06/25/231226/
- McFadden, M. (1995). Resistance to schooling and educational outcomes: Questions of structure and agency. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 16, 293–308.
- McHenry-Sorber, E., & Swisher, K. (2020). Negotiating Place and Gender: Appalachian Women's Postsecondary Transition Experiences. *The Review of Higher Education* 43(4), 1193-1226. doi:10.1353/rhe.2020.0017.
- McNamee, T. (2019). Social capital in the rural United States and its impact on educational attainment. In P. George & R. Bartee (Eds.), Contemporary perspectives on social capital in educational contexts. Information Age Publishing, Inc.
- Mertens, D. M. (2010). Research and Evaluation in Education and Psychology: Integrating Diversity with Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Methods, 3rd Edition. London: Sage.
- Milem, J. & Berger, J. (1997). A modified model of student persistence: Exploring the relationship between Astin's theory of involvement and Tinto's theory of student departure. *Journal of College Student Development*, 38, 387-400.
- Mishler, E. (1990). Validation in inquiry-guided research: The role of exemplars in narrative studies. *Harvard Educational Review*, 60(4), 415-442.
- Mishler, E. (1995). Models of narrative analysis: A typology. *Journal of Narrative and Life History*. 5(2), 87-123.
- Morgantown Student Outcomes. (2021). West Virginia University Institutional Research. Retrieved Monday, March 29, 2021 from

https://institutionalresearch.wvu.edu/institutional-research/statistical-information/studentoutcomes/morgantown-student-outcomes

- NACE. (2018). Serving rural students. Retrieved Friday, May 22, 2020 from https://www.naceweb.org/career-development/special-populations/serving-rural-students/
- NCES, 2014. Number of public elementary and secondary schools, by school urban-centric 12category locale and state or jurisdiction: 2013–14 (Table A.1.a.-2). Common Core of Data, "Public Elementary/Secondary School Universe Survey," 2013–14, Retrieved on Thursday, March 18 from <u>https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/ruraled/tables/A.1.a.-3 2.asp?refer</u>
- NCES. (2015). Postsecondary attainment: Differences by socioeconomic status. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved Thursday, March 18, 2021 from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_tva.asp
- NCES. (2019). Young adult educational and employment outcomes by family socioeconomic status. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved Thursday, March 18, 2021 from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_tbe.asp
- Nelson, I. (2019). Starting over on campus or sustaining existing ties? Social capital during college among rural and nonrural college graduates. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42 (1), 93-116.
- OECD. (2014). Education at a glance: OECD indicators Paris, France: OECD Publishing. doi:10.1787/eag-2014-en
- Ollion, E. (2015). Death is not the end: The rise and rise of Pierre Bourdieu in US sociology. Oxford University Press Blog. Retrieved Sunday, March 28, 2021 from https://blog.oup.com/2015/07/pierre-bourdieu-us-sociology/
- Orbe, M. P. (2004). Negotiating multiple identities within multiple frames: An analysis of firstgeneration college students. *Communication Education*, 53(2), 131–149. doi:10.1080/03634520410001682401
- Ostrove, J. M., & Long, S. M. (2007). Social class and belonging: Implications for college adjustment. *The Review of Higher Education*, 30(4), 363–389. doi:10.1353/rhe.2007.0028
- O'sullivan, D. (2015). Voice others' voices: Spotlighting the researcher as narrator. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*. 8(2), 211-222. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1085871.pdf
- Padgett, R. D., Johnson, M. P., & Pascarella, E. T. (2012). First-generation undergraduate students and the impacts of the first year of college: Additional evidence. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53(2), 243–266. doi:10.1353/csd.2012.0032
- Pascarella, E. T. (2001). Cognitive Growth in College. *Change*, 33(6), 20. https://doiorg.www.libproxy.wvu.edu/10.1080/00091380109601823

- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1977). Patterns of student-faculty informal interaction beyond the classroom and voluntary freshman attrition. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 540-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1981596
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1979). Interaction Effects in Spady and Tinto's Conceptual Models of College Attrition. *Sociology of Education*, 52(4), 197-210. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2112401
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). How college affects students: Findings and insights from twenty years of research. Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers, PO Box 44305, San Francisco, CA
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). How College Affects Students: A Third Decade of Research. Volume 2. Jossey-Bass, An Imprint of Wiley. 10475 Crosspoint Blvd, Indianapolis, IN 46256.
- Pascarella, E., Pierson, C. T., Wolniak, G. C., & Terenzini, P. T. (2004). First-generation college students: Additional evidence on college experiences and outcomes. *Journal of Higher Education*, 75(3), 249–284.
- Paulsen, M. B., & St. John, E. P. (2002). Social class and college costs: Examining the financial nexus between college choice and persistence. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 73(2), 189236.
- Pollard, K., & Jacobsen, L. A. (2014). The Appalachian region: A data overview from the 2008-2012 American Community Survey. Retrieved from Appalachian Regional Commission Web site: <u>http://www.arc.gov/assets/research\_reports/dataoverviewfrom2008-</u> 2012acs.pdf
- Provasnik, S., KewalRamani, A., Coleman, M. M., Gilbertson, L., Herring, W., & Xie, Q. (2007). Status of Education in Rural America. NCES 2007-040. National Center for Education Statistics.
- Reason, R., Terenzini, P. & Domingo, R. (2006). First Things First: Developing Academic Competence in the First Year of College. *Research in Higher Education*, 47(2), 149-175.
- Richardson. R. & Skinner, E. (1992). Helping first generation minority students achieve degrees. In Zwerling, L. and London, H., editors, First Generation Students: Confronting the Cultural Issues. (*New Directions for Community Colleges*) 80, winter. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Riley, K. L. (1996). Education in the United States and the Rom. *The Educational Forum*, 61,12–17.
- Rowan-Kenyon, H., Blanchard, R., Reed, B., Swan, A. (2017). Predictors of low-SES student persistence from the first to second year of college. *Research in Social Problems and Public Policy*, 22, (97-125).

- RTI International. (2019a). First Year Experience, Persistence, and Attainment of Firstgeneration College Students. Washington, DC: NASPA. Retrieved from https://firstgen.naspa.org/files/dmfile/FactSheet-02.pdf
- RTI International. (2019b). First-generation College Students: Demographic Characteristics and Postsecondary Enrollment. Washington, DC: NASPA. Retrieved from https://firstgen.naspa.org/files/dmfile/FactSheet-01.pdf
- Rubin, M. (2012). Social class differences in social integration among students in higher education: A meta-analysis and recommendations for future research. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 5(1), 22–38. doi:10.1037/a0026162
- Rudick, K. C., Quiñones Valdivia, F. I., Hudachek, L., Specker, J., & Goodboy, A. K. (2019). A communication and instruction approach to embodied cultural and social capital at a public, 4-year university. *Communication Education*, 68(4), 438–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2019.1642501
- Rueda, E. (2005, August). Staying "good" kids and becoming "flunkies": Patterns of academic engagement in the transition from elementary to middle school among Mexican-origin students. Paper presented at the annual American Sociological Association conference. Philadelphia, PA.
- Scambler, G. (2015). Sociological theorist: Pierre Bourdieu. Retrieved Sunday, March 1, 2020 from http://www.grahamscambler.com/sociological-theorists-pierre-bourdieu/
- Schatzki, T. (1997). Practices and actions a Wittgensteinian Critique of Bourdieu and Giddens. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences* 27(3) 283-08
- Shaw, T. C., DeYoung, A. J., & Rademacher, E. W. (2004). Educational attainment in Appalachia: Growing with the nation, but challenges remain. *Journal of Appalachian Studies*, 10(3), 307–330.
- Shirley, D. (1986) A critical review and appropriation of Pierre Bourdieu's Analysis of social and cultural reproduction. *Journal of Education*, 168(2) 96-112.
- Simco, N. & Warin, J. (1997). Validity in image-based research: An elaborated illustration of the issues. *British Educational Research Journal*, 23(5), 661-772.
- Smith, M. K. (2020). Pierre Bourdieu on education: Habitus, capital, and field. Reproduction in the practice of education, *the encyclopaedia of pedagogy and informal education*. [https://infed.org/mobi/pierre-bourdieu-habitus-capital-and-field-exploring-reproductionin-the-practice-of-education. Retrieved: March 28, 2021].
- Soja, Edward W. (2009). "The city and spatial justice." University of California, Los Angeles, USA. Retrieved Thursday, April 22, 2021 from <u>http://www.jssj.org/article/la-ville-et-la-justice-spatiale/</u>
- Soria, K. (2015). Welcoming blue collar scholars into the ivory tower: Developing classconsciousness strategies for student success. Columbia, SC: University of South

Carolina, National Resource Center for The First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.

- Soria, K. M. & Stebleton, M. J. (2012) First-generation students' academic engagement and retention, *Teaching in Higher Education*, 17:6, 673-685, DOI: 10.1080/13562517.2012.666735
- Soria, K. M., & Stebleton, M. J. (2013). Social capital, academic engagement, and sense of belonging among working-class college students. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 31(2), 139–153.
- Smith, B. (2016). Narrative analysis. In E. Lyons & A. Coyle (Eds.). Analysing qualitative data in psychology (2nd ed) (pp. 202-221). London: Sage.
- Spady, W. (1971). "Dropouts from Higher Education: An Interdisciplinary Review and Synthesis." Interchange, 1, 64–85.
- Starcher, S. D. (2005). The triracial experience in a poor Appalachian community: How social identity shapes the school lives of rural minorities (Doctoral dissertation). Ohio University, Athens.
- Stephens, N. M., Hamedani, M. G., & Destin, M. (2014). Closing the social-class achievement gap: A difference-education intervention improves first-generation students' academic performance and all students' college transition. *Psychological Science*, 25(4), 943–953. doi:10.1177/0956797613518349
- Stich, A. E. (2012). Access to inequality: *Reconsidering class, knowledge, and capital in higher* education. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books
- Strauss, K. (2018). The Most -- And Least -- Educated States in the U.S. in 2018. Forbes. Retrieved Monday, December 2, 2019 from <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/karstenstrauss/2018/02/01/the-most-and-least-educated-states-in-the-u-s-in-2018/#5814d91851e1</u>
- Stuber, J. (2011). *Inside the college gates: How class and culture matter in higher education*. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books.
- Sy, S. R., & Brittian, A. (2008). The impact of family obligations on young women's decisions during the transition to college: A comparison of Latina, European American, and Asian American students. Sex Roles, 58(9–10), 729–737.
- Tajfel, H., Turner, J. C., Austin, W. G., & Worchel, S. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. Organizational identity: A reader, 56-65.
- Tang, M., & Russ, K. (2007). Understanding and facilitating career development of people of Appalachian culture: An integrated approach. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 56, 34–46.

- Terenzini, P., et al. (1996). First-generation college stduents: Characteristics, experiences, and cognitive development. *Research in Higher Education*, 37:1.
- Thayer, P. B. (2000). Retention of students from first generation and low income backgrounds.
- Tieken, M. C. (2014). *Why rural schools matter*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Tieken, M., & San Antonio, D. 2016. Rural aspirations, rural futures: From problem to possibility. *Peabody Journal of Education* 91 (2): 131–136.
- Tieken, M. 2016. College talk and the rural economy: Shaping the educational aspirations of rural, first- generation students. *Peabody Journal of Education* 91 (2): 203–223.
- Tinto, V. (1975). "Dropouts from Higher Education: A Theoretical Synthesis of Recent Research." *Review of Educational Research*, 45, 89–125.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving College: Rethinking the Causes and Cures of Student Attrition. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (2004). Student retention and graduation: Facing the truth, living with the consequences. Occasional Paper, Pell Institute for Higher Education, Washington, DC. Retrieved from <u>www.pellinstitute.org</u>
- Tinto, V. (2006). RESEARCH AND PRACTICE OF STUDENT RETENTION: WHAT NEXT?\*. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice*, 8(1), 1–19.
- Tinto, V., & Pusser, B. (2006). Moving from theory to action: Building a model of institutional action for student success. *National Postsecondary Education Cooperative*, 1, 51.
- Titus, M. A. (2006). Understanding college degree completion of students with low socioeconomic status: The influence of the institutional financial context. *Research in Higher Education*, 47, 371396.
- Triandis, H. C. (2005). Issues in individualism and collectivism research. In R. M. Sorentino, D. Cohen, J. M. Olson & M. P. Zanna (Eds.), Cultural and social behavior: The Ontario symposium, 10 (pp. 207–225). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS), Spring 2019, Fall Enrollment component; and Fall 2017, Institutional Characteristics component. See Digest of Education Statistics 2019, table 326.30. Retrieved https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_ctr.asp#:~:text=Fall%20Enrollment%20comp onent.-,See%20Digest%20of%20Education%20Statistics%202019%2C%20table%20326.30.,fal l%202017%20was%2062%20percent.

- United States Department of Education. (2015, September). *Better information for better college choice & institutional performance*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Vryonides, M. (2007). Social and cultural capital in educational research: Issues of operationalization and measurement. *British Educational Research Journal*, 33, 867–885. doi:10.1080/01411920701657009
- Walpole, M. (2003). Socioeconomic status and college: How SES affects college experiences and outcomes. *The Review of Higher Education*, 27(1), 4573.
- Warburton, E. C., Bugarin, R., & Nunez, A. M. (2001). Bridging the gap: Academic preparation and postsecondary success of first-generation students (NCES 2001–153). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office; U.S. Department of Education.
- Wei, C. C., & Carroll, C. D. (2002). Persistence and attainment of beginning students with Pell Grants. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (NCES Report No. 2002-169).
- WV Higher Education Policy Commission. (2023). College-going rate of WV public high school graduates at a glance. Retrieved Tuesday, February 14<sup>th</sup>, 2023 from https://www.wvhepc.edu/resources/data-and-publication-center/cgr/
- What Is HSTA? (2019). Retrieved electronically on Tuesday, February 14<sup>th</sup>, 2023 from <u>https://d32ogoqmya1dw8.cloudfront.net/files/StemEdCenters/prog\_descriptions/what\_hst</u> <u>a.pdf</u>
- Wilkinson-Lee, A. M., Zhang, Q., Nuno, V. L., & Wilhelm, M. S. (2011). Adolescent emotional distress: The role of family obligations and school connectedness. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(2), 221–230.
- Wilson, S. P., Gore, J., Renfro, A., Blake, M., Muncie, E., & Treadway, J. (2018). The Tether to Home, University Connectedness, and the Appalachian Student. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice*, 20(1), 139–160.
- Wilson, S., & Gore, J. (2010). Appalachian origin moderates the association between school connectedness and GPA. *Journal of Appalachian Studies*, 15, 70–86.
- Witkow, M. R., Huynh, V., & Fuligni, A. J. (2015). Understanding differences in college persistence: A longitudinal examination of financial circumstances, family obligations, and discrimination in an ethnically diverse sample. *Applied Developmental Science*, 19(1), 4–18.
- WV Forward. (2020). Achieving higher education attainment. Retrieved Tuesday, April 28, 2020 from <u>https://wvforward.wvu.edu/wv-forward-work/achieving-higher-education-attainment</u>
- WV Forward. Human Capital. West Virginia University. Retrieved Sunday, February 21, 2021 from https://wvforward.wvu.edu/the-findings/summary-of-findings/human-capital

- WVU Facts. (2021). Retrieved electronically on Monday, October 11, 2021 from http://wvu.edu/about-wvu/wvu-facts
- WVU Mission. (2021). Retrieved electronically on Wednesday, October 13, 2021 from <a href="http://wvu.edu/about-wvu/mission">http://wvu.edu/about-wvu/mission</a>
- WVU Today. (2017). WVU launches nation's first center to study land-grant institutions. Retrieved Tuesday, December 3, 2019 from <u>https://wvutoday.wvu.edu/stories/2017/09/25/wvu-launches-nation-s-first-center-to-study-land-grant-institutions</u>
- Yang Yang. (2014). Bourdieu, practice and change: Beyond the criticism of determinism. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 46(14) 1522-1540
- Yenney, C. B. (2020). "I Trusted Her More Than I Trusted Myself": The impact of academic advising on rural students' sense of belonging in college. New Directions for Student Services, 2020 (171–172), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20362
- Yenney-Henderson, C. B. (2019). A boulder being lifted: A post-intentional phenomenological exploration of sense of belonging for rural students at a large, urban university (Publication No.13865297) (Doctoral dissertation) University of Minnesota Twin Cities. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Young, C. (2019). WVU president shares insight on WVU's role in Mountain State. *WV News*. Retrieved Thursday, December 5, 2019 from <u>https://www.wvnews.com/wvu-president-shares-insight-on-wvu-s-role-in-mountain/article\_cb0b3d14-b993-5765-8f95-19122db00ab8.html</u>

# **APPENDIX A – INTERVIEW PROTOCOL**

- 1. Tell me about when you first decided to attend college.
  - Probe: ask about key players in the journey and how they were/were not supportive.
- 2. What conversations did you have as you were preparing for your first semester at WVU and with whom?

A.) Probe: How did you feel as you were preparing for your first semester at WVU?

B.) Probe: How did your hometown's proximity to WVU affect your decision to attend school here?

3. What have been some of your experiences since you've been at WVU?

A.) Probe: What are some high points and low points?

B.) Probe: Can you tell me a specific example or story?

C.) Probe: Describe how you felt in that time.

- 4. Tell me about your adjustment to WVU.
- 5. In what ways have you felt supported by WVU during your time here?
  - A.) Probe: can you think of any ways WVU could better support you?
  - B.) Probe: What if any barriers have you faced at WVU?
  - C.) Probe: How have these sources of support or perceived barriers to success affected your desire to stay in school at WVU?
- 6. In what ways have you felt challenged by WVU during your time here?
- 7. Do you know what it means for WVU to be a land grant university?
  - A.) If yes, do you think they are living up to that charge?'
  - B.) If no, briefly explain what it means. Based on that, do you think they are living up to that charge?
  - C.) Probe: In what ways does the land-grant mission align with your expectations as a WV native?
- 8. Is there anything else I haven't asked about that you feel would be relevant to your story and pertinent to share?